Regional differences driving organic matter and trace metal signatures reflected in temperate reef bivalve communities on the South Island, New Zealand.

Clara Schlieman

A thesis submitted for the degree of Master of Science

At the University of Otago Dunedin, New Zealand

Submitted March 2020

Abstract

Increases in anthropogenic activity along coastal zones has led to an influx of terrestrial particulate matter containing high levels of nutrients and contaminants to coastal ecosystems. In order to manage these detrimental impacts, it is imperative that we understand the factors that drive the spatial variation in pollutants at both regional and local scales. Bivalves are key marine players in the processing of organic matter providing a link between benthic, pelagic, and terrestrial habitats. To this effect, bivalves are recognized as sentinel organisms in evaluating marine ecosystem function as well as detecting pollutants associated with land-based inputs. Therefore, changes to the basal organic matter source pools supporting these species will result in inherent changes in organic matter sources supporting species further up the food chain. Comparisons between Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland on New Zealand's South Island, provide a unique study system containing gradients in anthropogenic impacts influencing the uptake of organic matter and accumulation of pollutants in bivalves.

The present study aimed to identify the influence of anthropogenic stressors in driving organic matter flux and trace element concentrations within bivalve communities in Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland. We evaluated direct interactions between catchment modifications and salmon farming on feeding strategies, organic matter source pools and trace element signatures of five individual bivalve species.

We established that feeding strategies reveal interspecific differences among sites, while intraspecific differences are reflective of small-scale differences in organic matter resource pools. Further, organic matter source pools shaped by catchment modification and salmon farms revealed the observed differences in proportions of macroalgae supporting primary consumers. Lower proportions of organic matter were correlated with a high degree of catchment modification. Salmon farms influenced nutrient delivery to the surrounding benthos to all subtidal species. However, the intertidal (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) was uninfluenced.

Spatial difference in trace element concentrations tracked through basal organic matter source pools revealed the influence of catchment modification on the transmission of trace elements into bivalves. Further, aquaculture systems influenced the use of alternate basal organic matter sources (macroalgae versus phytoplankton) which were coincident with trace metal concentrations reflected in sediment dwelling species.

Lastly, as mercury concentrations have not been well resolved for commercially important bivalves in South Island fisheries, using current mercury analysis methodology, we reported baseline mercury concentrations. Further, we illustrated the influence of catchment modification from forestry on spatial variability in mercury concentrations.

The contrast of the relatively developed catchments surrounding Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay with Fiordland's relatively pristine forested catchment provides an important test of the links between anthropogenic activity and the contaminant loads reflected in coastal bivalves. Monitoring these coastal bivalves provided essential insight into the movement of particulate organic matter throughout food webs and their implications for ecosystem health.

Acknowledgements

I would like to first recognize my supervisor Steve Wing for providing me with the opportunity to expand my research skills through working on this project. Thank you for helping me during sample collections, analysis and the final step in compiling this thesis. You have been a continuous source of ideas and support throughout this process.

Thank you to the incredible crew aboard the RV *Polaris* II, Bill Dickson and Evan Kenton for getting us safely to and from our sampling sites with great character. Thank you to the Portobello Marine Lab staff for your assistance and access of laboratory equipment. Thank you in particular to Reuben Pooley and Linda Groenewegen for their efforts attending to any issues with lab equipment and supplies. Thank you to the Marine Science Department for the ideas and support that have been provided during kitchen encounters, coffee breaks and meetings.

Thank you to Malcolm Reid and Dave Barr from the ICPMS lab, Department of Chemistry for the guidance and expertise you have provided in trace element analysis of my samples. Thank you to Dianne Clark and Robert Van Hale from the IRMS lab, Department of Chemistry for analyzing all of my stable isotope samples.

Thank you to Sorrel O'Connell-Milne for helping me settle in and taking the time to mentor me while maintaining a contagious smile. Your guidance has been incredibly appreciated. Thank you to Rebecca McMullin, Leo Durante, Stina Kolodzey, Nichola Salmond, Lottie Borra, Vincent Cheuyglintase, and Lana Young for your help and support during sample collections and dissections! Thank you, Louise Bennett-Jones for taking time to give me feedback on various parts of this thesis. Your time and energy have been greatly appreciated.

This research would not have been possible without the monetary support provided by the National Science Challenge: Sustainable Seas (4.1.1 Ecosystem Connectivity) and University of Otago's Research Committee.

Finally, thank you to my Family for the support and encouragement to pursue this opportunity, though it has taken me far from home. To my parents Jane, Bruce, Marisa and Chris for your endless support, questions, understanding, and banter. To my sibling Emily, Charlie and Nora for reminding me to think outside of the box and ability to always make me smile and laugh. To my boyfriend Phteve, thank you for your puns, clever, genuine and action-packed personality. I look forward to many more adventures now that this is submitted (and once we are allowed out of our house... #stayhome). To my friends who have watched the past couple of years unfold, you have been monumental.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Table of Contents	4
List of Tables	8
List of Figure	10
Chapter one: Introduction	15
1.1 Temperate reef communities under threat	15
1.2 The role of suspension feeders in temperate rocky reef communities	16
1.3 Trace metals in bivalves	18
1.4 Bivalves as aquatic ecosystem monitors	19
1.5 Study Sites	20
Marlborough Sounds	21
Tasman Bay	22
Fiordland	22
1.6 Objectives	23
Chapter 2: Influences of land modification and salmon farm on resource use and troph	nic 26
2.0 Letter heating	20
2.0 Introduction	26
Feeding modes of different species	27
Anthropogenic impacts	28
Regions of study	29
2.1 Methods	30
2.1.1 Study organisms	30
2.1.2 Sample collection	34
2.1.3 Stable isotope analysis	35
2.1.4 Stable isotopic mixing model	38
2.1.5 Landcover classification	38
2.1.6 Statistical analysis Spatial variation in nitrogen and carbon stable isotopic signatures	40 40

Salmon farm Landcover classification	40 41
2.2 Results	41
2.2.1 Organic matter source pools are variable at site and region level.	
2.2.2 Spatial variation of individual species Overlap of δ^{5} N and δ^{3} C in isotopic space for species	
Mixing model	
2.2.2 Community trends with mass balance analysis Spatial variation	51
2.2.3 Anthropogenic influences Salmon farms in Marlborough Sounds Landcover classification	
2.3 Discussion	63
2.3.1 Macroalgae subsidies	
2.3.2 Resource overlap and partitioning	
2.3.3 Influence of anthropogenic stressors to resource subsidies for co Salmon farm Land-cover	astal benthic bivalves.68 68 69
Chapter 3: Influence of catchments and organic matter source on the concentration of trace metals in five different bivalve species on the Zealand	e variation in South Island of New 74
3.0 Introduction	74
3.1 Methods	
3.1.1 Study organisms	77
3.1.2 Sample sites	
3.1.3 Sample collection	
3.1.4 Trace metal analysis Sample dissection and preparation Digestion and analysis	
3.1.5 Landcover classifications	
3.1.6 Statistical analysis	
Univariate Multivariate	
Univariate Multivariate	
Univariate Multivariate	
Univariate Multivariate	

Catchment	
3.3 Discussion	
3.3.1 General trends in regional trace metal concentrations	104
3.3.2 Associations between organic matter flow and trace metal concentration	ons among species105
3.3.3 Land modification impacts Salmon farming Catchment	
Chapter 4: Spatial variation in mercury concentrations in commercially in	nportant bivalves 112
4.0 Introduction	
4.1 Methods	114
4.1.1 Sample collection	114
4.1.2 Mercury analysis	117
4.1.3 Stable isotopic signatures	119
4.1.4 Landcover classification	119
4.1.5 Statistical analysis	121
4.2 Results	
4.2.1 Spatial differences for individual species Regional level Catchment level	
4.2.2 Species spatial overlap	
4.2.3 Changes associated with organic matter sources using stable isotopic s	ignatures126
4.2.4 Differences within catchments Salmon farming in Marlborough Sounds Proportion landcover classification	
4.3 Discussion	
4.3.1 Spatial variation in mercury concentrations	129
4.3.2 Variations in mercury in relation to stable isotopic signatures	
4.3.3 Variation with anthropogenic pressures Salmon Farming Catchment Modification	
Chapter 5: Synthesis	
Spatial variation in resource use	
Spatial variation in trace metal fingerprints	
Spatial variation in mercury concentrations	140

References	144
Appendices	160

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Isotopic signatures (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) of the bivalves collected from MarlboroughSounds, New Zealand.39
Table 2.2 Isotopic signatures ($\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{13}C$) of the bivalves collected from Tasman Bay, NewZealand.39
Table 2.3 Isotopic signatures (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) of the bivalves collected from Fiordland, New Zealand
Table 2.4 Potential organic matter source supporting suspension feeding bivalves. Site specific averages are provided where available. (-) indicates no data present
Table 2.5 Results from a general linear model reveal significant differences in stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) between species and regions. Significant p-values (p < 0.05) are bolded.
Table 2.6 Results from a general linear model revealed significant differences in stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) for individual species among regions. Significant p-values (p < 0.05) are bolded.
Table 2.7 Sensitivity analysis based on the averages among species for (a) proportion of macroalgae in bivalve diets. Values were determined by mixing models first for individuals, for assumed basal carbon isotopic values (δ^{13} C) of (a) macroalgae and (b) SPOM. Values were pooled for all five species present at Motungarara Island
Table 2.8 Proportions of landcover classifications and total area for discrete catchments60
Table 2.9 Results of discrete general linear models for proportions of macroalgae supporting individual species among catchments. Significant p-values ($p < 0.05$) are bolded
Table 3.1 Limits of detection and percent recovery for 13 trace metals. Recovery is given in a range due to multiple runs with the ICP-MS. 85
Table 3.2 Results of a PERMANOVA on the multivariate similarity among concentrations of conservative metals Mg, Al, Cr, and Sr for species among regions. Significant p-values are bolded

Table 3.3 Results of a PERMANOVA on the multivariate similarity among concentrations of bioactive metals Mn, Co, Fe, Ni, Cu, and Zn for species among regions. Significant p-values are bolded. 91
Table 3.4 Results of a PERMANOVA on the multivariate similarity among concentrations of highly scavenged metals As, Cd, and Pb for species among regions. Significant p-values are bolded
Table 3.5 Individual general linear models revealed species specific differences in trace metal concentrations $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{13}C$ among regions. Significant p-vales are bolded (p < 0.05)97
Table 3.6 Results of a general linear model revealed significant differences in trace metal concentrations with $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{13}C$ for <i>A. zelandica and T. laticostata</i> among region. Significant p-values are bolded (p < 0.05)
Table 3.7 Results of general linear models revealed specific differences in trace metal concentrations with δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C among all target species at salmon farm sites and reference sites
Table 3.8 Results of discrete general linear models revealed significant trace metal concentrations among catchments for individual species. Significant p-values ($p < 0.05$) are in bold
Table 3.9 Results of discrete general linear models results revealed significant differences in trace metals with $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{13}C$ among catchments for individual species. Significant p-values (p < 0.05) are bold
Table 4.1 Average total mercury concentrations (THg) for individual species at sites withinMarlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland.120
Table 4.2 General linear model results of THg concentrations with stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) among sites for <i>P. novaezelandiae</i> . Bolded p-values (p < 0.05) indicate statistical differences
Table 4.3 General linear model results of THg concentrations with stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) among site for <i>P. canaliculus</i> . Bolded p-values (p < 0.05) indicate statistical differences
Table 4.4 General linear model results for THg concentrations between salmon farm and reference sites among species. Bolded p-values indicate statistical differences

List of Figure

Figure 2.7 Sensitivity of (a) the proportion of macroalgae in diet, and (b) the proportion of SPOM in diet, determined by mixing models, for the assumed base values (δ^{13} C) of (a) macroalgae, and (b) SPOM source pools in the diet of bivalves from Motungarara Island.53

Figure 2.8 Proportion of macroalgae supporting bivalves for assumed trophic level 1 presented for each region: Marlborough Sounds (grey), Tasman Bay (white), and Doubtful Sound (black).

Average proportions of organic matter from macroalgae for each region are shown here, site specific averages in the mixing model were used to determine organic matter sources for consumers where available. Mean \pm 1 SE
Figure 2.9 Proportion of macroalgae supporting bivalves for assumed trophic level 1 from Motungarara Island, Marlborough Sounds. Mean \pm 1 SE. Levels not connected by same letters are significantly different
Figure 2.10 Proportion of macroalgae supporting bivalves for assumed trophic level 1 at sites: Bird Island (black), Perano Shoal (white), and Motungarara Island (grey) within Marlborough Sounds. Mean \pm 1 SE. Levels not connected by same letters are significantly different
Figure 2.11 a) Proportion macroalgae supporting <i>A. zelandica</i> for assumed trophic level 1 collected from study sites. Mean \pm 1 SE. Levels not connected by same letters are significantly different
Figure 2.12 Proportion of macroalgae supporting bivalves for assumed trophic level 1 from reference (grey) and salmon farm (black) sites. Mean \pm 1 SE. Levels not connected by same letters are significantly different
Figure 2.13 Significant regression analysis results for proportion of macroalgae and percent landcover for <i>M. galloprovincialis</i> among sites: 1. Tory Channel, 2. Queen Charlotte Sound, 3. Pelorus Sound, and 4. Mapua
Figure 2.14 Significant regression analysis results for proportion of macroalgae and percent farming for <i>P. novaezelandiae</i> among sites: 1. Tory Channel, 2. Queen Charlotte Sound, 3. Pelorus Sound, and 5. Doubtful Sound
Figure 2.15 Significant regression analysis results for proportion of macroalgae and percent landcover for <i>P. canaliculus</i> among sites: 1. Tory Channel, 2. Queen Charlotte Sound, 3. Pelorus Sound, and 4. Mapua
Figure 2.16 Significant regression analysis results for proportion of macroalgae and percent landcover for <i>T. laticostata</i> among sites: 2. Queen Charlotte Sound, 3. Pelorus Sound, 4. Mapua, and 5. Doubtful Sound
Figure 2.17 Average proportion of macroalgae supporting species for assumed trophic level 1 among study regions: Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland
Figure 3.1 Sites and landcover classifications within catchments for each of the study regions. Catchments: a) Port Underwood, b) Queen Charlotte Sound, c) Pelorus Sounds, d) Mapua, and e) Doubtful Sounds. Sites: 1) Perano Shoal, 2) Dieffenbach Point, 3) Ruakaka Bay, 4) Motungarara

Figure 3.8 a) Pair-wise analysis of Cu concentrations for target species between salmon farm and references sites and b) average Cu concentrations plotted against δ^{13} C of all species at salmon farm and reference sites. Mean ± 1 SE. Levels connected by different letters indicate statistical differences. 100

Figure 3.9 Significantly different trace metal concentrations with $\delta^{13}C$ among catchment for conservative metals in a,b) *P. novaezelandiae*, c) *T. laticostata*, bioactive metals in d) *A. zelandica*, e) *P. novaezelandiae*, f) *P. canaliculus*, and highly scavenged metals in g) *P. canaliculus*. Mean ± 1 SE. Levels connected by different letters indicate statistical differences.

Figure 4.1 Sample sites within each region: 1) Totaranui, 2) Te Karetu Point, 3) Mapua, 4) Delaware Bay, 5) Crousielles Harbour, 6) Ragged Point, 7) Old Man's Head, 8) Clay Point, 9) Waitata, 10) Bird Island, 11) Motungarara Island, 12) Ruakaka Bay, 13) Perano Shoal, 14) Dieffenbach Point, 15) Te Pangu Bay, 16) Port Underwood, and 17) Bradshaw-Thompson.....118

Chapter one: Introduction

1.1 Temperate reef communities under threat

Rocky reef ecosystems play a key role in the marine environment, providing habitat for ecologically, commercially, recreationally, and traditionally important flora and fauna (Dayton 1985, Shepherd & Edgar 2013). Temperate rocky reef communities, constrained to cool waters, are under a range of increasing stressors that have exacerbated the impacts on this vital marine habitat (Shepherd & Edgar 2013, Smale et al. 2013). Anthropogenic stressors, particularly warming of coastal waters, have led to global changes such as poleward shifts in temperate reef communities (Fowler et al. 2018). In addition, local stressors such as land conversion have increased sedimentation rates resulting in degradation of benthic communities and associated cascading effects on surrounding rocky reef communities (Salomon et al. 2008, Fowles et al. 2018)

Anthropogenic activity from farming, forestry, aquaculture, urbanization, and mining are all contributing to the growing threat humans pose on the world's ecosystems (Haya et al. 2001, Thrush et al. 2004, Medina et al. 2005, Morrison et al. 2009, Tallis 2009, Atkinson et al. 2014). In order to manage these detrimental impacts, it is imperative that we understand the factors that drive the spatial distribution of pollutants on a regional and local scale (Tallis 2009). Ecosystem level analysis has acquired growing attention in recent decades, therefore, resolving stressors linked with anthropogenic modifications is imperative in the context of ecosystem-based management (Minns et al. 2011, Halpern et al. 2010). The principles of ecosystem-based management are centered around considering resource interactions and connectivity within an ecosphere (Long et al. 2015). The recent focus on ecosystem-based management differs from current management practices by utilizing a multispecies approach, whereby focus is expanded on the wider perspective of ecosystem functioning, inclusive of human activity (Garcia & Cochrane 2005, Halpern et al. 2010, Cowan et al. 2012, Kraak et al. 2014, Long et al. 2015).

1.2 The role of suspension feeders in temperate rocky reef communities

Temperate rocky reefs provide an ideal habitat for suspension feeders which represent a large biomass of the organisms present from the intertidal to the subtidal (Stephenson & Stephenson 1949, Newell et al. 1982, Ricciardi & Bourget 1999, Gardner et al. 2006). Bivalves have been identified as key players in the processing of organic matter, and ecosystem engineers in their capacity to modify the environmental conditions in coastal marine systems providing a vital link between pelagic, benthic, and terrestrial habitats (Duggins et al. 1989, Gili & Coma 1997, Post 2002, McLeod et al. 2010). In this capacity they are recognized as sentinel organisms in evaluating marine ecosystem function as well as indicator species for detecting pollutants and land-based inputs (Becker et al. 1992, Kim et al. 2008). Their role as suspension feeders enables them to transport vast amounts of suspended particulate organic matter (SPOM) from the water column to the benthos providing an important channel for energy and organic matter in food webs to higher trophic levels (Tallis 2009, Wing et al. 2012, Atkinson et al. 2014).

Benthic communities on temperate coastal reefs are supported by organic matter from phytoplankton, macroalgal detritus, and terrestrial sources (Jack et al. 2009, McLeod et al. 2010a, McLeod et al. 2010b). Macroalgae, largely in the form of eroded materials from growing algal blades (e.g, Miller et al. 2006, Richards et al. 2011, Wing et al. 2007), become suspended in the water column and settle on the benthos where they are filtered by suspension feeding bivalves (Duggins et al. 1989, Krumhansl & Scheibling 2012, Wing & Jack 2012). Benthic temperate reef communities are also largely supported by phytoplankton in some regions, however, the distribution and abundance of this basal organic matter source and its incorporation into the benthic communities varies seasonally (Murphy et al. 2001, Helson et al. 2006, Wing et al. 2012).

The sedentary or sessile nature of most suspension feeding bivalves requires reliance on particulate matter available in their immediate vicinity. These resources are derived from both autochthonous and allochthonous organic matter inputs. Autochthonous organic matter entering the suspended particulate pool is derived from phytoplankton and macroalgae (Jack & Wing

2011, Miller et al. 2011) while allochthonous inputs are primarily associated with mobile species waste deposits and inputs of terrestrial particulate matter (Hyndes et al. 2014, Atkinson et al. 2014). As a result, organic matter supporting benthic consumers encompasses a range of habitats and is influenced by stressors acting across land, sea, and atmosphere (McLeod & Wing 2007, McLeod & Wing 2009, McLeod et al. 2010, Wing & Leichter 2011, Hyndes et al. 2014, Atkinson et al. 2014)

Five benthic suspension feeding bivalves were chosen for this study based on placement in water column, distance from the benthos and aggregation. All five species share the generally accepted feeding mechanism utilised by suspension feeding bivalves, cirral trapping (Møhlenberg & Riisgård 1978). Slight variations in biological and physical aspects of feeding are present among species, such as the New Zealand scallop, Pecten novaezelandiae (Beninger & Le Pennec 2006, MacDonald et al. 2006, Hewitt & Pildich 2004). This feeding mechanism supports filtration of large quantities of water and delivery of both pseudofaeces and waste to the benthos. Mussels, such as the horse mussel, Atrina zelandica, green-lipped mussel, Perna canaliculus, and blue mussel, Mytilus galloprovincialis [also knowns as Mytilus planulatus (Zbawicka et al. 2019)], influence hydrodynamics due to density and placement in the water column (Green et al. 1998, Nikora et al. 2002), affecting the enrichment of sediments and microbial activity on reefs (Warwick et al. 1997, Cummings et al. 2001). This results in changes to physical processes such as oxygen availability, sulphate reduction, and denitrification rates (Smaal 1991). In contrast, the scattered distributions of *P. novaezelandiae* and dense distributions of the dog cockle, *Tucetona laticostata* in soft sediment habitats up to 70-80 m² (Powell 1979, Kerr & Grace 2005, Marsden & Bull 2006) would have disparate hydrodynamic impacts relative to mussels. As a result, the distribution and abundance of bivalves on temperate reefs make them a key ecological species influencing ecosystem structure and function (e.g. Wing et al. 2018). The varying habitats of these five different species within temperate rocky reefs make them key species in identifying inter- and intraspecific differences among bivalve communities.

1.3 Trace metals in bivalves

Analysis of the composition and concentrations of trace metals, offers a framework in which anthropogenic impacts can be evaluated at an ecosystem-wide level. Trace metals, which are naturally present in minute quantities both in the atmosphere and Earth's crust, can be used to indicate impacts associated with a range of anthropogenic activities. For example, higher concentrations of specific trace metals are associated with anthropogenic activities such as mining, agriculture, and salmon farming (Sneddon & Tremblay 2011, Gall et al. 2015, Langston 2017). Trace metals can be classified into three categories: conservative, bioactive, and highly scavenged. The different classes reflect physical characteristics (ie. salinity, temperature), in the case of conservative metals, and biological (ie. primary productivity, toxicity), in the case of bioactive and highly scavenged metals. The differences reflected in the biochemical signatures within organisms therefore can inform on the variability of physical and biological characteristics across spatial scales (Beer et al. 2011, Jack & Wing 2011, Ruiz-Fernández et al. 2018, Wing et al. 2019).

Conservative trace metals, such as strontium (Sr), magnesium (Mg), and chromium (Cr), reflect differences in salinity (Sadiq 1992, Lannuzel et al. 2011, Wing et al. 2019). The concentrations of these metals can therefore be influenced by freshwater inputs in the environment. Bioactive trace metals, including micronutrients such as iron (Fe), and co-limiting cobalt (Co), nickel (Ni), and zinc (Zn), may be influenced by patterns in primary production as these micronutrients are taken up by primary producers (Wing et al. 2019). Concentrations of toxic, highly scavenged metals such as lead (Pb), arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), and mercury (Hg) decline with distance from point sources. Together, patterns in the concentrations of these three classes of trace metals can provide information on biological and physical differences in the environments influencing marine species.

The toxic, highly scavenged metal, mercury is widely known for its pollutive and bioaccumulative properties (Bargagli et al. 1998, Santos & Monteiro 2007, Chouvelon et al. 2018, Clarkson & Magos 2006, Liu et al. 2011, Scheuhammer et al. 2015). Though mercury is naturally available in the environment, anthropogenic sources largely outweigh the natural

production (Serrano et al. 2013). Mass poisoning associated with mercury in seafood in Minimata Bay, Japan (1959) revealed the toxic nature of mercury and the need to monitor this metal in the marine food web (Harada 1995). The neurotoxin, methylmercury (MeHg) biomagnifies up the food web, which is particularly prudent in aquatic ecosystems with the increased number of trophic interactions (Gray 2002). Mercury is widely measured in fish, however fewer studies have been conducted on commercially important bivalves (Sunderland 2007, Díez 2009, Sadhu et al. 2015).

Trace elements make their way into bivalves primarily through organic matter sources (Genç et al. 2018, Ruiz-Fernández et al. 2018). Global macroalgal testing has illustrated hotspots of anthropogenic activity through elevated trace metal signatures (Sanchez-Quiles et al. 2017). Therefore, it is likely that organic matter source pools serve as a source of contamination for consumers in their ability to act as a repository for trace metals (Tsakovski et al. 2012). Studies have been conducted on tracking trace metals through food webs from primary consumers to higher trophic levels (Fey et al. 2019), in addition to organic matter sources to higher trophic levels on coral reefs (Deudero et al. 2009, Briand et al. 2018). We take it one step further by correlating organic matter and trace metal signatures with catchment land cover classifications. Though it is not novel to identify differences in organic matter flow associated with specific land use practices (Tallis 2009), our approach enables influences associated with catchment modification to be evaluated on a large spatial scale.

Though there is some overlap in the categorization of trace metals in the literature, the above classes for individual metals remain consistent throughout the present study. The increased prevalence of trace metals impacts ecological systems due to their inability to degrade (Gall et al. 2015). It is therefore imperative to gain a greater understanding of the transmission of trace metals associated with anthropogenic pressures, particularly to sedentary benthic coastal ecosystems, as these communities fuel higher trophic levels.

1.4 Bivalves as aquatic ecosystem monitors

Bivalves have been used as indicator species in identifying the impacts of human activity since the beginning of the 20th century (Sladecek 1966, Green et al. 1989, Kim et al. 2008, Lanksbury et al. 2014). The ability of bivalves to concentrate contaminants from the environment can be used to reveal changes in water column chemistry to coastal habitats associated largely with anthropogenic stressors (Genç et al. 2018, Ruiz-Fernández et al. 2018). Continuous monitoring is imperative in order to understand changes in contamination patterns (Briant et al. 2017). Therefore, monitoring programs such as NOAA Mussel Watch and French Mussel Watch Program (RNO-ROCCH) have been set up on both a large spatial and temporal scale, tracking the spatial distribution and temporal trends of contaminants of environmental concern (O'Connor & Beliaeff 1995, O'Connor 2002, Kim et al. 2008, Briant et al. 2017).

1.5 Study Sites

Identifying anthropogenic impacts in modern times is difficult due to the extent to which the terrestrial environment has been altered. The present study was based in three regions in South Island, New Zealand, with a range of anthropogenic activities: Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland. All regions were characterized by rocky reef habitats with wave exposure at the mouth of the channel or bay, and similar benthic invertebrate and subtidal kelp forest communities (Shears & Babcock 2007, Wing & Jack 2014, Newcombe 2016). Differences in topography and freshwater inputs influenced light availability, salinity, and wave exposure, therefore, impacting patterns in primary production among each of these regions (Miller et al. 2006, Wing et al. 2007, Davidson 2014, Newcombe 2016, Udy et al. 2019a, 2019b, 2019c). In Marlborough Sounds, mixing and resuspension of sediments influences the gradient in light availability, large freshwater inputs and accumulation of sediments in the inner sounds leads to the build-up of particulates from adjoining catchments (Urlich 2015). The shallow depth of Tasman Bay, in addition to large freshwater inputs, led to high levels of sedimentation that influenced the light availability in the shallow subtidal resulting in low levels of primary production (Newcombe et al. 2015). Lastly, primary production in Fiordland is constrained by large freshwater inputs reducing light availability in the inner fiords relative to the outer fiords (Goebel et al. 2005, Wing et al. 2007). The marine environment, specifically

subtidal biological communities, at the top of the South Island has been heavily impacted since the arrival of humans in the sixteenth century (Handley 2006), while regions such as Fiordland on the southern part of South Island have remained relatively pristine except for local influences from catchment modification in Doubtful Sound and access from land to Milford Sound (Tallis et al. 2004, Rutger & Wing 2006, Wing & Jack 2014). The gradient in environmental modification with overlapping marine flora and fauna provide the opportunity to investigate the effect of anthropogenic stressors on the influence of organic matter flow and trace metal accumulation reflected in suspension feeding bivalves among these three regions. Further, these results are transferable between temperate ecosystems worldwide, as New Zealand temperate rocky reef communities are not dissimilar in structure and function to those found elsewhere in temperate subtidal habitats (Stephenson & Stephenson 1949, Lipkin & Safriel 1971, Benson 2002, Harley & Helmuth 2003).

Marlborough Sounds

Marlborough Sounds are made up of a vast network of drowned river valleys covering an area of about 4000 km² and accounting for approximately 10 percent of New Zealand's coastline (Nicol 2011). Situated on the northeast shore of New Zealand's South Island, this region has been prone to extensive modification since the arrival of humans during the sixteenth century (Handley 2006). First, with the arrival of Mäori people, the burning of native bush (Poole & Adams 1984), and then with the settlement of Europeans and their conversion of native forest to pastures (Wilmshurst et al. 1997). The landcover changes that have been occurring for more than a century in this region have resulted in large increases in fine sediment inputs in Marlborough Sounds (Handley 2006). For example, direct run-off of fine sediment into the coastal environment of Marlborough Sounds are influenced by the extensive areas converted to pine forestry which is exacerbated during tree harvest (Urlich 2015). Therefore, it is theorized that the current composition of marine flora and fauna in Marlborough Sounds are dramatically different to what existed before landcover modification (Handley 2006).

The composition of benthic species in Marlborough Sounds has declined in the last several decades associated with sedimentation and habitat modification from dredging (Thrush et

al. 2004, Morrison et al. 2009, Page & Olsen 2016, 'Temporary Closure' 2019). Marlborough Sounds have been subject to extensive scallop dredge fisheries primarily for *P. novaezelandiae* (Marsden & Bull, 2006). The scallop dredge fishery expanded up until recent decades when scallop fisheries closed for the last three seasons following a steady decline in biomass between 2009 and 2015 ('Temporary Closure' 2019).

Tasman Bay

Tasman Bay is characterized by a gently sloping sandy substratum across a shallow depth gradient (max. 50 m) (Mitchell 1986, Handley 2006). The patches of rocky reef kelp forest habitat primarily follows the 1-10 m depth contour, up to 4 km from shore (Handley 2006). A rich history of human settlement and modification has been present in Tasman Bay since the arrival of Mäori peoples in the sixteenth century and European settlers two centuries later (Handley 2006). Human arrival exposed this region to heavy deforestation, exploitation of marine fauna, and extensive landcover alterations in the catchments that dramatically alter the Tasman Bay's subtidal habitats (Handley 2006). In a similar pattern to that observed in Marlborough Sounds, subtidal communities in Tasman Bay are highly modified from documented in the 1960's due to the frequent flooding and heavy sediment loading (McKnight 1969, Handley 2006). The large freshwater inputs from Waimea, Wakapuaka, and Motueka rivers have resulted in extensive sediment plumes that extend across the bay (Newcombe et al. 2015). Sediment both as a direct effect and indirect influence on primary production, in combination with overfishing of the dredge fishery has decimated the scallop fishery in Tasman Bay. The fishery has been in decline for nearly a decade despite reseeding efforts ('Temporary Closure' 2019). It is theorized that the elevated sedimentation has yielded the habitat in Tasman Bay unfavorable to scallop settlement, resulting in recruitment failure ('Temporary Closure' 2019).

Fiordland

Doubtful Sound is located in the Fiordland region on the southwestern coast of New Zealand's South Island. The fiord is characterized by steep valley walls and deep basins formed through glacial carving (Suggate 1990). Fiordland has been a reserve since 1904 and is part of the Te Wahipounami UNESCO World Heritage Area. As a result, fiords such as Doubtful Sound are characterized as relatively pristine with little impact from land-based stressors (Tallis et al. 2004) and intact catchments of native forest (Wing & Jack 2014). However, the development of the Manapouri Hydroelectric Power Plant has caused dramatic changes in freshwater inputs and the water column chemistry in Doubtful Sound, influencing benthic community composition, particularly bivalves (Tallis et al. 2004, Rutger & Wing 2006, Wing & McLeod 2007, McLeod & Wing 2008). Though extensive modification of freshwater inputs exists within Doubtful Sound, the forested catchments and low sediment inputs support a diverse kelp forest community (Miller et al. 2006, Wing et al. 2007, Jack & Wing 2013, Wing & Jack 2013, Wing & Jack 2014, Udy et al. 2019).

1.6 Objectives

Anthropogenic impacts such as forestry, aquaculture and mining influence coastal ecosystem connectivity through land-based influences on biogeochemical fluxes in the food web. Accordingly, resolving these influences in bivalve communities will help inform the effective application of ecosystem-based management of coastal communities. The present study aimed to identify the influence of anthropogenic stressors in driving organic matter flow and trace metal concentrations within bivalve communities in Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay, and Fiordland.

The objectives were to establish if differences in feeding strategies among bivalve species, particular land cover management practices, and/or aquaculture systems explained the differences in use of alternative organic matter sources and trace metal concentrations reflected in the soft tissues of bivalve species. Initially, we investigated the influences of different feeding mechanisms among species on the uptake of alternative basal organic matter (phytoplankton versus macroalgae). Further, we explored the variations in composition of basal organic matter supporting bivalve communities associated with catchment modification and presence of aquaculture systems. In order to resolve spatial difference in trace metal concentrations, we

tracked trace metals through basal organic matter source pools in addition to influences associated with a range of catchment modification and presence of aquaculture systems. Lastly, as mercury concentrations have seldom been recorded for commercially important bivalves in the South Island fisheries, we reported baseline mercury concentrations in addition to spatial variations associated with catchment modification. The contrast of the relatively developed catchments surrounding Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay with Fiordland, which has a relatively pristine forested catchment, provided an excellent system for understanding the link between anthropogenic activity and the contaminant loads reflected in coastal bivalves. Monitoring these coastal bivalves provides essential insight into the fluxes of particulate organic matter throughout food webs and their implications for ecosystem health.

The data chapters outlined below have been written as stand-alone papers. Therefore, overlap in content among chapters is present primarily in the Introductions and Methods sections. Chapter 2 will be submitted to Science of the Total Environment, as it explores the interactions between organic matter inputs between the land and coastal habitats. Chapter 3 will be submitted to Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science as a follow up paper to Chapter 2, as it investigates the flow of trace metals relative to land-based inputs to coastal habitats. Chapter 4, as an initial recording of mercury concentrations of commercial bivalve species, will be submitted to New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research.

Chapter 2: Influences of land modification and salmon farms on resource use of suspension feeding bivalves

2.0 Introduction

Suspension feeders represent a large biomass of the organisms present from the intertidal to subtidal habitats of coastal temperate reefs (Newell et al. 1982, Ricciardi & Bourget 1999). As important modifiers of the water column particulate pool, the group is a key ecosystem engineer in coastal environments. They are an integral part of the benthic food web, providing a direct coupling between pelagic pools of suspended particulate organic matter (SPOM) and benthic habitats (Duggins et al. 1989, Gili & Coma, 1998).

As a group, suspension feeders have been considered as opportunistic feeders (Coma et al. 2001). Nevertheless, competition for resources by sessile suspension feeders has led to diverse life forms, feeding behaviors and diet composition within a community (Riisgard & Larsen 2001, Tallis 2009, Wing & Jack 2012). Resource exploitation can vary significantly in adjacent species, illustrating the partitioning of resources within a localized area (Tallis 2009, Wing & Jack 2012). As a result, both habitat partitioning and differences in feeding mode can separate suspension feeders into distinct niches utilizing different components of the suspended particulate pool (e.g. Wing & Jack 2012).

Phytoplankton and macroalgae provide important components of suspension feeder diets as they both contribute to the suspended particulate organic matter pool (Bustamante & Branch 1996, Duggins & Eckman 1997, Salomon et al. 2008). Interspecific variation in resource use by primary consumers among alternate basal organic matter sources has been commonly observed (e.g. Fry et al. 1999, Bolnick et al. 2003, Wing & Jack 2012) illustrating plasticity in diets of consumers across the spectrum of primary producers, providing multiple channels for energy and organic matter to higher trophic levels (Fredriksen 2003, Hill et al. 2006, Nilsen et al. 2008, Tallis 2009, Wing & Jack 2012). Estimates of the extensive contribution of organic matter derived from macroalgae supporting suspension feeders has been challenged by Miller and Page (2012), who proposed that kelp based organic matter sources, upon which diets are calculated, were over-represented in mixing models. Miller and Page (2012) note that the large body of work hypothesising the importance of kelp detritus in coastal suspension feeders, known as the kelp detritus hypothesis (KDH), overlooks the inputs contributed by the often under resolved phytoplankton stable isotopic signatures. The study notes the inconsistency with which basal organic matter sources are collected relative to the study sites and temporal periods of consumer collection. Further, the study underlines the importance of well resolved basal organic matter signatures and testing which is lacking in many studies (Miller & Page 2012). The present study evaluates site-specific macroalgae and SPOM stable isotopic values within the Marlborough Sounds in order to illustrate the potential differences in basal organic matter signatures within a region. The difficulty with which phytoplankton samples can confidently be determined from water samples was combated through evaluation of each filter under a microscope prior to analysis (Udy et al., 2019).

Suspension feeders filter large quantities of seawater and can thus regulate phytoplankton production and water turbidity (Officer et al. 1982, Newell et al. 2007). Therefore, inter- and intra- specific variation in organic matter supporting suspension feeders can likely be tied to differences in localized mixtures of basal organic matter sources which support both benthic food webs and variation in feeding mechanisms among species. Further understanding of the mechanisms behind feeding modes is imperative in order to gain a greater understanding of the organic matter fueling benthic food webs. Naturally occurring differences in stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) of basal organic matter sources, if left unresolved, further obscure our ability to determine the effects of anthropogenic impacts on coastal habitats (Fry & Allen, 2003, Hoffman et al. 2012, Howarth et al. 2012, Wing et al. 2008, Jack & Wing 2011).

Feeding modes of different species

Cirral trapping is the generally accepted mechanism through which bivalve's suspension feed (Møhlenberg & Riisgård 1978). Water containing suspended particles is driven by bands of cilia through interfilamentary canals within the gills and captured on mucus membranes subsequently delivered to the mouth and sorted with labial palps. The sea scallop, *Pecten novaezelandiae*, feed using a variation of cirral trapping, they feed through non-siphonate, ciliary suspension gill structures which filter particles within mucous sheets along the mantle (Beninger

& Le Pennec 2006, MacDonald et al. 2006). Aside from slight variations in the feeding mechanisms among bivalve species, the composition of particles captured and ingested is also influenced by particle size, organism distance from the benthos, inorganic particulate concentrations, and water current strength. For example, filter feeding by *P. novaezelandiae* is limited to high flow conditions (Wildish et al. 1987, Claereboudt et al. 1994). *Pecten novaezelandiae, M. galloprovincialis, P. canaliculus*, and *Atrina zelandica* feeding on suspended particulates is also limited in high sediment conditions where sediment clogs the mucus net feeding mechanism (Eckman et al. 1989, Gardner 2000, Pilditch et al. 2001, Hewitt & Pildich 2004). Further, each of the species develop in different habitats where horse mussel, *A. zelandica*, has an upright habit extending beyond the direct sediment surface and mussels *M. galloprovincialis* and *P. canaliculus* are found in dense clusters can therefore alter local hydrodynamics influencing the available organic matter sources to these mussels (Green et al. 1998, Nikora et al. 2002). In contrast, *P. novaezelandiae* and *T. laticostata* feed at the water boundary layer where organic matter settles on the sea floor. Therefore, the habitat of each bivalve species likely influences the benthic-pelagic coupling.

Anthropogenic impacts

Global ocean primary production is being altered by anthropogenic impacts, including nutrient loading, sedimentation, and climate change (Johnson et al. 2011, Koenigstein et al. 2016, Krumhansl et al. 2016). Accordingly, land-based pollution influences benthic marine communities at a global scale (Airoldi & Beck 2007, Edgar & Barrett 2000, Vitousek et al. 2007, Fowles et al. 2018). Impacts of land conversion, intensive farming, and urban development have strongly modified many coastal landscapes, subsequently also altering delivery of nitrogen (Vitousek et al. 1997, Rabalais & Turner 2001) and carbon (Howarth et al. 1991, Smith & Hollibaugh 1993, Correll et al. 2001) to the adjacent marine environment. These impacts are exacerbated by over exploitation of of bivalve filter feeding communities, which can have cascading effects on surrounding rocky reef communities (Fowles et al. 2018, Salomon et al. 2008). Impacts such as forestry have been associated with enriched nitrogen isotopic values in filter feeders, likely due to extensive fertilizer application (Tallis 2009).

Due to the differences in acquisition of inorganic carbon, primarily uptake of CO₂ vs HCO₃, organic matter derived from phytoplankton and macroalgae can be discriminated by characteristic values of δ^{13} C (e.g. Jack & Wing 2011, Cornelisen et al. 2007). Stable isotope analysis has been applied to determine differences in trophic ecology of benthic organisms and has been used to resolve differences in resource utilization of suspension feeders in the same community (Dubois et al. 2007, Tallis 2009, Wing & Jack 2012). The technique therefore offers a robust and repeatable method for determining contributions of alternative organic matter and nutrient sources to coastal communities.

Regions of study

The present study was based in three contrasting regions, in terms of land-based stressors, on the South Island, New Zealand: Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland. The rocky reef habitats harbor benthic invertebrate and macroalgae communities that are comparable across all three regions (Shears & Babcock 2007, Udy et al. 2019a, 2019b, 2019c). The regions experience different levels of wave exposure, Tasman Bay is subject to moderate exposure, while Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland are comparatively sheltered (Shears & Babcock 2007, Wing & Jack 2014).

These three regions provide an ideal study system in which to contrast the likely influences of land-based stressors on organic matter sources supporting suspension feeding communities across a gradient of anthropogenic impacts. The marine environment, specifically subtidal biological communities, at the top of the South Island has been heavily impacted since the arrival of humans in the sixteenth century (Handley 2006), while regions such as Fiordland on the southern part of South Island have remained relatively pristine (Tallis et al. 2004, Wing & Jack 2014).

The catchments that surround each of the study regions are markedly different (Figure 2.2). While a high proportion of landcover is dominated by forest, Tasman Bay and Marlborough Sounds have experienced landcover alteration since the sixteenth century (Handley 2006) and are impacted by farming, forestry and urban developments. In contrast, the relatively

pristine Fiordland region, which was established as a reserve in 1904 and gained National Park status in 1952, is characterized by intact catchments of native forest (Miller et al. 2006, Wing & Jack 2014). The amount of freshwater delivered into the inner parts of Doubtful Sound have been greatly increased by the building of the Manapouri Hydroelectric Power Plant. Consequentially, bivalve populations have been modified in these inner fiord regions (Jack et al. 2009, Tallis et al. 2004, Rutger & Wing 2006), in addition to changes in circulation (Sköld et al. 2003), productivity of habitats, and food web structure (Sköld et al. 2003, Rutger & Wing 2006, Jack et al. 2009, Jack & Wing 2011). In the present study we therefore focused on collections in the adjoining Thompsons-Bradshaw Sounds.

Here we provide a well-resolved systematic illustration of the contribution of organic matter derived from macroalgae and phytoplankton to benthic suspension feeders in Tasman Bay, Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland. We compare patterns observed in the composition of organic matter pools with geographic patterns in freshwater sources and landcover classifications, providing an analysis of correlations between the two spatial patterns. Understanding the sources and movement of land-based particulates and their impacts on basal organic matter sources in marine communities is important for pinpointing potential adverse effects pertinent to developing robust ecosystem-based management and mitigation strategies in coastal communities and aquaculture activities (Fowles et al. 2018).

2.1 Methods

2.1.1 Study organisms

In order to identify differences in nitrogen and carbon stable isotopic ratios (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) to benthic suspension feeding bivalves among the study regions, five species of bivalves ranging from intertidal rocky reef species to free living and benthic infaunal species were selected from areas with a range of landcover classifications (Figure 2.1).

Horse mussels, *Atrina zelandica* (Gray 1835) reside in the subtidal to depths of ~50m in habitats characterized by muddy to sandy benthos (Powell 1979). This is a large bivalve species, growing to ~30cm. *A. zelandica* has an upright habitat with approximately two thirds of its

length buried in the sediment anchored to hard substratum with byssus threads (Powell 1979). The distribution of *A. zelandica* generally form dense patches (eg. >10 m⁻²) particularly in high flow areas with fine sandy sediment (Cummings et al. 2001). Due to the habitat, this species feeds at roughly 15-20 cm above the seafloor, with feeding currents that extend across the benthic boundary layer.

The New Zealand scallop, *Pecten novaezelandiae* (Reeve 1853, pectinid), is the largest and most abundant species of scallop found in New Zealand (Marsden & Bull 2006). The endemic bivalve is generally found in beds scattered from estuaries to coastal bays and reefs at densities of $>1 \text{ m}^{-2}$ to depths from subtidal to 80 m (Marsden & Bull 2006). The species has a wide distribution in New Zealand, found from the top of the North Island to the bottom of the South Island (Marsden & Bull 2006, Carbines & Michael 2007). Scallops feed through nonsiphonate, ciliary suspension gill structures where they filter particles within mucous sheets along the mantle margin (Beninger & Le Pennec 2006, MacDonald et al. 2006). Feeding ability for pectinids appears to be limited in high flow conditions (Wildish et al. 1987, Claereboudt et al. 1994) in addition to low flow conditions and high presence of seston (Eckman et al. 1989, Pilditch et al. 2001).

The dog cockle, *Tucetona laticostata* (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) is generally found in higher energy environments, mostly buried in coarse sand or gravel, in a depth range from 2-3 m to about 70 m of water (Powell 1979). The thick-shelled bivalve has a wide distribution extending from the top of the North Island to the bottom of the South Island, forming dense patches of up to more than 80 individuals m⁻² (Powell 1979, Kerr & Grace 2005). Aside from local abundance and distribution data and paleontological research, few studies have been conducted on the biology and ecology of *T. laticostata* in comparison of many of its neighboring bivalve constituents.

The green-lipped mussel, *Perna canaliculus* are commonly found in dense patches of 160 m⁻¹ in farms (Forest & Atalah, 2017) filtering particulate matter from the subtidal and open coast down to 50 m depths, but may extend to the intertidal region, where they play a large role in the temperate coastal community (Powell 1979, Morton & Miller 1968, Gardner 2000). The species

often provides habitat for other sessile invertebrates that adhere to its shell. *P. canaliculus* are an endemic species with a wide distribution around New Zealand (Morton & Miller 1968). Studies have indicated that the diet of *P. canaliculus* varies seasonally depending on the presence of phytoplankton and macroalgal abundance, and their relative contribution to the suspended particulate pool (Gardner 2000). Further, feeding is negatively impacted by low quality suspended particulate matter where the rate of particulate consumption decreases with low quality suspended particulates (Gardner 2000).

The blue mussel, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, has a wide distribution around New Zealand from the top of the North Island to the tip of the South Island (Powell 1955, Shinen & Morgan 2009). This intertidal mussel forms dense patches on rocky substrate at ~1000 m⁻² (Porri et al. 2008) and will select organic over inorganic particulates (Hawkins et al. 1996). Further, the absorption of ingested particulates is influenced by periodic fluctuation in the available suspended particulate matter and negatively impacted by low quality suspended particulate (Bayne et al. 1987, Navarro et al. 1991, Iglesias et al. 1996, Gardner 2000). Blue mussels have specialized digestive enzymes that allow them to digest bacteria trapped by mucus filter feeding.



Figure 2.1 Sample sites within each region: Tasman Bay: 1) Totaranui, 2) Te Karetu Point, 3) Mapua, 4) Delaware Bay, 5) Crousielles Harbour, 6) Ragged Point. Marlborough Sounds: 7) Old Man's Head, 8) Kauaroa, 9) Waitata, 10) Bird Island, 11) Motungarara Island, 12) Ruakaka Bay, 13) Perano Shoal, 14) Dieffenbach Point, 15) Te Pangu Bay 16) Port Underwood. Doubtful Sound: 16) Crayfish Creek, 17) Bradshaw-Thompson, and 18) MacDonald Island. White points indicate salmon farms within Marlborough Sounds.

2.1.2 Sample collection

Collections of bivalves were made by scuba divers in Marlborough Sounds during February 2018 and November 2018 from the RV *Polaris* II with sampling sites spanning four regions within Marlborough Sounds: Tory Channel, Queen Charlotte Sound, and Pelorus Sound (Figure 2.1).

Bivalve collections were made by scuba divers from Tasman Bay during February 2018 from the RV *Polaris* II with sites encompassing the perimeter of the bay (Figure 2.1).

The sites from the top of the South Island, Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay, are associated with catchments with a range of landcover categories: forest, urban development, forestry, farming, and aquaculture systems (Figure 2.1, Appendix 1). Sites were chosen along the gradient with increasing distance from the mouth of the Sounds in order to compare sites with increased influence of land-based run off from major surrounding catchments.

Bivalve collections were made by scuba divers in Fiordland during February 2019 from the RV Typhoon. Site selection was focused on sampling sites in Thompson's Bradshaw Sound adjacent to Doubtful Sound and were constrained to the 20 m depth contour.

Target species were collected by scuba divers from eighteen sites within Marlborough Sounds (9), Tasman Bay (6) and Fiordland (3) (Figure 2.1). Samples were collected by hand at each site and placed into mesh bags under the New Zealand Ministry of Primary Industries special permit (644-2). Samples were then placed in individual tanks on-board the RV *Polaris* II with a constant surface water flow for 48 hours to allow sediment to be expelled. Samples were then placed in Zip-Lock plastic bags, labeled and frozen until dissection took place at Portobello Marine Laboratory, University of Otago. The number of samples collected was constrained by the abundance of each species at each collection site, therefore the largest sample sizes were from the most abundant species (Table 2.1 - 2.3). SPOM and macroalgae were collected from the same sites within the Marlborough Sounds. SPOM was collected using a 20 μ m plankton net towed vertically from 15m to the surface. Samples were subsequently passed through a 250 μ m filter to eliminate zooplankton and microscopically examined to verify samples were composed primarily of phytoplankton (Udy et al. 2019c). Macroalgal blade tissue samples were taken for dominant species at each site for multiple individuals (n=5) stratified by depth.

2.1.3 Stable isotope analysis

Samples were dissected at Portobello Marine Laboratory, University of Otago, in a trace metal clean laminar flow cabinet (Gelman, HLF series). For each sample a 0.5 g sample of adductor muscle tissue was taken from each sample and placed into a 1.5 ml centrifuge vial. In order to access tissue samples, the left and right valves were separated at the ventral margin using an acid washed ceramic knife and teflon forceps. A piece of adductor muscle tissue was then detached from the posterior end of the bivalve. Tissue samples were frozen for 48 hr at -18 °C and subsequently freeze-dried at -60 °C for 48 hr (mrc, FDL-10N-50 series). Samples were ground to a fine powder in a mortar and pestle that was cleaned with ethanol (EtOH) between samples to limit cross contamination. Samples of SPOM and macroalgae were processed in the same manner as outline above. Adductor muscle subsamples of 1.0 mg \pm 0.1 mg were weighed into 3.5 x 3.0 mm tin capsules and 3 mg subsamples of SPOM and macroalgal were sealed for stable isotopic analysis of δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C in the Department of Chemistry, University of Otago.

Samples of adductor mussel, SPOM and macroalgae were analyzed on the Europa 20-20 updated mass spectrometer (Europa Scientific) interfaced with Carlo Erba NA1500 Elemental analyzer (NA1500, Carlo Erba, Milan, Italy) in continuous flow mode (precision: 2‰). The raw sample isotopic ratios were standardized by calibrating against international standards (USGS-40 and USGS-41). In-house laboratory reference material (EDTA-OAS, $\delta^{13}C = -38.93\% \pm 0.2$, $\delta^{15}N = -0.73 \pm 0.12$) of known carbon and nitrogen isotopic values were measured after every twelfth sample to correct for instrument drift. To ensure obtained isotopic values were not affected by instrumental drift, accuracy and precision for sequential duplicates of every 10th sample was determined by calculating root mean squared error (RMS) (Babaranti et al. 2018).
Sequential duplicate estimates of precision ranged from 0.02 - 0.40. The standard errors of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were calculated for each species by region (Table 2.1 – 2.3). Stable isotope ratios are reported in standard delta notation (Peterson & Fry 1987) relative to isotopic ratios of the international reference standards, δ^{15} N (atmospheric air) and δ^{13} C (Vinnea Pee Dee Belemnite).

C:N mol ratio ranged from 3.5 to 5.0 among bivalve species, these values are over the threshold where lipid extraction should be performed (Post et al. 2007). Due to the interference of lipids, decreasing the δ^{13} C, they were mathematically transformed according to the equation from Post et al. 2007:

Corrected $\partial^{13}C = \partial^{13}C - 3.32 + 0.99 \text{ x}$ (C: N)

Species	Common name	Mäori	$\delta^{15}N \pm SE$	$\delta^{13}C \pm SE$	Proportion macroalgae	Ν
		name			\pm SE	
Atrina zelandica	Horse mussel	Kua kua	9.85 ± 0.96	-16.29 ± 1.12	0.911 ± 0.117	43
Mytilus galloprovincialis	Blue mussel	Kua kua	9.43 ± 0.81	-17.30 ± 0.38	0.832 ± 0.126	41
Pecten novazelandiae	Scallop	Hururoa	9.15 ± 0.83	-16.14 ± 0.93	0.948 ± 0.092	88
Perna canaliculus	Green-lipped mussel	Kuakua	10.08 ± 0.73	-16.95 ± 0.62	0.888 ± 0.118	43
Tucetona laticostata	Dog cockle	Hururoa	9.48 <u>+</u> 0.96	-16.93 ± 0.75	0.942 ± 0.076	51

Table 2.1 Isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) of the bivalves collected from Marlborough Sounds, New Zealand.

Table 2.2 Isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) of the bivalves collected from Tasman Bay, New Zealand.

Species	Common name	Mäori	δ ¹⁵ N± SE	$\delta^{13}C \pm SE$	Proportion macroalgae	N
		name			\pm SE	
Atrina zelandica	Horse mussel	Kua kua	10.29 ± 0.75	-18.62 ± 0.32	0.521 ± 0.033	5
Mytilus galloprovincialis	Blue mussel	Kua kua	8.7 5± 1.03	-19.12 ± 0.99	0.487 ± 0.147	21
Perna canaliculus	Green-lipped mussel	Kuakua	9.42 ± 0.70	-18.96 ± 0.63	0.496 ± 0.100	39
Tucetona laticostata	Dog cockle	Hururoa	9.87 <u>+</u> 1.22	-17.98 <u>+</u> 0.49	0.638 <u>+</u> 0.058	39

Table 2.3 Isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) of the bivalves collected from Fiordland, New Zealand.

Species	Common name	Mäori name	δ^{15} N \pm SE	$\delta^{13}C \pm SE$	Proportion macroalgae + SE	Ν
Tucetona laticostata	Dog cockle	Kuakua	8.45±0.26	-17.33± 0.20	0.833 ± 0.056	6
Atrina zelandica	Horse mussel	Kua kua	9.13 <u>+</u> 0.59	-18.31± 0.43	0.807 ± 0.080	5
Pecten novazelandiae	Scallop	Hururoa	7.69 <u>±</u> 0.53	-18.28 ± 0.22	0.992 ± 0.014	8

2.1.4 Stable isotopic mixing model

Average values of δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C for SPOM and macroalgae derived organic matter were calculated at the site level where possible, when site level averages where not achieved, regional averages were calculated (Table 2.6). For all bivalves, a conservative one-step procedure was used to determine the composition of basal organic matter based on δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C for individuals by site (adjusted from Jack & Wing 2011). Relative contribution of dominant brown macroalgae and SPOM for individual samples was calculated from δ^{13} C from an individualbased 2-source mass balance model for the assumed primary consumer at trophic level 1 (after Phillips and Gregg 2001).

Sensitivity analyses were carried out to test the model's sensitivity to the assumed base δ^{13} C values for macroalgae and SPOM. δ^{13} C data was corrected with plus and minus one and two standard errors from the mean base δ^{13} C values for macroalgae and SPOM.

2.1.5 Landcover classification

The watersheds surrounding Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland were divided into the following discrete landcover categories based on proportion landcover: forest, urban, forestry, and farming (Figure 2.2). Presence and absence of salmon farms was also noted for Marlborough Sounds. Landcover information was provided by Land Information New Zealand (LINZ, 2018) and Marlborough District Council (Appendix 2). QGIS maps were constructed by overlaying survey data using the spatial referencing system NZGD 2000.

Catchment areas, defined as the terrestrial region contributing terrigenous particulate to adjacent marine systems, were defined for each sample site by drawing polygons in QGIS and calculating the 2D area (km²). Boundaries of the catchment were determined using both topographic contours (1 cm : 2.5 km), 8 m digital elevation models and sea-draining catchment layers (LINZ, 2018).



Figure 2.2 Landcover classification for each of the five catchments: 1) Tory Channel, 2) Queen Charlotte Sound, 3) Pelorus Sound, 4) Mapua, and 5) Doubtful Sound.

2.1.6 Statistical analysis

Spatial variation in nitrogen and carbon stable isotopic signatures

Generalized linear models (GLM) with the Standard Least Squares personality in the Fit Model platform in JMP (JMP 14.0 SAS) were used to test the effect of REGION [3 levels, fixed] for individual species on values of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. A further GLM was used to test the effect of REGION [3 levels, fixed], SPECIES [2 levels, fixed], SIZE [continuous], and the interaction REGION* SPECIES for *A. zelandica* and *T. laticostata*, present across all regions. Post-hoc tests using Student's t determined where differences among region and species occurred. As size was not taken into account on collection and showed significant correlation with δ^{13} C, size was incorporated as a continuous variable into all subsequent models to account for variability associated with bivalve size (Appendix 3).

Further GLMs were used to test the effect of REGION [3 levels, fixed] and SPECIES [5 levels, fixed] on the proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae. Separate analyses were run to test the effect of SITE and SPECIES for overlapping species within the Marlborough Sounds. First, at the site where all species were present, we tested the effect of SPECIES [5 levels, fixed]. Second, at sites where the majority of species were present, we tested the effect of SITE [3 levels, fixed], SPECIES [4 levels, fixed], and the interaction between the factors on the proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae. Lastly, for the species, *A. zelandica*, present at the majority of sites we tested factors SITE [10 levels, fixed] on the proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae. Post-hoc tests using Student's t were used to determine where differences for site and species occurred.

Salmon farm

To test if the composition of basal organic matter used by bivalves varied significantly with the presence and absence of salmon farms within Marlborough Sounds, factors FARM [2 levels, fixed], SPECIES [5 levels, fixed], and the interaction between the two factors were analyzed using a GML. Post-hoc tests using Student's t were used to determine intraspecific

differences in the proportions of organic matter derived from macroalgae between farm and similar reference sites.

Landcover classification

To test if the composition of basal organic matter used by bivalves varied significantly with the different landcover classifications among catchments the factors CATCHMENT (5 levels, categorical) were analyzed for individual species using a GLM. To test if proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae for different species varied significantly with landcover classes, factors [LANDCOVER, 4 levels, categorical] were analyzed for individual species using a GLM. Size was incorporated as a continuous variable into the models to account for variability in feeding associated with bivalve size within species. Post-hoc tests were run using Student's t to determine where significant differences in proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae occurred among catchments and landcover classes.

2.2 Results

Stable isotopic analysis of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N for five species of bivalves was applied to identify differences in the organic matter sources supporting species at sites in Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland. Associations between landcover practices and proportion of alternative organic matter sources are indicative of a likely response of changes in bivalve feeding ecology and supply of particulate organic matter due to different landcover practices, presence of salmon farms and regional differences of freshwater inputs.

2.2.1 Organic matter source pools are variable at site and region level

The potential organic matter sources, macroalgae and SPOM, were well discriminated by δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N among both site and region (Table 2.6). Overall highest δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C for macroalgae was from Tasman Bay and lowest was from Doubtful Sound. Highest δ^{15} N for SPOM was in Marlborough Sounds, while lowest recorded was in Doubtful Sound. Highest δ^{13} C for SPOM was recorded in Doubtful Sound and lowest was in Tasman Bay. Moreover,

organic matter source pool signatures varied at the site level within Marlborough Sounds. Values for macroalgae ranged between (δ^{15} N: 4.71 to 8.16) and (δ^{13} C: -19.67 to -15.22). Similarly, values for SPOM ranged from (δ^{15} N: 5.60 to 7.17) and (δ^{13} C: -22.52 to -21.74). The range of macroalgal and SPOM stable isotopic values of δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C illustrated the importance of resolving site specific stable isotopic values of organic matter source pools (Wing et al. 2008). Though macroalgae and SPOM are the main organic matter sources investigated in the present study, it should also be noted that alternate potential sources of organic matter include terrestrial inputs and bacterial activity which has been shown to support benthic food webs in some regions (McLeod & Wing 2007, McLeod et al. 2010a). The values of terrestrial organic matter sources including bacterial recycling typically range between (δ^{13} C ~ -29) and (δ^{15} N: ~ -2) (McLeod et al. 2010a). For examples, studies conducted by Wing et al. (2008) and McLeod et al. (2010a) illustrate the importance of terrestrially derived forest litter in supporting benthic food webs in Fiordland. No studies at present reveal terrestrially derived forest litter supporting benthic food webs in Marlborough Sounds or Tasman Bay.

Region	Site	Macroalgae	Macroalgae	SPOM	SPOM
		δ^{15} N \pm SE	$\delta^{13}C \pm SE$	δ^{15} N \pm SE	$\delta^{13}C \pm SE$
Marlborough Sounds	Bird Island	5.10 ± 0.64	-18.14 ± 1.88	-	-
	Waitata	4.71 ± 0.33	-19.67 ± 0.27	7.17 <u>±</u> 0.66	-21.74 ± 0.44
	Kauaroa	5.43 ± 0.92	-19.23 ± 0.70	7.09 <u>+</u> 0.59	-21.43 ± 0.32
	Motungarara Is.	6.88 <u>+</u> 0.61	-15.56 ± 4.65	5.60 <u>+</u> 1.34	-22.20 ± 0.34
	Ruakaka Bay	7.70 ± 0.64	-15.99 ± 0.67	7.06 ± 0.62	21.96 ± 0.87
	Dieffenbach Point/	6.55 ± 1.06	-16.94 ± 3.90	6.61 <u>+</u> 1.06	-22.34 ± 0.81
	Perano Shoal				
	Te Pangu Bay	6.37 ± 0.37	-17.98 ± 1.54	6.59 <u>+</u> 1.28	-22.40 ± 0.66
	Te Ahi Ihi	6.77 ± 0.85	-15.22 ± 1.18	6.39 <u>+</u> 1.15	-22.52 ± 0.72
Tasman Bay	Tasman Bay	7.57 ± 0.39	-16.21 ± 6.90	6.57 <u>+</u> 1.77	-22.63 ± 1.02
Fiordland	Doubtful Sound	5.40 ± 0.35	-17.48 ± 0.24	3.86 ± 0.95	-21.60 ± 0.19

Table 2.4 Potential organic matter source supporting suspension feeding bivalves. Site specific averages are provided where available. (-) indicates no data present.

2.2.2 Spatial variation of individual species

The values of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were significantly different among species and regions, as tested by a general linear model (GML) in the program JMP Pro 14.0v (SAS) (Table 2.4). Highest δ^{15} N were found in *A. zelandica* from Tasman Bay while lowest δ^{15} N were found for *P. novaezelandiae* from Fiordland. Highest δ^{13} C were found for *P. novaezelandiae* from Marlborough Sounds and lowest δ^{13} C were found for *M. galloprovincialis* from Tasman Bay. Overall lowest δ^{15} N values are revealed for species collected in Fiordland while lowest δ^{13} C values are from species collected in Tasman Bay. The difference in isotopic values in bivalves collected among regions is evident by the distinct groupings of species, with slight overlap in isotopic values of species between Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland (Figure 2.3).

Table 2.5 Results from a general linear model reveal significant differences in stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) between species and regions. Significant p-values (p < 0.05) are bolded.

Stable Isotope	Factor	df	F-ratio	p-value
δ^{15} N	Species	4	14.9551	<0.0001
	Region	3	9.5454	<0.0001
$\delta^{13}C$	Species	4	22.2165	<0.0001
	Region	3	94.5373	<0.0001



Figure 2.3 Average stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) for bivalves from (1) Marlborough Sounds, (2) Tasman Bay and (3) Doubtful Sound, for species: *A. zelandica* (x), *M. galloprovincialis*(diamond), *P. novaezelandiae* (circle), *P. canaliculus* (triangle), and *T. laticostata* (square). Shapes outline the stable isotopic values of species collected from each region. Means \pm SE.

The interaction between species and region could not be tested due to uneven sample distributions. Instead differences for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were tested for individual species across regions. Values of δ^{15} N were significantly different between respective regions for all species except *A. zelandica* (Table 2.5). Values of δ^{13} C were significantly different between respective regions for all species (Table 2.5).

Table 2.6 Results from a general linear model revealed si	gnificant differences in stable isotopic
values (δ^{15} N, δ^{13} C) for individual species among regions.	Significant p-values ($p < 0.05$) are
bolded.	

Factor	Stable Isotope	Species	df	F-ratio	p-value
Region	δ^{15} N	A. zelandica	2	1.72	0.1858
		M. galloprovincialis	1	7.99	0.0064
		P. novaezelandiae	1	20.48	<0.0001
		P. canaliculus	2	8.84	0.0003
		T. laticostata	2	4.68	0.0115
	$\delta^{13}C$	A. zelandica	2	12.62	<0.0001
		M. galloprovincialis	1	109.85	<0.0001
		P. novaezelandiae	1	21.35	<0.0001
		P. canaliculus	2	114.84	<0.0001
		T. laticostata	2	34.63	<0.0001

To identify differences between regions, same species collected from Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland were analysed for the interaction between factors REGION and SPECIES. There was no significant interaction for δ^{15} N among *A. zelandica* and *T. laticostata* (Main test: F_{5,167} = 3.18, p = 0.009, r² = 0.09. δ^{15} N: REGION, p = 0.0092. SPECIES, p = 0.07. REGION * SPECIES. p =0.9). There was a significant interaction for δ^{13} C for *A. zelandica* and *T. laticostata* (Main test: F_{5,167} = 23.70, p < 0.0001, r² = 0.42. δ^{13} C: REGION, p < 0.0001. SPECIES, p = 0.28. REGION * SPECIES, p = 0.0011).

Overlap of δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C in isotopic space for species

Overlap among species within regions is evident in the values of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N mainly in samples collected from the Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay (Figure 2.4 – 2.6). Clear species overlap of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N are evident among all species in the Marlborough Sounds (Figure 2.4). The same trend is evident for species collected from Tasman Bay, with the exception of two outliers (Figure 2.5). Analysis of samples collected in Fiordland illustrate overlap in the values of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N between *A. zelandica* and *P. novaezelandiae* while *T*.

laticostata remains distinct (Figure 2.6). The high incidence of overlap in isotopic values among species within regions provides an indication of overlap in use of basal organic matter sources, phytoplankton versus particulate matter derived from macroalgae.

The basal organic matter sources supporting different bivalve species within each of the regions illustrates higher proportions of organic matter derived from macroalgae among species from Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland relative to those resolved in the Tasman Bay (Figure 2.4 - 2.6).



Figure 2.4 Stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) for consumers and organic matter sources from Marlborough Sounds for species: *A. zelandica* (closed triangle), *M. galloprovincialis*(open triangle), *P. novaezelandiae* (open circle), *P. canaliculus* (closed square), and *T. laticostata* (closed rectangle). Shapes display resource use overlap of consumers in isotopic space for: *A. zelandica* (grey), *M. galloprovincialis*(blue), *P. novaezelandiae* (yellow), *P. canaliculus* (green), and *T. laticostata* (orange). Shapes outline the stable isotopic values of species collected within Marlborough Sounds.



Figure 2.5 Stable isotopic signatures (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) for consumers and organic matter sources from Tasman Bay for species: *A. zelandica* (closed triangle), *M. galloprovincialis* (open triangle), *P. canaliculus* (closed square), and *T. laticostata* (closed rectangle). Shapes display resource use overlap of consumers in isotopic space for: *A. zelandica* (grey), *M. galloprovincialis* (blue), *P. canaliculus* (green), and *T. laticostata* (orange). Shapes outline the stable isotopic values of species collected within Tasman Bay.



Figure 2.6 Stable isotopic signatures (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) for consumers and organic matter sources from Fiordland for species: *A. zelandica* (closed triangle), *P. novaezelandiae* (open circle), and *T. laticostata* (closed rectangle). Shapes display resource use overlap of consumers in isotopic space for: *A. zelandica* (grey), *P. novaezelandiae* (yellow), and *T. laticostata* (orange). Shapes outline the stable isotopic values of species collected within Fiordland.

Mixing model

Individual-based estimates of proportion of organic matter supporting bivalves suggests diets are largely supported by organic matter derived from macroalgae. The observed pattern is consistent at both the site and regional level. The results of the mass balance mixing model revealed the model's sensitivity to the assumed base δ^{13} C values for macroalgae and SPOM.

The sensitivity analysis revealed that the mixing model is sensitive to assumed basal carbon isotopic value (δ^{13} C) for macroalgae and SPOM source pools. The average proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae in the diet of bivalves varied between 8% and 26% when assumed base values of macroalgae and SPOM were increased or decreased up to two



standard errors from the average (Figure 2.7). The result indicated that the contributions of alternative organic matter sources as determined by the mixing model in the present study are highly sensitive to the assumed δ^{13} C value for both macroalgae and SPOM source pools.



Figure 2.8 Sensitivity analysis based on the averages among species for proportion of macroalgae in bivalve diets. Values were determined by mixing models first for individuals, for assumed basal carbon isotopic values (δ^{13} C) of (a) macroalgae and (b) SPOM. Values were pooled for all five species present at Motungarara Island.



The proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae supporting bivalves varies significantly between the three regions (Table 2.7). Highest contributions macroalgae to bivalve diets were identified for samples collected from Marlborough Sounds and Doubtful Sound where diets are composed of between 57% and 86% organic matter derived from macroalgae or another isotopically similar source (Figure 2.8). The lowest contributions of macroalgae to bivalve diet were consistently identified from samples collected in the Tasman Bay where the bivalves were supported by nearly equal proportions of organic matter derived from macroalgae and

phytoplankton (between 39% and 53%) (Figure 2.8). Differences in organic matter use among species indicated that contributions of organic matter derived from macroalgae were highest for *T. laticostata* and lowest for *A. zelandica* in both Doubtful Sound and Tasman Bay (Figure 2.8). However, in Marlborough Sounds, *P. novaezelandiae* were supported by the highest contribution of organic matter derived from macroalgae while *M. galloprovincialis* was supported by the lowest (Figure 2.8). These patterns suggested that the contributions of organic matter vary strongly among regions for individual species.

Table 2.7 Results of gen	eral linear models for	proportion of ma	acroalgae supportin	g individual
species among regions.	Significant p-values (J	p < 0.05) are bol	ded.	

Species	F ratio	r^2	р
A. zelandica	$F_{2,67} = 12.91$	0.28	<0.0001
M. galloprovincialis	$F_{1,56} = 19.67$	0.26	<0.0001
P. novaezelandiae	$F_{1,87} = 8.01$	0.09	0.0058
P. canaliculu	$F_{1,75} = 70.66$	0.49	<0.0001
T. laticostata	$F_{2,74} = 24.78$	0.41	<0.0001



Figure 2.8 Proportion of macroalgae supporting bivalves for assumed trophic level 1 presented for each region: Marlborough Sounds (grey), Tasman Bay (white), and Doubtful Sound (black). Average proportions of organic matter from macroalgae for each region are shown here, site specific averages in the mixing model were used to determine organic matter sources for consumers where available. Mean \pm 1 SE.

From the single site where all species could be found, proportions of macroalgae supporting species are significantly different for assumed trophic level 1 (Main test: $F_{5,36} = 3.40$, p = 0.0145, $r^2 = 0.35$. Species, F = 4.13, p = 0.0085. Shell length, F = 0.71, p = 0.4066). *P. novaezelandiae* derived significantly higher proportions of organic matter from macroalgae relative to all other species (Figure 2.9). The lowest proportions of organic matter from macroalgae are consistent among *A. zelandica*, *M. galloprovincialis*, *P. canaliculus*, and *T. laticostata* (Figure 2.9).



Figure 2.9 Proportion of macroalgae supporting bivalves for assumed trophic level 1 from Motungarara Island, Marlborough Sounds. Mean \pm 1 SE. Levels not connected by same letters are significantly different.

A similar trend was identified when considering bivalves collected from several sites within Marlborough Sounds where a majority of the species were found. Significant differences were identified for factors SITE and SPECIES, but not for the interaction between SITE * SPECIES on the proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae (Main test: $F_{12,103} = 107.74$, p < 0.0001, $r^2 = 0.93$. Site, F = 431.65, p <0.0001. Species, F = 4.07, p = 0.0092. Site * Species, F = 1.93, p = 0.0839. Shell length, F = 6.12, p = 0.0152). The highest proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae was present for species collected from Bird Island while lowest was recorded for Motungarara Island (Figure 2.10). Highest proportions of organic matter derived from macroalgae were consistent for *P. novaezelandiae* and lowest for *A. zelandica* among sites. Overall similar patterns in the proportion of macroalgae supporting *P. novaezelandiae*, *P. canaliculus*, and *T. laticostata* were consistent for samples collected from Bird Island Motungarara Island. Further, similar proportions of organic matter derived from

macroalgae were present for *A. zealandica*, *P. canaliculus* and *T. laticostata* at Perano Shoal. Differences in proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae supporting bivalves were more pronounced between sites than within sites (Figure 2.10).



Figure 2.10 Proportion of macroalgae supporting bivalves for assumed trophic level 1 at sites: Bird Island (black), Perano Shoal (white), and Motungarara Island (grey) within Marlborough Sounds. Mean \pm 1 SE. Levels not connected by same letters are significantly different.

Atrina zelandica, collected from each of the study sites displayed significant differences in the proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae ($F_{9,67} = 12.41$, p < 0.0001, r² = 0.66). Individuals collected at sites within Marlborough Sounds derive the highest proportion of organic matter from macroalgae relative to those collected from Tasman Bay and Doubtful Sound (Figure 2.11). However, proportions of organic matter derived from macroalgae significantly differed among sites within Marlborough Sounds (Figure 2.11).



Figure 2.11 a) Proportion macroalgae supporting *A. zelandica* for assumed trophic level 1 collected from study sites. Mean \pm 1 SE. Levels not connected by same letters are significantly different.

2.2.4 Anthropogenic influences

Salmon farms in Marlborough Sounds

Significant differences were revealed for the proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae supporting bivalves at salmon farms and reference sites for factors SALMON FARM, SPECIES and the interaction between SALMON FARM * SPECIES (Main test: $F_{10,240} = 10.22$, p < 0.0001, r² = 0.31. Salmon farm, F = 44.17, p < 0.0001. Species, F = 15.15, p < 0.0001. Salmon farm * Species, F = 3.72, p =00.0059. Shell length, F = 20.78, p < 0.0001). Highest proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae was revealed at salmon farm sites for *T. laticostata*

and lowest for *A. zelandica* at reference sites relative to other species (Figure 2.12). Proportions of organic matter from macroalgae are significantly different for *A. zelandica*, *P. novaezelandiae*, *P. canaliculus*, and *T. laticostata* collected between salmon farm sites and similar reference sites (Figure 2.12).



Figure 2.12 Proportion of macroalgae supporting bivalves for assumed trophic level 1 from reference (grey) and salmon farm (black) sites. Mean \pm 1 SE. Levels not connected by same letters are significantly different.

Landcover classification

Significant differences were revealed for proportions of organic matter derived from macroalgae supporting individual species among catchments characterized be a range of land modification (Table 2.8,2.9).

Catchment	%Forest	%Urban	%Forestry	%Farming	Catchments
					size (km ²)
Doubtful Sound	0.949446	1.08E-05	0	0	947.492417
Mapua	0.463407	0.010584	0.301777	0.219149	871.6436599
Pelorus Sound	0.790336	0.000833	0.083039	0.120129	1096.489307
Queen Charlotte					32.25880051
Sound	0.631024	0.006929	0.208192	0.152431	
Tory Channel	0.363658798	0	0.521617823	0.114723379	62.32033168

Table 2.8 Proportions of landcover classifications and total area for discrete catchments.

Table 2.9 Results of discrete general linear models for proportions of macroalgae supporting individual species among catchments. Significant p-values (p < 0.05) are bolded.

Species	F ratio	r^2	р
A. zelandica	$F_{5,67} = 16.35$	0.57	<0.0001
M. galloprovincialis	$F_{4,56} = 15.93$	0.55	<0.0001
P. novaezelandiae	$F_{4,87} = 32.62$	0.61	<0.0001
P. canaliculu	$F_{4,75} = 73.99$	0.81	<0.0001
T. laticostata	$F_{4,74} = 68.16$	0.80	<0.0001

Significant regression analyses between proportion of macroalgae and landcover classifications revealed positive linear associations for percent forest for *M. galloprovincialis*, *P. canaliculus* and *T. laticostata*. Further, negative associations were observed in the previous species for percent landcover from: urban, forestry and farming (Figure 2.13, 2.15 - 2.16). The only significant regression analysis for *P. novaezelandiae* revealed a negative association between proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae and percent farming in the associated catchment (Figure 2.14). No significant regressions were revealed for *A. zelandica*.



Figure 2.13 Significant regression analysis results for proportion of macroalgae and percent landcover for *M. galloprovincialis* among sites: 1. Tory Channel, 2. Queen Charlotte Sound, 3. Pelorus Sound, and 4. Mapua.



Figure 2.14 Significant regression analysis results for proportion of macroalgae and percent farming for *P. novaezelandiae* among sites: 1. Tory Channel, 2. Queen Charlotte Sound, 3. Pelorus Sound, and 5. Doubtful Sound.



Figure 2.15 Significant regression analysis results for proportion of macroalgae and percent landcover for *P. canaliculus* among sites: 1. Tory Channel, 2. Queen Charlotte Sound, 3. Pelorus Sound, and 4. Mapua.



Figure 2.16 Significant regression analysis results for proportion of macroalgae and percent landcover for *T. laticostata* among sites: 2. Queen Charlotte Sound, 3. Pelorus Sound, 4. Mapua, and 5. Doubtful Sound.

2.3 Discussion

The data and results presented here demonstrate that the composition of alternative basal organic matter sources supporting benthic bivalves was likely shaped by anthropogenic activity in adjoining catchment systems. While the intraspecific differences in the diet of temperate benthic bivalve communities were largely related to land modification and salmon farming, interspecific differences resulted from contrasting feeding strategies. Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay, and Fiordland with different intensities of anthropogenic influence, provided a range of contrasting conditions for assessing the effects of land modification on benthic food webs. Accordingly, among these regions, the degree of catchment modification and salmon farming revealed the strongest relationships with variations in alternative basal organic matter use by bivalves among regions.

2.3.1 Macroalgae subsidies

We focused on two primary organic matter sources supporting temperate reef communities, phytoplankton and macroalgae (Fredriksen 2003, Koenigs et al. 2015, von Biela et al. 2016, Udy et al. 2019c). Macroalgae has specifically been identified in fueling food webs by supporting primary consumers, such as benthic suspension feeding bivalves, that then provide prey for higher trophic levels (Tallis 2009, Wing & Jack 2012). The widespread idea that macroalgae are a pervasive supporter of marine food webs through suspension feeding has been challenged by Miller and Page (2012), who contended that stable isotope analysis resulted in overestimating the macroalgal contribution to bivalve species. Here we reveal that suspension feeding bivalves rely heavily on subsidies of macroalgae. Bivalves in the present study were supported by as much as ~90% organic matter derived from macroalgae, depending on the species and site sampled. Stable isotopic values of carbon (δ^{13} C) and nitrogen (δ^{15} N) illustrated that all species from the northern and southern study regions of South Island, New Zealand relied on organic matter from macroalgae to a significant degree (Figure 2.17).



Figure 2.17 Average proportion of macroalgae supporting species for assumed trophic level 1 among study regions: Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland.

The factor, REGION, best explained the variation in organic matter derived from macroalgae supporting individual species (Table 2.7, Figure 2.8). A likely explanation for the observed differences in source pools has previously been linked to the abundance of macroalgae among regions (Udy et al. 2019a, 2019c). Highest contributions of organic matter derived from macroalgae in Marlborough Sounds and Doubtful Sound reflect the higher abundance of macroalgae and / or a more active detrital pathway of macroalgae derived organic matter to suspension feeders in these regions, relative to that observed in the Tasman Bay. Previous studies illustrated the contribution of macroalgae to higher trophic level fish in food webs in Marlborough Sounds and Doubtful Sound (Wing & Jack 2012, Udy et al. 2019c). We found that though Fiordland has a larger biomass of macroalgae relative to Marlborough Sounds, contributions of organic matter to the detrital pathways supporting bivalves in these regions appears equal or significantly greater in Marlborough Sounds (Figure 2.8). Though the carbon and nitrogen values fell within the macroalgae and SPOM signatures, it is likely that some organisms draw organic matter from alternate sources (Figure 2.4 - 2.6). For example, detrital feeding invertebrates in Fiordland have been identified as accessing organic matter from terrestrial sources and microbially influenced organic material derived from forest litter (Wing & Jack 2012, McLeod et al. 2010).

In contrast to the patterns in organic matter use by bivalves in the Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland, the lowest contribution of organic matter derived from macroalgae are consistent for all species in Tasman Bay (Figure 2.8). This pattern may be reflective of the lower abundance of kelp forest habitats in Tasman Bay relative to the other regions, and high concentrations of phytoplankton in the Bay (Newcombe et al. 2015). Due to the lack of kelp forests in Tasman Bay and the high phytoplankton abundance, the primary sources of organic matter are derived from phytoplankton in the water column and benthic microalgae (Newcombe et al. 2015). The phytoplankton productivity between Fiordland and Marlborough Sounds is similar, however during bloom events Fiordland possesses slightly higher phytoplankton biomass (Ogilvie et al. 2000, Goebel et al. 2005). Therefore, regional differences observed in the present study are likely driven by differences in the detrital pathways from macroalgal production into the suspended particulate organic matter pool.

2.3.2 Resource overlap and partitioning

Site-specific samples of macroalgae and SPOM within Marlborough Sounds provided a localized perspective on trophodynamics among individual bivalve species. The observed variability in organic matter derived from macroalgae among primary consumers were explained by factors, SITE and SPECIES, but not the interaction between SITE * SPECIES. Interspecific differences in organic matter derived from macroalgae at individual sites reflected differences in feeding modes while intraspecific differences among sites were likely tied to variability in the abundance of alternative resource pools.

Interspecific differences revealed contributions of organic matter from macroalgae varied significantly among species (Figure 2.9, 2.10). Highest proportions of organic matter from macroalgae are consistent for *P. novaezelandiae* among discrete sites within Marlborough Sounds relative to other species (Figure 2.10). These findings were likely due to the selective feeding strategy identified for *P. novaezelandiae*, where more nutritious particulate matter is often selected over particulates with lower nutritional values captured in the mucus net along the mantle margin (Macdonald & Ward 1994). The mechanisms that support selectivity in this species are rejection channels that allow particles to be discarded (Liang & Morton 1988, Macdonald & Ward 1994). For example, *P. novaezelandiae* increase filtration rates and biodeposit build-up in turbid conditions, illustrating the pathway through which nutrients are selected (Macdonald & Ward 1994). Further, the position of *P. novaezelandiae* on the seafloor reveals the utilization of organic matter build-up reflected in higher abundance of macroalgae and / or a more active detrital pathway of macroalgae derived organic matter.

Though all other species, aside from the understudied *T. laticostata*, have also been identified as selective feeders (Hawkins et al. 1996, James et al. 2001, Ellis et al. 2002, Hewitt & Pilditch 2004), it is likely that the resource pools at discrete sites vary relative to the composition of the benthic community. The similar proportions of organic matter supporting *A. zelandica, P. canaliculus*, and *M. galloprovincialis* reflect overlap in resource pools by these species that have a feeding position away from the benthos in the water column. Further, it is likely that mussel beds, which have previously been identified as influential to the

hydrodynamics within the benthic boundary layer along rocky reefs (Green et al. 1998, Nikora et al. 2002), enrichment of sediments, and microbial activity (Warwick et al. 1997, Cummings et al. 2001) alter the available particulates in the water column. In addition, suspension feeding epibionts primarily present on *A. zelandica* may influence the resource pool available to their host (Cummings et al. 2001). Studies on other species of large sediment dwelling cockles, *Glycymeris*, indicate periodic feeding activity with active filtration only about 60% of the time and longer digestion periods (Savina & Pouvreau 2004). As an alternative to active filtration, passive feeding facilitated by strong water currents provides increased delivery of suspended particulates, particularly those of the detrital pathway to *T. laticostata* (Powell 1979).

Intraspecific differences reflect the composition of resource pools among sites where influences acting on organic matter source pools may explain the observed variation. Differences in bottom stress and wave activity which has been associated with abundance of primary production among sites may account for the observed differences in the resource pools (Handley 2015, Urlich 2015). Of the sites within Marlborough Sounds, lowest proportions of macroalgae were present at Motungarara Island. Though this site was characterized by high macroalgal cover, the low contribution of macroalgae to bivalves may have been a result of the influence of high wave activity on the retention of suspended particulate organic matter (Neil et al. 2018). In contrast, Bird Island and Perano Shoal were sheltered from direct oceanic wave exposure and may therefore have retained suspended particulate matter leading to higher concentrations of detrital leaf particulates in the SPOM pool.

While bivalve species sampled in the present study revealed both site and species level differences in use of organic matter source pools, the observed variability reflects resource partitioning likely leading to the reduction in competition for food (Tallis 2009). The differences among species identified here were supported by studies identifying interspecific differences in resource utilization among benthic suspension feeding communities (Dubois et al. 2007, Tallis 2009, Wing & Jack 2012). Further, these observations are supported by large-scale patterns in origins of organic matter, to regional changes in nutrient availability (Hill et al. 2006). Smaller scale differences in hydrology, coastal currents, and wave exposure can all contribute to the differences in organic matter production and suspended particulate transport to rocky shores

(Schaal et al. 2009). Overall, the differences in resource use from the suspended particulate pool are reflective of the divergent feeding mechanisms allowing species to access different particulates among the available resource pools.

2.3.3 Influence of anthropogenic stressors to resource subsidies for coastal benthic bivalves

Salmon farm

Results of the current study reveal factors, SALMON FARM, SPECIES, and the interaction between the factors, significantly alters the utilization of alternate organic matter sources by all subtidal species *A. zelandica*, *P. novaezelandiae*, *P. canaliculus*, and *T. laticostata*, but not by the intertidal, *M. galloprovincialis* (Figure 2.12). The significantly higher proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae likely reflected nutrient enrichment from salmon farm associated inputs, such as salmon feed, waste, and resulting stimulation of macroalgal production in the vicinity of salmon farms (Gao et al. 2006). The elevated proportions of macroalgae associated with salmon farm sites reflected distinctive alteration of organic matter and nutrients within benthic food webs.

The present study clearly indicates that salmon farms directly influence the basal organic matter sources likely altering the pathways for organic matter entering benthic communities. The stressors on benthic communities in the vicinity of salmon farms have been documented in Marlborough Sounds, with community collapses associated with heavy sedimentation (Davidson & Richards 2014). With a total cage area of 0.1 km² and delivery of approximately 19,700 tons of fish feed per year (Knight 2012, Taylor et al. 2015), the aquaculture systems along the coastal Marlborough Sounds are likely to alter pathways for organic matter entering benthic communities. For benthic dwelling species, *P. novaezelandiae* and *T. laticostata*, this likely enhanced contributions of organic matter to the detrital pathways at salmon farm sites relative to similar references sites. While the alteration of organic matter supporting benthic communities may result in changes to trophodynamics, the influence of sedimentations could reduce benthic habitat near salmon farms. Therefore, the alteration of organic matter sources at the benthic

level will have indirect effects on the flow of organic matter and nutrients within benthic food webs (Salomon et al. 2008, Udy et al. 2019b).

Land-cover

The data and results presented here demonstrate that proportions of organic matter supporting bivalve communities were significantly different among catchments within Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland (Table 2.9). We demonstrated that organic matter derived from macroalgae supporting bivalve communities in Southern New Zealand correlated with the degree of catchment modification (Figure 2.13 – 2.16). We found that bivalves were supported by a lower proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae in heavily modified catchments: Mapua, Queen Charlotte Sound, and Tory Channel relative to the more intact: Pelorus Sound and Doubtful Sound. As bivalve feeding modes can be heavily influenced by composition of suspended particulate matter (Eckman et al. 1989, Hawkins et al. 1999, Gardner 2000, Pilditch et al. 2001, Ellis et al. 2002, Safi et al. 2007), these observations are likely the result of sedimentation from catchments imposed on coastal ecosystems influenced by catchment size, modification and vegetation cover (Waters 1995, Wemple et al. 2001, Wemple et al. 2003, Suttle et al. 2004, Coe 2006, MacDiarmid et al. 2012).

The observed variation in uptake of organic matter derived from macroalgae by bivalves within catchments is further revealed by the influences associated with the range of catchment modification. Influences of landcover classifications have been associated with the increased delivery of particulate and nutrients. Forestry in Marlborough Sounds alters the nutrients and organic matter sources available to benthic communities (Thrush et al. 2004, Morrison et al. 2009) through the deliverance of high sedimentation along the coastlines recently evaluated by Urlich (2015). These effects can be identified as small-scale variability in sources of organic matter within regions (Hamilton et al. 2011), which likely impacts sedentary species (Wing et al. 2012). Farming in Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay introduce nitrogen inputs, which have likely escalated in the last 40 years through increased development of the Pelorus and Mapua catchment resulting in increases of nitrogenous fertilizer application in intensified farming practices (Parfitt et al. 2012).

The influences associated with the different landcover classifications appear to have the most pronounced impacts in Tasman Bay where collectively urban development, farming and forestry make up over 50% of the catchment (Table 2.8). The major rivers, Waimea and Wakapuaka, empty into estuaries where nutrients, contaminants and sediments are absorbed or retained. The exception is the Motueka river which dumps directly onto coastal habitats (Tuckey et al. 2006, Newcombe et al. 2015). The rapid tidal flushing of the shallow Tasman Bay estuaries (Newcombe et al. 2015) frequently brings the land-based pollutants into the bay where they can be incorporated into the coastal ecosystem (Gillespie et al. 2011, Handley & Mclean 2016).

Though Pelorus Sound was also influenced by a large freshwater input, the opposite trend to Tasman Bay was present for the contribution of macroalgae supporting bivalves. Though Pelorus Sound was influenced by a high degree of forestry and receives large freshwater inputs (Table 2.8) ('Freshwater' 2017) the bivalve community here were supported by a high proportion of organic matter from macroalgae. The high riverine inputs of nitrogen have been reported at the head of Pelorus Sound since the 1970s (Carter 1976, Boynton et al. 1982). At the time, Boynton et al. (1982) demonstrated that around 60% of the nitrogen inputs going into Pelorus Sound were derived from riverine inputs, predominantly from the Pelorus River. It is likely that the strong tidal currents and depth of Pelorus Sound mediate the impacts of the resuspension of benthic sediment contributed to the bivalve community in this catchment (Carter 1976, Handley 2015).

In contrast to Pelorus Sound and Tasman Bay, there are no large riverine inputs to Queen Charlotte Sound (QCS) and the Tory Channel (Lucas 1997). The land-based inputs of particulates to QCS and Tory Channel were likely due to extensive forestry modification resulting in direct land runoff and small riverine inputs throughout the sound. Hydrodynamic models that have been generated for QCS illustrate widespread dispersal of particulates (Knight & Beamsley 2012, Hadfield et al. 2014). Therefore, differences in bottom stress and wave activity drive the build-up of particulate from catchments throughout QCS and Tory Channel influencing organic matter resource pools and detrital pathways in the food web supporting to coastal bivalves (Handley 2015, Urlich 2015).

Forested catchments generally have lower rates of land-based input of fine sediments to the marine environment, except for the case where forestry harvest leads to extensive erosion (Davidson et al. 2011). Increased sediment loading to marine habitats may have pervasive impacts on the marine community (Schiel & Foster 1986, Estes et al. 1989, Cole & Babcock, Airoldi & Virgilio 1998). The relatively pristine Fiordland region was characterized by intact catchments of native forest (Miller et al. 2006, Wing & Jack 2014). Therefore, it is likely that the bivalve communities within Doubtful Sound, with observed proportion of organic matter derived from macroalgae of ~85%, have not been influenced by the same magnitude of inputs from runoff as seen in Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay.

High rates of land-based suspended particulate matter found within modified catchments, corroborate the results of the present study on the negative impacts on bivalve feeding (Hawkins et al. 1999, Gardner 2000, Ellis et al. 2002, Safi et al. 2007). The differences in observed proportions of organic matter among bivalves associated with catchments with different landcover illustrated the potential for land-based influence on ecosystem function. Changes in landcover ultimately influence the available organic matter particulate pools to bivalves through the increase of sedimentation. Sedimentation increases turbidity and reduces light transmission, subsequently influencing primary production and in turn impacting benthic consumers, both in resource availability but also through negative effects of suspended sediment on bivalves feeding rates (Hewitt & Pilditch, 2004, Thrush et al. 2004, Gibbs et al. 2005, Morrison et al. 2009). The effects of land modification and alterations from urban development, farming and forestry can strongly affect trophodynamics of benthic bivalves which play a key role in benthic pelagic coupling between shallow water ecosystems and pelagic productivity (Griffiths & Hokey 1987).

In the present study, we show clear differences in the use of alternative organic matter sources supporting bivalve species with different feeding strategies inhabiting three regions characterized by large differences in land modifications and aquaculture development. The influence of land modification and salmon farms on bivalve trophodynamics are consistent with shifts in resource utilization among regions, while differences in feeding strategies among species underlie the observed intraspecific differences in resource partitioning. Changes in
landcover and modification of catchments in Marlborough Sounds were closely linked to changes in food web structure in the region (Udy et al. 2019a). In the present study we provide more evidence that Marlborough Sounds may have a strongly modified detrital pathway in the food web leading to coastal bivalves. These results highlight the key role of bivalves in the routing of basal carbon sources between land and coastal habitats, and that physical modification to terrestrial habitats have ecosystem level consequences. Chapter 3: Influence of catchments and organic matter source on the variation in concentration of trace metals in five different bivalve species on the South Island of New Zealand

3.0 Introduction

Environmental changes influence the structure and patterns of organic matter fluxes through food webs, as demonstrated in Chapter 2 by the influence of anthropogenic activity on organic matter resource use in bivalves. Environmental changes can be observed in both physical and biological processes and are reflected within the skeletal structure and tissues of organisms. For example, shell material in bivalves can resolve interannual changes in sea ice cover in Antarctica (Dick et al. 2007, Wing et al. 2019) while soft tissues of the same species provide a snapshot of pollution levels with potential health implication to humans (Deudero et al. 2009, Melwani et al. 2014, Ruiz-Fernández et al. 2018). Trace metal concentrations reflected in the soft tissues of suspension feeding bivalves are influenced by environmental conditions through direct exposure to the water column as well as through ingested food particulates (Rainbow 2002, Shulkin et al. 2003, Wang 2003, Deudero et al. 2009b, Melwani et al. 2014, Genç et al. 2018). In this context, the environmental influences on coastal habitats can be explored through the information reflected in the biochemical signatures from bivalve tissue to resolve important ongoing changes in coastal ecosystems.

Bivalves can bioaccumulate trace metals from both the water column and from food particles, with concentrations up to 1000 times greater than metal concentrations observed in the surrounding seawater (Naimo 1995). Bioaccumulation of metals is species specific and may vary significantly with both physical (e.g. water quality, habitat, salinity and temperature) and biotic (e.g. composition of food particulates, growth, reproduction, size) factors (Rainbow & Phillips 1993, Wu et al. 2005). Turn-over times of soft tissues, in addition to tissue type, influences the concentrations of different trace metals (Deudero et al. 2009a, Peake et al. 2010). However, due to the small size of some species, whole sample digestions are required in order to make comparisons among species (Marsden et al. 2014, Ruiz-Fernández et al. 2018).

74

Some bivalves show similar patterns in the uptake of metals, indicating similar responses to bioavailability and accumulation among species (Ruiz-Fernández et al. 2018). Further differences in concentrations among species are related to storage of trace metals. Metals in bivalves can be stored in two different compartments, the metabolically available compartment, and the stored detoxified compartment. Variability in processing of metals among these compartments may contribute to the observed differences in trace metal concentrations among species (Rainbow 2002, Voets et al. 2009).

Due to the observed interspecific variability in bioaccumulation of trace metals it is important to consider multiple species across a region in order to resolve how trace metal concentrations vary as a result of both natural and anthropogenic influences (Nriagu 1994, Callender & Rice 2000, Dimitrakakis et al. 2014, Briant et al. 2017, Sánchez-Quiles et al. 2017). For example, trace metal concentrations in macroalgae have been associated with hotspots of anthropogenic activity (Sánchez-Quiles et al. 2017), but these may be reflected differently by bivalves with different feeding mechanisms.

Conservative trace metals, such as Sr, Mg, and Cr, are found in sea water at concentrations proportional to salinity (Sadiq 1992, Lannuzel et al. 2011, Wing et al. 2019). The concentrations in the environment can therefore be influence by factors such as riverine inputs delivering freshwater to the coastal marine ecosystem. Bioactive trace metals including micronutrients such as Fe, and co-limiting Co, Ni, and Zn may be influenced by patterns in primary production (Wing et al. 2019). Concentrations of toxic, highly scavenged metals such as Pb, As, and Cd, decline with distance from point sources. Together, patterns in the concentrations of these three classes of trace metals can provide information on food sources, environmental conditions, and trace metal pollutants that each influence bivalve species.

As a result of anthropogenic activity, landcover has been dramatically altered globally with few habitats left in a pristine condition. Therefore, conducting studies of land-based impacts on coastal communities can be difficult due to the lack of baseline knowledge. Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay are influenced by a high degree of land conversion dating back to Mäori settlement (Handley 2006). In contrast, the relatively pristine, native forest covered catchments of Fiordland have been protected from land conversion since 1904 as a reserve, and since 1952 as New Zealand's largest National Park (Miller et al. 2006, Wing & Jack 2014). Previous studies have illustrated the higher degree of land-based impacts on reef fish communities and the food webs that are supported by in Marlborough Sounds, relative to those observed in Fiordland (Udy et al. 2019a, 2019b, 2019c). In these studies on reef fish communities, extensive conversion of land in the catchments of Marlborough Sounds were associated with a decline and simplification of kelp forest based food webs and lower fluxes of kelp derived organic matter into high trophic level fishes. Consequentially, these regions provide a useful contrast for identifying differences associated with landcover in how trace metals may be delivered and taken up in bivalve communities.

Previous studies indicate that trace metal signatures vary among bivalve species as a result of differences in physiology and compartmentalization of toxic elements. Therefore, a single species cannot be used to understand patterns of metal concentrations in the aquatic environment, therefore, a multispecies approach should be employed if possible (Ruiz-Fernández et al. 2018). Limits on the natural distribution of bioindicator organisms makes it difficult to compare metal concentrations over wide geographic areas (Wu & Lau 1996). To address both of these apparent problems we sample five different species ranging from intertidal to sediment dwelling, each with wide geographic distributions around New Zealand. We aim to resolve how trace metal concentrations are likely shaped by anthropogenic activity around the South Island of New Zealand. We predict that bivalves from the heavily impacted Tasman Bay and Marlborough Sounds will reflect higher concentrations of trace elements relative to Fiordland. Further, we hypothesize that sediment dwelling species will reveal higher trace element concentrations relative to those residing nearer to the surface.

3.1 Methods

In order to identify differences in trace metal concentrations in benthic suspension feeding bivalves among the three study regions, five species of bivalves ranging from intertidal to sediment dwellers were selected from areas with a range of landcover classifications (Figure 3.1).

3.1.1 Study organisms

Horse mussels, *Atrina zelandica* (Gray 1835) reside in the subtidal to depths of ~50 m in habitats characterized by muddy to sandy benthos (Powell 1979). *Atrina zelandica* are a large bivalve species, growing to ~30 cm. *A. zelandica* has an upright habit with at least two thirds of its shell length are buried in the sediment. The shell is attached to rocks or other anchor points in the sediment with byssus threads (Powell 1979). The distribution of *A. zelandica* can generally be found as a series of dense patches (eg. >10 m²) (Cummings et al. 2001). Due to the upright posture of its large shell, which can modify the benthic boundary layer, *A. zelandica* feeds at roughly 15-30 cm above the seafloor.

The New Zealand scallop, *Pecten novazelandiae* (Reeve 1853, pectinid), is the largest and most abundant species found in New Zealand (Marsden & Bull 2006). The endemic bivalve is generally found in beds scattered from estuaries to coastal bays and reefs at densities of >1 m⁻² to depths from subtidal to 80 m (Marsden & Bull 2006). The species has a wide distribution around New Zealand, found from the top of the North Island to the bottom of the South Island (Marsden & Bull 2006, Carbines & Michael 2007). Scallops feed through non-siphonate, ciliary suspension gill structures where they filter particles within mucous sheets along the mantle (Beninger & Le Pennec 2006, MacDonald et al. 2006). Feeding ability for pectinids appears to be limited in very high flow conditions (Wildish et al. 1987, Claereboudt et al. 1994) as well as very low flow conditions along with high concentrations of seston (Eckman et al. 1989, Pilditch et al. 2001).

The dog cockle, *Tucetona laticostata* (Quoy and Gaimard, 1835) are generally found in higher energy environments, mostly buried in coarse sand or gravel, across a depth range from \sim 2-3 m to about 70 m of water (Powell 1979). The thick-shelled bivalve has a wide distribution extending from the top of the North Island to the bottom of the South Island forming dense patches of up to more than 80 individuals m⁻² (Powell 1979, Kerr & Grace 2005). Aside from

local abundance and distribution data and paleontological research, few studies have been conducted on the biology and ecology of *T. laticostata* in comparison of many of its neighboring bivalve species.

The green-shelled mussel, *Perna canaliculus* are commonly found in dense patches of 160 m⁻¹ on farms (Forest & Atalah, 2017) filtering particulate matter from the subtidal and open coast, but may extend to the intertidal region, where they play a large role in the temperate coastal community (Morton & Miller 1968, Gardner 2000). The species often provide habitat for other sessile invertebrates that adhere to mussel shells. *Perna canaliculus* are an endemic species with a wide distribution around New Zealand (Morton & Miller 1968). Studies have indicated that the diet of *P. canaliculus* is seasonal depending on the presence of phytoplankton and macroalgal abundance (Gardner 2000). Further, feeding is negatively impacted by low quality suspended particulate where the rate of particulate consumption decreases with low quality suspended particulates (Gardner 2000).

The blue mussel, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, have a wide distribution around New Zealand from the top of the North Island to the tip of the South Island (Powell 1955, Shinen & Morgan 2009). This intertidal mussel forms dense patches on rocky substrate at ~1000 m⁻² (Porri et al. 2008) and will select organic over inorganic particulates (Hawkins et al. 1996). Further, the absorption of ingested particulates is influenced by periodic fluctuation in the available suspended particulate matter and negatively impacted by low quality suspended particulate (Bayne et al. 1987, Navarro et al. 1991, Iglesias et al. 1996, Gardner 2000). Densities range average 100 m⁻² (Porri, Jordaan and McQuaid, 2008)

3.1.2 Sample sites

Bivalve collections were carried out by scuba divers in Marlborough Sounds during February 2018 and November 2018 from the RV *Polaris* II with sampling sites spanning four regions within the Sounds: Port Underwood, Queen Charlotte Sound, and Pelorus Sound (Figure 3.1).

78

Collections from Tasman Bay were conducted during February 2018 from the RV *Polaris* II with sites encompassing the perimeter of the bay (Figure 3.1).

The sites from the top of the South Island, Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay, fall within catchments with varied landcover categories: forest, urban development, forestry, farming, and aquaculture systems (Figure 3.1, Appendix 1). Sites were chosen along the gradient with increasing distance from the mouth of the Sounds in order to compare sites with increased influence from major surrounding catchments.

Collections of bivalves in Fiordland were carried out by scuba divers during February 2019 from the RV Typhoon. Site selection was focused on sampling sites in Thompson's Bradshaw Sound adjacent to Doubtful Sound and were constrained to the 20 m depth contour (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1 Sites and landcover classifications within catchments for each of the study regions. Catchments: a) Port Underwood, b) Queen Charlotte Sound, c) Pelorus Sounds, d) Mapua, and e) Doubtful Sounds. Sites: Marlborough Sounds 1) Perano Shoal, 2) Dieffenbach Point, 3) Ruakaka Bay, 4) Motungarara Island, 5) Bird Island, 6) Waitata, 7) Clay Point, 8) Old Man's Head. Tasman Bay 9) Ragged Point, 10) Crousielles Harbour, 11) Delaware Bay, 12) Mapua, 13) Te Karetu, 14) Totaranui. Doubtful Sound 15) Crayfish Creek, 16) Bradshaw-Thompson, and 17) MacDonald Island.

3.1.3 Sample collection

Target bivalve species were collected from seventeen sites within Marlborough Sounds (10), Tasman Bay (6) and Fiordland (1) (Figure 3.1). Samples were collected by hand at each site and placed into mesh bags under the New Zealand Ministry of Primary Industries special permit (644-2). Samples were then placed in individual tanks on-board the RV *Polaris* II with a constant surface water flow for 48 hrs to allow sediment to be dispelled. Samples were then placed in Zip-Lock plastic bags, labeled and frozen until dissection took place at the Portobello Marine Laboratory, University of Otago. The number of samples collected was constrained by the abundance of each species at each collection site, therefore, the largest sample size was from the most abundant species.

3.1.4 Trace metal analysis

Sample dissection and preparation

Samples were dissected at Portobello Marine Laboratory, University of Otago, in a laminar flow cabinet (Gelman, HLF series). All tissue, aside from the ≤ 0.5 g sample of adductor muscle tissue used for stable isotopic analysis, was placed in labeled 50 ml falcon tube. In order to access tissue, the left and right valves were separated at the ventral margin using teflon forceps or a ceramic knife if forceps were insufficient. Tissue samples were frozen for 48 hr at -18 °C and subsequently freeze dried at -60 °C for 48 hr (mrc, FDL-10N-50 series). Based on methods tested in a pilot study for homogenizing sample tissues, samples were ground to as fine a powder as could be achieved using a mortar and pestle in compliance with standard method (Jack et al. 2011). To limit cross contamination of samples, the agate mortar and pestle was cleaned between each sample by rinsing with ethanol (EtOH) and drying thoroughly with lint-free paper.

Digestion and analysis

Trace metal samples were acid digested in trace metal clean Teflon tubes. Teflon tubes were cleaned prior to each digestion by adding 400 ml of quartz-distilled nitric acid (QD HNO₃) and microwaving Teflon tubes in CEM MARS6 microwave under "clean,"

heating to 180 °C over 20 min and holding for 5 min. Tubes were allowed to cool in the microwave for an additional 30 min. Once cooled, Teflon tubes were rinsed 3x with Milli-Q and set to dry overnight (10-12 hrs) under the laminar flow cabinet (Gelman, HSL series).

Samples weighing 250 ± 20 mg were transferred from Falcon tubes into clean microwave vessels with plastic spoons soaked in 5% hydrogen chloride (HCL), which were changed between samples. Three replicates of each sample were analyzed to identify instrument precision. Samples were digested by adding 1 ml Milli-Q, 10 ml QD HNO₃ and 1 ml hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and microwaved (CEM MARS6) under the "animal tissue" setting which programmed the oven to reach 200 °C in 10 min and held at temperature for 15 min. Samples cooled for 30 min and were subsequently poured into pre-weighed and labeled DigiTubes. Teflon tubes were rinsed 3 x with ~5 ml Milli-Q and poured into DigiTube to collect any remaining sample. Final sample volumes of ~25 ml were placed on a hot block at 90 °C overnight (10-12 hrs). One ml of QD HNO₃ was added to dried samples, swirled and replaced on the hot block for an additional 15 min. DigiTubes were diluted to 10 ml with Milli-Q and weighed. Sample densities were calculated for a random subset and used to calculate final sample volumes (method adjusted from Sander et al. 2009, Ng et al. 2007, Wing et al. 2014).

An Agilent 7900 ICP-MS (Agilent Technologies, U.S.A) in the Department of Chemistry, University of Otago, was used to analyze trace metal concentrations in digested tissue samples. The trace metals of particular interest were Al, As, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, Mg, Mn, Ni, Pb, Zn, and Sr, however a range of metals were analyzed for identification of possible instrument interferences. Blanks (Milli-Q) and reference material (DOLT-2 dogfish liver, National Research Council Canada) were incorporated into the autosampler pot in order to identify drift or possible matrix effects in sample trace metal concentrations. In addition, a combination of six reference metals (NIST traceable) were added online and used to construct calibration standards. The ICP-MS was tuned according to manufacture instructions to enhance instrumental precision and limit interference and instrumental drift. All trace metals of interest had recoveries within 5% of the expected values, therefore the results are considered reliable.

82

Trace metal concentrations were recorded at 100% of the study sites. All organisms recorded trace metal concentrations above the limit of detection with the exception of three *A*. *zelandica* samples for Pb concentrations (Table 3.1).

Trace metal group	Trace metal	Concentrations (mg/kg)	Recovery range (%)
Conservative	Mg	5	92-105
	Al	5	97-106
	Cr	0.15	91-93
	Sr	0.02	94-103
Bioactive	Mn	0.05	93-102
	Fe	1	95-99
	Co	0.02	93-102
	Ni	0.2	84-95
	Cu	0.1	92-106
	Zn	1	91-99
Highly scavenged	As	0.15	90-97
	Cd	0.05	93-102
	Pb	0.2	72-89

Table 3.1 Limits of det	ection and percent reco	overy for 13 trace metal	s. Recovery is given in
a range due to multiple	runs with the ICP-MS		

3.1.5 Landcover classifications

The watersheds surrounding Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland were divided into the following discrete landcover categories based on proportion: forest, urban, forestry, and farming (Figure 3.1). Presence and absence of salmon farms was also noted for Marlborough Sounds. Landcover information was provided by Land Information New Zealand (LINZ, 2018) and Marlborough District Council (Appendix 2). GIS maps were constructed by overlaying survey data using the spatial referencing system NZGD 2000.

Catchment areas, defined as the terrestrial region contributing terrigenous particulate matter to adjacent marine systems, were defined for each sample site by drawing polygons in QGIS and calculating the 2D area (km²). Boundaries of the catchment were determined using both topographic contours (1 cm : 2.5 km), 8 m digital elevation models and seadraining catchment layers (LINZ, 2018).

3.1.6 Statistical analysis

Univariate

To test for differences in concentrations of conservative (Mg, Cr, Al and Sr), bioactive (Mn, Fe, Cu, Co, Zn and Ni), and highly scavenged (As, Cd and Pb) metals within individual species among regions with varying influence of freshwater input, landcover classification and salmon farm presence, we ran general linear mixed models for the factors: REGION (3 levels fixed), SPECIES (5 levels, fixed) with presence of SALMON FARMS (2 levels, fixed) and varying LANDCOVER (4 levels, continuous) using JMP Pro (Version 14). Shell length was included in each of the models because trace metal concentrations have been demonstrated to increase with size in some species. Further, a post hoc test using Student's t identified pairwise differences among SPECIES and REGION with presence of SALMON FARMS and varying LANDCOVER. Homogeneity of variance was tested for each model within the general linear model platform in JMP Pro (Version 14).

Multivariate

A discriminant analysis in JMP compared trace metal concentrations within the three classes between Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland. To test significant differences in trace metal concentrations among regions, a two-way MANOVA design with SPECIES nested in REGION using a permutational analysis of variance in the program PRIMER v6 with PERMANOVA+ version 1.02. The PERMANOVA design was applied to the Euclidian adjusted matrix using a maximum of 9999 permutations with unrestricted permutations on raw data.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Regional separation in trace metal concentrations

Discriminant function analysis indicated significant separation in trace metal groups among regions (Figure 3.2 - 3.4). The 95% confidence intervals around each region indicated significant differences for all trace metal groups. Conservative metals, Sr, Mg and Al contributed most to the separation between regions with Cr also contributing to the discrimination (Figure 3.2). The bioactive metals, Ni, Co and Cu contributed most to the separation of bioactive metals among regions with concentrations of Mn and Zn also contributing to discrimination (Figure 3.3). All three highly scavenged metals, As, Cd and Pb contributed to the separation among regions (Figure 3.4). It was clear that concentrations of metals from each class contributed to the differences in metal concentrations between the regions. PERMANOVA analysis revealed that differences in trace metal concentrations were primarily the result of differences in bivalve species composition among regions (Table 3.2 - 3.4).



Figure 3.2 Canonical plot scores and 95% confidence ellipses from discriminant funtion analysis of four conservative metal concentrations among regions; Marlborough Sounds = green, Tasman Bay = blue, and Fiordland = orange. 95% confidence ellipses do not overlap for significantly different groups.



Figure 3.3 Canonical plot scores and 95% confidence ellipses from discriminant funtion analysis of five bioactive metal concentrations among regions; Marlborough Sounds = green, Tasman Bay = blue, and Fiordland = orange. 95% confidence ellipses do not overlap for significantly different groups.



Figure 3.4 Canonical plot scores and 95% confidence ellipses from discriminant funtion analysis of three highly scavenged metal concentrations among regions; Marlborough Sounds = green, Tasman Bay = blue, and Fiordland = orange. 95% confidence ellipses do not overlap for significantly different groups.

Table 3.2 Results of a PERMANOVA on the multivariate similarity among concentrations of conservative metals Mg, Al, Cr, and Sr for species among regions. Significant p-values are bolded.

Source	df	SS	MS	Pseudo-F	P(perm)
Region	2	2.8964E7	1.4482E7	1.103	0.3689
Species(Region)	9	2.0588E8	2.2876E7	10.352	0.0001
Residual	217	4.7951E8	2.2097E6		
Total	228	6.8938E8			

Table 3.3 Results of a PERMANOVA on the multivariate similarity among concentrations of bioactive metals Mn, Co, Fe, Ni, Cu, and Zn for species among regions. Significant p-values are bolded.

Source	df	SS	MS	Pseudo-F	P(perm)
Region	2	9.6337E5	4.8169E5	0.42807	0.8472
Species(Region)	9	1.8213E7	2.0237E6	17.057	0.0001
Residual	217	2.5745E7	1.1864E5		
Total	228	4.5274E7			

Table 3.4 Results of a PERMANOVA on the multivariate similarity among concentrations of highly scavenged metals As, Cd, and Pb for species among regions. Significant p-values are bolded.

Source	df	SS	MS	Pseudo-F	P(perm)
Region	2	2160.5	1080.3	0.6204	0.6756
Species(Region)	9	28654	3183.8	25.477	0.0001
Residual	217	27118	124.97		
Total	228	62361			

3.2.2 Species level differences in trace metal concentrations

Further differences within species among regions explored with general linear models revealed significantly different concentrations within individual species among regions for all groups of metals. The highest concentrations of conservative metals were identified overall for bivalves collected from Tasman Bay while the lowest concentrations were found in bivalves collected in Marlborough Sounds (Figure 3.5). The highest concentrations of bioactive metals were identified for bivalves collected from the Tasman Bay while lowest concentrations were identified in bivalves collected in both Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland (Figure 3.6). Highest concentrations of highly scavenged metals were present in bivalves collected from Marlborough Sounds while lowest concentrations were found in bivalves collected from Marlborough Sounds while lowest concentrations were found in bivalves collected from Marlborough Sounds while lowest concentrations were found in bivalves collected from Marlborough Sounds while lowest concentrations were found in bivalves collected from Marlborough Sounds while lowest concentrations were found in bivalves collected from Marlborough Sounds while lowest concentrations were found in bivalves collected from Fiordland (Figure 3.7).

Conservative metal concentrations (Mg, Al, Cr and Sr) were different among regions for *T. laticostata* (Figure 3.5). Bioactive metal concentrations (Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, and Cu) in *M. galloprovincialis* were each different among regions except Zn (Figure 3.6). Highly scavenged metal concentrations (As, Cd and Pb) in *A. zelandica* were different among regions (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.5 Significantly different concentrations of conservative metals at each region for individual species as determined by general linear models. (\blacksquare) *A. zelandica*, (\square) *P. canaliculus*, (\blacksquare) *M. galloprovincialis*, (\blacksquare) *P. novaezelandiae*, (\blacksquare)*T. laticostata*. Mean ± 1 SE. Different letters indicate significant differences between regions.



Figure 3.6 Concentrations of bioactive metals at each region for individual species. $(\Box) A$. *zelandica*, $(\Box) P$. *canaliculus*, $(\Box) M$. *galloprovincialis*, $(\Box) P$. *novaezelandiae*, $(\Box)T$. *laticostata*. Mean ± 1 SE. Different letters indicate significant differences between regions.



Figure 3.7 Concentrations of highly scavenged metals at each region for individual species. (\blacksquare) *A. zelandica*, (\square) *P. canaliculus*, (\blacksquare) *M. galloprovincialis*, (\blacksquare) *P. novaezelandiae*, (\blacksquare)*T. laticostata*. Mean ± 1 SE. Different letters indicate significant differences between regions.

3.2.3 Organic matter associations with trace metal concentrations

General linear models indicated that concentrations of trace metals varied with stable isotopic values ($\delta^{15}N$, $\delta^{13}C$) differently among species. The micronutrient, Co varied significantly in *A. zelandica* with $\delta^{13}C$, while *P. canaliculus* varied significantly with $\delta^{15}N$ (Table 3.5). The highly scavenged metals, As and Pb, varied significantly with $\delta^{15}N$ in *P. canaliculus* while concentrations of As varied significantly with $\delta^{13}C$ in *T. laticostata* (Table 3.5). For the species, *A. zelandica* and *T. laticostata* which were abundant and collected from all study regions, the concentrations of the conservative metal, Mg, bioactive metals, Ni and Co, and highly scavenged metals, Cd and Pb were significantly different with stable isotope values ($\delta^{15}N$, $\delta^{13}C$) (Table 3.6).

Species	Metal	Main test		$\delta^{13}C$	$\delta^{13}C$		δ^{15} N		Site[Region]		Region		Shell length	
A. zelandica		F _{12,26}	Р	r^2	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	р
	Co	24.57	<0.0001	0.94	7.53	0.0144	2.50	0.1337	31.6997	<0.0001	21.9889	<0.0001	2.49	0.1345
P. canaliculus		F _{13,47}												
	Co	1.2164	0.3103	0.32	0.07	0.7891	4.82	0.0350	0.69	0.7130	0.13	0.7213	0.09	0.7685
	As	15.19	<0.0001	0.85	3.94	0.0554	11.28	0.0019	5.45	0.0001	0.13	0.7236	1.46	0.2357
	Pb	13.9029	<0.0001	0.84	1.15	0.2918	5.75	0.0221	17.71	<0.0001	0.16	0.6893	0.43	0.5146
T. laticostata		F _{10,38}												
	As	2.95	0.0117	0.51	6.72	0.0150	1.60	0.2170	4.93	0.0023	3.26	0.0535	0.11	0.7452

Table 3.5 Individual general linear models revealed species specific differences in trace metal concentrations with δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N among regions. Significant p-vales are bolded (p < 0.05).

Table 3.6 Results of a general linear model revealed significant differences in trace metal concentrations with δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N for *A. zelandica* and *T. laticostata* among region. Significant p-values are bolded (p < 0.05).

Metal	Main test	t		$\delta^{13}C$		δ^{15} N		Species		Region		Specie	s*Region	Shell l	ength
	F _{8,72}	Р	r^2	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	р	F	р
Cr	3.22	0.0039	0.29	3.93	0.0518	4.72	0.0335	1.24	0.2693	1.56	0.2180	3.63	0.0321	0.33	0.5687
Fe	2.68	0.013	0.25	5.19	0.0261	1.51	0.2230	1.38	0.2441	2.06	0.1358	1.69	0.1932	1.16	0.2845
Cu	10.28	<0.0001	0.56	10.51	0.0019	0.23	0.6343	5.54	0.0216	3.97	0.0236	4.99	0.0097	5.88	0.0181
As	6.78	<0.0001	0.45	6.10	0.0161	0.21	0.6511	0.03	0.8720	6.59	0.0025	4.33	0.0172	2.84	0.0968

Salmon farms

Concentrations of Mn, Co, Cu and Zn among all target bivalves significantly differed between sites with active salmon farms and similar reference sites (Table 3.7). Pari-wise analysis revealed significant intraspecific differences for *P. novaezelandiae* where significantly higher concentrations of Cu were present at salmon farm sites relative to reference sites (Figure 3.8a). Further, a positive linear relationship was found for concentrations of Cu relative to δ^{13} C in Marlborough Sounds among all species (Figure 3.8b).

Metal	Main test			$\delta^{13}C$		δ^{15} N		Salmon	farm	Species		Salmo	n farm *	Shell l	ength
												Specie	S		
	F _{12,101}	Р	R2	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	F	р	F	р
Mn	10.26	<0.0001	0.58	2.19	0.1421	6.80	0.0107	2.26	0.1367	12.86	<0.0001	0.48	0.7519	4.48	0.0371
Со	4.61	<0.0001	0.38	1.12	0.2922	3.96	0.0497	0.05	0.8273	7.05	<0.0001	0.28	0.8915	2.45	0.1208
Cu	11.62	<0.0001	0.61	4.86	0.0300	0.01	0.9091	3.49	0.0649	16.63	<0.0001	4.35	0.0029	6.62	0.0117
Zn	19.15	<0.0001	0.72	4.28	0.0415	1.66	0.2005	3.91	0.0510	11.84	<0.0001	2.32	0.0634	50.72	<0.0001

Table 3.7 Results of general linear models revealed specific differences in trace metal concentrations with δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N among all target species at salmon farm sites and reference sites.



Figure 3.8 a) Pair-wise analysis of Cu concentrations for target species between salmon farm (black) and references (grey) sites and b) average Cu concentrations plotted against δ^{13} C of all species at salmon farm and reference sites. Mean ± 1 SE. Levels connected by different letters indicate statistical differences.

Catchment

Linear models illustrated significant differences in trace metal concentrations in bivalves collected adjacent to specific catchments (Table 3.8). Additional linear models were used to further explore these differences in relation to the varying proportion of landcover classification among catchments (Table 3.9). Significant variability in the accumulation of trace metal concentrations was observed for individual species within specific catchment systems (Figure 3.9).

The variation in landcover among catchments resolved differences in concentrations of trace metals with clear difference in conservative, bioactive and highly scavenged metals. Of the conservative metals, Sr, significantly differed among catchments for nearly all species. The concentration of Sr displayed a slight negative trend with catchments receiving decreasing levels of riverine inputs (Figure 3.10).

Metal class	Metal	A. zelandica	М.	P. novaezelandiae	P. canaliculus	T. laticostata
			galloprovincialis			
Conservative	Mg	0.0263	0.001	0.0881	0.1295	0.0009
	Al	0.1234	0.001	0.0003	0.3913	0.0339
	Cr	0.2837	< 0.0001	<0.0001	0.0551	<0.0001
	Sr	0.5368	0.016	0.0051	0.0274	0.0002
Micronutrients	Mn	0.5513	0.001	0.4246	0.6754	0.0009
	Fe	0.1806	< 0.0001	<0.0001	0.2320	0.0086
	Co	0.1795	0.872	0.0020	0.2214	0.0009
	Ni	0.0557	< 0.0001	0.0045	0.0122	0.0002
	Cu	0.3239	< 0.0001	<0.0001	0.2563	0.1160
	Zn	<0.0001	0.0001	<0.0001	0.0283	0.0008
Highly scavenged	As	0.0049	0.024	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
	Cd	0.1771	< 0.001	0.0439	<0.0001	0.0280
	Pb	0.0644	0.0004	0.0032	0.05060	0.0013

Table 3.8 Results of discrete general linear models revealed significant trace metal concentrations among catchments for individual species. Significant p-values (p < 0.05) are in bold.

Species	Metal	Main test			$\delta^{13}C$		δ^{15} N		Channel		Shell le	ength
A. zelandica		F _{7,26}	р	r ²	F	р	F	р	F	р	F	р
	Cu	4.27	0.0055	0.61	7.52	0.0130	1.17	0.2935	3.03	0.0545	1.63	0.2167
M. galloprovincialis		F _{5,23}										
	Mg	3.50	0.0219	0.49	0.07	0.7925	5.05	0.0374	0.15	0.7006	1.26	0.2755
P. novaezelandiae		F _{6,34}										
	Al	7.47	<0.0001	0.62	5.34	0.0284	0.58	0.4534	12.75	0.0001	3.83	0.0605
	Cr	9.86	<0.0001	0.68	6.05	0.0204	6.56	0.0161	2.21	0.1286	0.17	0.6873
	Fe	8.70	<0.0001	0.65	5.91	0.0217	0.73	0.4016	14.90	<0.0001	0.94	0.3406
P. canaliculus		F _{6,47}										
	Fe	1.80	0.1222	0.21	4.16	0.0478	0.13	0.7191	2.15	0.1292	3.71	0.0609
	As	31.05	<0.0001	0.82	12.65	0.001	6.78	0.0128	5.31	0.0089	1.77	0.1910
T. laticostata		F _{7,38}										
	Mg	6.96	<0.0001	0.61	4.27	0.0472	0.33	0.5674	11.17	<0.0001	0.81	0.3764
	Sr	9.32	<0.0001	0.68	0.26	0.6145	9.03	0.0052	11.47	<0.0001	5.73	0.0229

Table 3.9 Results of discrete general linear models results revealed significant differences in trace metals with δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N among catchments for individual species. Significant p-values (p < 0.05) are bold.



Figure 3.9 Significantly different trace metal concentrations with among catchment for conservative metals in a,b) *P. novaezelandiae*, c) *T. laticostata*, bioactive metals in d) *A. zelandica*, e) *P. novaezelandiae*, f) *P. canaliculus*, and highly scavenged metals in g) *P. canaliculus*. Mean \pm 1 SE. Levels connected by different letters indicate statistical differences.



Figure 3.10 Concentrations of conservative metal (Sr) in each of the catchments of individual species.

3.3 Discussion

The data from the present study provide strong evidence that organic matter sources and differences among particulate pools associated with discrete catchments in each of the study regions were reliably reflected by the concentrations of trace metals in the tissues of the five bivalve study species. The variation in organic matter sources supporting bivalves as identified in Chapter 2, freshwater input and landcover, provided an opportunity to test whether the target species tissues, as a community, could be used to identify local and regional differences in trace metal concentrations. The catchment systems within Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland, each with different intensities of anthropogenic influences, provided a testing platform for assessing how concentrations of trace metals in benthic food webs varied in response to land modification. Statistical relationships that were resolved between trace metal concentrations for bivalve species among regions were consistent with the ideas that spatial variability in the concentrations of conservative, bioactive, and highly scavenged trace metals in target bivalve tissue were reflective of water column chemistry linked to landcover modification affecting whole catchment systems and local modification associated with salmon farms.

3.3.1 General trends in regional trace metal concentrations

Significant multivariate differences in trace metal concentrations of bivalves were revealed among regions (Table 3.2 - 3.4). Among the metals analysed, conservative metals, Sr, Mg and Al, bioactive metals Ni, Co and Cu, and highly scavenged metals As, Cd and Pb explained the largest amount of multivariate dissimilarity among regions (Figure 3.2 - 3.4). Spatial differences in trace metal concentrations have previously been attributed to natural variation molded by geographically and chemically disparate water masses (Becker et al. 2005, Carson 2010, Sorte et al. 2013, Cathey et al. 2014) and localized anthropogenic activity (Callender & Rice 2000, Bonnet et al. 2013, Dimitrakakis et al. 2014, Sánchez-Quiles et al. 2017, Ruiz-Fernández et al. 2018).

Significant differences in the three classes of trace metals among species revealed by the factor REGION, uncover patterns associated with contrasts in freshwater inputs, primary productivity and contaminants. Conservative metal concentrations in bivalves were consistent with differences in water column chemistry between Tasman Bay and Marlborough Sounds. The observed pattern may have reflected the high riverine inputs to Tasman Bay relative to the minimal riverine inputs in Marlborough Sounds (Lucas 1997, Tukey et al. 2006, Forrest et al. 2007, Newcombe 2016). Bioactive metal concentrations can be indicative of regional differences in water column productivity. The observed high bioactive metal concentrations in bivalves collected from Tasman Bay may have reflected the influence of local upwelling, that accounted for up to 90% of the nitrogen pool, as well as the influence of land-based runoff on productivity which was high in the region (MacKenzie & Gillespie 1986, Newcombe et al. 2015). However, the seasonality of phytoplankton production would need to be tested over a larger temporal scale in order to confidently report

104

differences associated with upwelling events. The resulting differences may reflect the more variable organic matter source pools in Tasman Bay relative to a the potentially more stable organic matter source pools supporting bivalves in Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland. The stability of the organic matter sources from Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland may be attributed to the lack of upwelling events and the typically lower biomass of phytoplankton among these two regions (Zeldis et al. 2008). Concentrations of highly scavenged trace metals in bivalves can reflect their proximity to a point source. We observed elevated concentrations of the highly scavenged metals in both Tasman Bay and Marlborough Sounds relative to those observed in bivalves collected from Fiordland (Figure 3.7). The observed pattern was consistent with inputs of highly scavenged metals (As and Pb) from land-based catchments. The observed spatial variation in trace metal signatures reveal how land-based influences associated with particular regions help to shape trace metal concentrations in the bivalve communities.

3.3.2 Associations between organic matter flow and trace metal concentrations among species

The variation in trace metal concentrations among species have been well studied. Different species have affinities for particular metals and uptake trace metals both dissolved in seawater and with ingested organic matter sources (Rainbow 2002, Shulkin et al. 2003, Genç et al. 2018, Ruiz-Fernández et al. 2018). The variation among species can be influenced by both biological (diet, metabolism, growth, and reproduction) and environmental factors (temperature and salinity) (Wang & Fisher 1996, Casas & Bacher 2006, Degger et al. 2011, Melwani et al. 2014, Genç et al. 2018). It is therefore imperative to interpret results in the context of how different sources of basal organic matter are taken up by the different species.

The results of the present study reveal clear associations between trace metal concentrations from each of the three classes and uptake of alternative basal organic matter source pools supporting *A. zelandica*, *P. canaliculus* and *T. laticostata* (Table 3.5). For example, *A. zelandica* and *T. laticostata*, which were collected from all three regions in the study, had significant correlations between isotopic values (δ^{15} N, δ^{13} C) and concentrations of Cr, Fe, Cu, and As (Table 3.6). These results are consistent with the idea that concentrations of conservative, bioactive, and highly scavenged metals are associated with the composition

of organic matter resource pools supporting individual species. Previous studies by Genç et al. (2018) and Ruiz et al. (2018) concluded that food and suspended particulate matter are major sinks of metals and the primary method of transport into suspension feeders. The overlap in associations between stable isotopic signatures ($\delta^{15}N$, $\delta^{13}C$) and trace metal concentrations further support the associations between composition of basal organic matter sources in the particulate pool and trace metal concentrations. Further, these concentrations likely reflect the bioavailability of Cr, Fe, Cu and As in the marine environment. Our results are consistent with the idea that trace metals are concentrated in bivalve species through differences in diet. Further, the observed differences in diet are coincident with variation among landcover categories. These linkages are consistent with the idea that landcover and runoff into the coastal ocean have a strong influence on the trace metal inventory of local bivalve species, and further that landcover strongly influences the base of the food web in these systems.

3.3.3 Land modification impacts

Concurrent measurements of stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N, δ^{13} C) and trace metal concentrations indicated significant associations between trace metal concentrations in bivalves and use of alternate basal organic matter sources. These data reveal both regional scale associations and local influences of salmon farming on routing of trace metals and organic matter through benthic food webs.

Salmon farming

The factor SALMON FARM explained variation in δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values correlated with concentrations of Mn, Co, Cu, and Zn in bivalves within Marlborough Sounds (Table 3.7). A positive trend was identified for concentrations of Cu and δ^{13} C among all species (Figure 3.8b). The significant associations between stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N, δ^{13} C) with bioactive metals were consistent with the effect of increases in available nutrients at salmon farms relative to references sites for benthic dwelling species.

Copper is a primary agent in anti-fouling paint which is used on nets to reduce the build-up of epibionts (Burridge et al. 2010) and Zn is added to enrich fish feed (Sneddon &

Tremblay 2011). The weathering of nets leads to the gradual reduction of anti-fouling paint resulting in the build-up of Cu in the sediment near salmon farms. Similarly, uneaten fish feed and fecal waste settle on the seafloor near fish farms leading to elevated levels of Zn (Sneddon & Tremblay 2011). Brooks and Mahnken (2003) and Dean et al. (2007) identified salmon farms as the main anthropogenic contributor of Zn and Cu to coastal systems, though the extent of impacts would be farm dependent and influenced by local circulation patterns. The patterns associated with the accumulation of Cu and Zn at salmon farms relative to reference sites therefore reveal the increased nutrients availability, particularly to sediment dwelling species, *P. novaezelandiae*, near salmon farms.

The impacts on structure, compositon and organic matter use by benthic communities from salmon farm activity can be identified up to ~150 m from a salmon farm (Sneddon & Tremblay 2011) (McMullin et al. in prep). However, hydrodynamics influence distance affected by increased concentrations of Zn and Cu associated with salmon farms (Dean et al. 2007, Brooks & Mahnken 2003, Chou et al. 2002, Schendel et al. 2004). For metals to be toxic to organisms they need to be biologically available. The bioavailable form of Cu and Zn are the free ions Cu2+ and Zn2+ (Kim et al. 1999, Eriksen et al. 2001, Burridge et al. 2008) the association between carbon source and trace metals suggest the metals are available in a biologically accessible form. Metals are complex, they are also influenced by biological, physical, and chemical processes (Eriksen et al. 2001, Chapman & Wang 2001). Each of these metals tend to be more biologically available to burrowing organisms or filter feeders at the sediment boundary (Chapman et al. 2002). The idea that bioavailable Zn and Cu were sourced from farms were supported by the observed patterns of high concentrations of Cu and Zn observed in infaunal bivalves in the present study. Though other trace metals may be associated with salmon farms, the consistency with which concentrations of Cu and Zn are significantly higher at salmon farm sites versus those at references sites have been documented world-wide (Morrisey et al. 2000, Brooks et al. 2003, Dean et al. 2007).

Though Cu and Zn are micronutrients in trace amounts and are responsible for a range of enzymatic processes (Thurberg et al. 1973, WHO 2001), these bioactive metals may become toxic to benthic communities at higher concentrations influencing both the benthic primary consumers and the food webs they support. Concentrations above an organism's physiological threshold can lead to toxic impacts associated with physiological processes (Thurberg et al. 1973). The significant increase in Cu and Zn concentrations associated with
use of different basal organic matter sources for *P. novaezelandiae* reveal how resource pools around salmon farms are different for sediment dwelling bivalves in comparison with those that feed further up in the water column. Further, the significant association between Cu and Zn and the alternate basal organic matter source pools indicates that the composition of the particulate pool likely drives the observed elevated levels of bioactive metals to bivalves. The significant differences in the concentrations to sediment dwelling suspension feeders can have knock-on effects for subsequent trophic levels enhancing bioaccumulation (Fey et al. 2019).

Catchment

The observed differences in use of alternate organic matter source pools for each bivalve species indicated that trace metal concentrations in all three classes were strongly associated with differences in landcover in the local catchments (Table 3.9). The observed differences in the relationship between trace metal concentrations and $\delta^{13}C$ of bivalves among catchments are consistent with differences in the accumulation of trace metals in bivalves among catchments associated with differences in uptake of alternate basal organic matter sources. The significant differences in relation to organic matter revealed a handful of trace metals correlated with stable isotopic values of $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$. Of particular interest is $\delta^{13}C$ as it is reflective of the resource pool supporting bivalves (Table 3.9). Conservative metals were significantly higher for *T. laticostata* collected from Mapua and Doubtful Sound (Figure 3.9c). The highest observed levels of bioactive metals for *A. zelandica*, *P. novaezelandiea*, and *P. canaliculus* were found adjacent to large catchments within Marlborough Sounds (Figure 3.9d - f). The only highly scavenged metal that varied significantly with $\delta^{13}C$ was As for *P. canaliculus*. Highest concentrations of As were found in Pelorus Sound and Mapua (Figure 3.9g).

The significantly higher conservative metal concentration, Mg, identified for *T*. *laticostata* reveal the large fresh water inputs into Tasman Bay and Doubtful Sound (Gibbs 2001, Newcombe et al. 2015). The elevated levels of Mg identified for *T*. *laticostata* revealed the freshwater influences on the benthic community within Doubtful Sound. In a study conducted on another species of sediment dwelling suspension feeder, *Austrovenus stutchburyi*, populations were severely depleted by the freshwater inputs (Tallis et al. 2004).

The significant relationship of Mg and δ^{13} C indicated source pools supporting benthic suspension feeders are influenced by freshwater inputs, while the high levels of Mg in bivalves collected from Tasman Bay reflected the large riverine inputs from the Waimea catchment (Newcombe et al. 2015). No studies have identified direct connections between freshwater inputs and population decline in this case.

Significantly higher concentrations for bioactive metals were revealed for bivalves collected from catchments within Marlborough Sounds. Elevated concentrations of Cu for *A. zelandica* in Queen Charlotte Sound and Pelorus Sound may have reflected the influence of salmon farms as observed in the section above. In addition, Cu, as an anti-fouling agent is used on ships which are pervasive within Marlborough Sounds (Davidson et al. 2017). In addition, elevated concentrations of Fe observed for *P. canaliculus* in Pelorus Sound may have reflected the input of iron-rich minerals delivered as a result of upland forestry (O'Loughlin 1979, Coker 1994, Handley et al. 2017).

The observed elevated concentrations for highly scavenged metal, As, in *P. canaliculus* with δ^{13} C may have reflected high land-based inputs associated with Pelorus Sound and Mapua. A previous study identified As in benthic habitats are primarily inorganic (Price et al. 2012), however the significant association with δ^{13} C are consistent with the ideas that concentrations of As varied with alternative carbon sources for *P. canaliculus*. The significant differences associated with the single species support previous studies on the species-specificity of As accumulation (Price et al. 2012).

Results of the variability in trace metal concentrations with stable isotopic signatures for individual species revealed the influence of organic matter sources on trace metal concentrations for the three trace metal classes. Here we observed that these associations were associated by the range of land modification among catchments and by presence of salmon farms.

The present chapter demonstrated that patterns in the variability of conservative (Mg, Al, Cr, Sr), bioactive (Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn) and highly scavenged metal (As, Cd, Pb) concentrations in bivalve tissues could be statistically explained by the observed spatial

variability in anthropogenic stressors associated with salmon farming and catchment modifications. We provided evidence that salmon farms are likely associated with the availability of bioactive trace metal concentrations through their influence on differences in alternate basal organic matter sources supporting individual bivalve species. The three classes of trace metals provide a basis for evaluating physical, chemical, and biological changes associated with catchment modification and salmon farming. Future studies may focus on diet experimentation to further untangle the underlying mechanisms responsible for trace metal associations with different organic matter sources that make up the particulate pool. Our results have important implications for understanding changes in anthropogenic stressors driving trace metal concentrations in bivalve tissue through alternate organic matter source pools. This is particularly pertinent with the increasing development and aquaculture activities which, if not monitored, may pose detrimental physiological and biological impacts on benthic dwelling bivalves.

Chapter 4: Spatial variation in mercury concentrations in commercially important bivalves

4.0 Introduction

Mercury is a non-essential metal for biological organisms and is one of the top toxic metals concentrated by marine species as it bioaccumulates with increasing trophic interactions (Gray 2002, Sunda 2012, WHO 2020). The natural and anthropogenic sources responsible for mercury availability vary spatially, however, due to the volatility of mercury it is able to pass easily from the atmosphere into the ocean (Fitzgerald et al. 2007, Driscoll et al. 2013). Natural sources such as geological weathering, volcanic eruptions and oceanic evasion (Kim & Fitzgerald 1986, Pirrone et al. 2010, Mason et al. 2012) contribute to atmospheric emissions of mercury. In addition, anthropogenic sources such as primary coalburning, waste incineration, and mining have led to 2 - 5 fold increase in mercury inputs to the environment since the industrial era (Serrano et al. 2013). The primary method of mercury pollution to aquatic systems is through atmospheric deposition (Semkin et al. 2005). The complexity within dynamic marine systems influenced by resources from the land and atmosphere make the influence of toxic metals such as mercury difficult to trace. In this sense, determining the inputs to coastal marine environments is integral in ensuring the health of marine resources.

Mercury is present in three different forms in nature: elemental, inorganic and organic. Organic mercury in the form of methylmercury (MeHg) is the most toxic to biological processes and bioaccumulates up the food web (Bargagli et al. 1998, Sarkar et al. 2008, Chouvelon et al. 2018). The neurotoxin MeHg, can lead to nervous system damage from children to adults and a variety of adverse health impacts (Dadar et al. 2016, Mergler et al. 2007, Choi & Grandjean 2008, Hong et al. 2012, Karagas et al. 2012). Further impacts have been observed in marine organisms (Hutcheson et al. 2014, Ruus et al. 2017, Bakar et al. 2017). Methylmercury production is mediated in aquatic sediments by the activity of sulphate- and iron-reducing anaerobic bacteria, where methylation primarily transforms inorganic mercury to mono-methyl mercury (Compeau & Bartha 1985, Gilmour & Henry 1991, Gilmour et al. 1992, Branfireun et al. 1999, King et al. 1999). Sulphate-reducing bacteria appears to be the primary mediator or MeHg in sediments, however, iron-reducing bacteria have been tied to methylation of mercury when sulfate reduction is inhibited, and

iron-reducing conditions are prevalent (Fleming et al. 2006). Coastal sediments supporting microbial activity are heavily influenced by anthropogenic activity where catchment modification increases sedimentation to coastal habitats (Jonsson et al. 2017, Taylor et al. 2019). The build-up of sediment provides a favourable environment (abiotic conditions, anoxic habitats and high degree of organic matter) for microbial activity where increased levels of MeHg have been observed (Chen et al. 2018, Fitzgerald et al. 2007, Taylor & Calabrese 2018). This has been revealed particularly in estuaries as they capture and retain catchment particulate (Lambourg et al. 2003, Balcom et al. 2004, Balcom et al. 2008).

Suspension feeding bivalves, such as mussels, are commonly used as bioindicators of chemical contamination in the aquatic environment (Rainbow & Phillips 1993, Romeó et al. 2005, Kim et al. 2008, Lanksbury et al. 2014, Melwani et al. 2014, Taylor et al. 2019). Global monitoring programs such as the Mussel Watch Program have been monitoring coastal contamination using mussels since the 1970s (Goldberg et al. 1978). Long term monitoring is crucial to track changes in pollution levels over time (Briant et al. 2017). The ability of sedentary suspension feeders to filter large quantities of water and absorb contaminants reflect the bioavailability of contaminants in marine environments. Further, the sedentary nature allows for chemical fingerprints at specific locations underpinning the bioavailability of contaminants within specific localities (Elskus et al. 2020).

Mercury is commonly tested on commercial fish species that bioaccumulate mercury at levels that may be toxic to humans (Sunderland 2007, Díez 2009, Sadhu et al. 2015). Fewer studies have been conducted on commercially important bivalves and to our knowledge none have been conducted using current mercury methodology at the top of the South Island where bivalve fisheries have existed since the 1970s (Page 2017). Identifying mercury concentrations in bivalves is key for revealing point sources responsible for elevated mercury levels in marine resources. The position of sessile bivalves at the base of the food web supporting higher trophic levels makes them an ideal species for identifying origins of mercury to the marine environment. Further the evaluation of commercially important bivalves reveals mercury concentrations for public health benefit.

The commercially important bivalves on the South Island of New Zealand are primarily *Pecten novaezelandiae* and *Perna canaliculus*. The *P. novaezelandiae* fisheries at the top of the South Island have been declining in recent years. The commercial fishery in

Tasman Bay has been closed for ten years and reseeding stocks has been undertaken, though to no avail ('Temporary Closure' 2019). The natural commercial fishery in Marlborough Sounds and Port Underwood have been closed over the past three seasons. Though there are some large populations in the outer Marlborough Sounds, the surveyed biomass has not change ('Temporary Closure' 2019). Long line mussel farms of *P. canaliculus* have been present in NZ since the 1970s and is New Zealand's largest aquaculture fishery (Page 2017).

The key questions concerning contaminants such as mercury are 1) what are the sources and are they localized or expansive? and 2) are concentrations changing over time? In the present chapter we investigate site specific variability of mercury concentrations within commercially important bivalves, *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus* on the South Island of New Zealand. We investigate site specific variation in mercury concentrations relative to catchments with a range of landcover modification and resources supporting benthic bivalves. As the first measurement of mercury on commercially important species, we provide the baseline measurements for future monitoring of mercury in commercially important bivalves on the South Island of New Zealand.

4.1 Methods

In order to identify the spatial distribution of mercury in commercial bivalves, *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus*, total mercury (THg) concentrations were recorded from Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay, and Fiordland. Total mercury concentrations were measured for *P. novaezelandiae* at nine sites within Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland, while concentrations of THg were measured in *P. canaliculus* at 13 sites within Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay (Figure 4.1). Further, all samples were selected from sites encompassing a range of landcover classifications (Figure 4.2).

4.1.1 Sample collection

Bivalve collections were carried out by scuba divers in Marlborough Sounds during February 2018 and November 2018 from the RV *Polaris* II with sampling sites spanning five regions within the Sounds: Tory Channel, Queen Charlotte Sound, Pelorus Sound, and Port Underwood (Figure 3.1). Bivalve collections were made by scuba divers from Tasman Bay during February 2018 from the RV *Polaris* II with sites encompassing the perimeter of the bay (Figure 4.1). The sites from the top of the South Island, Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay, fall within catchments with a range of landcover categories: forest, urban development, forestry, farming, and aquaculture systems (Figure 4.2, Appendix 1). Sites were chosen along the gradient with increasing distance from the mouth of the Sounds in order to compare sites with increased influence of land-based run off from major surrounding catchments.

Bivalve collections were made by scuba divers in Fiordland during February 2019 from the RV Typhoon. Site selection was focused on sampling sites in Thompson's Bradshaw Sound adjacent to Doubtful Sound and were constrained to the 20 m depth contour (Figure 3.1).

Target species were collected using SCUBA from 18 sites within Marlborough Sounds (10), Tasman Bay (6) and Fiordland (1) (Figure 4.1). Samples were collected by hand at each site and placed into mesh bags under the New Zealand Ministry of Primary Industries special permit (644-2). Samples were then placed in individual tanks on-board the RV *Polaris* II with a constant surface water flow for 48 hours to allow sediment to be expelled. Samples were then placed in Zip-Lock plastic bags, labeled and frozen until dissection took place at Portobello Marine Laboratory, University of Otago.



Figure 4.1 Sample sites within each region. **Tasman Bay:** 1) Totaranui, 2) Te Karetu Point, 3) Mapua, 4) Delaware Bay, 5) Crousielles Harbour, 6) Ragged Point. **Marlborough Sounds:** 7) Old Man's Head, 8) Clay Point, 9) Waitata, 10) Bird Island, 11) Motungarara Island, 12) Ruakaka Bay, 13) Perano Shoal, 14) Dieffenbach Point, 15) Te Pangu Bay, 16) Port Underwood. **Doubtful Sound:** 17) Bradshaw-Thompson.

4.1.2 Mercury analysis

For each of the target species a random subset of n = 3 were selected for mercury measurements. Samples were dissected at Portobello Marine Laboratory in a laminar flow cabinet (Gelman, HLF series). All tissue, aside from the ≤ 0.5 g sample of adductor muscle tissue used for stable isotopic analysis, was placed in labeled 50 ml falcon tubes. In order to access tissue, the left and right valves were separated at the ventral margin using teflon forceps or a ceramic knife if forceps were insufficient. Tissue samples were frozen for 48 hr at -18 °C and subsequently freeze dried at -60 °C for 48 hr (mrc, FDL-10N-50 series). Based on methods tested in a pilot study for homogenizing sample tissue, samples were ground to as fine a powder as could be achieved using a mortar and pestle in accordance standard methods (Jack et al. 2011). To limit cross contamination of samples, the agate mortar and pestle was cleaned between each sample by rinsing with ethanol (EtOH) and drying thoroughly with lint-free paper.

Mercury analysis was conducted by colleagues at Vrije Universiteit Brussel in Belgium. Total mercury concentrations of samples were measured on an AMA 254 analyzer (Altec, Ltd. Czech Republic). All samples were measured twice in order to ensure reliability of analysis. Blank values were not included in the data as they were automatically corrected during analysis and subtracted from the THg mass measured. The analysis is founded on *in situ* dry decomposition of, in our case, solid samples (max. 300 mg) that are combusted through reactions in a catalytic column. Subsequently, THg from the reaction is trapped on the gold amalgamator. The amalgamator is then heated which readily evaporates preconcentrated mercury, where its atomic absorption is measured. The analysis is carried out automatically without the need of prefatory dissolution and / or decomposition of the sample. The detection limit of the AMA 254 analyzer is 0.01 ng THg, with a working range between 0.05 to 500 ng THg, and sample reproducibility < 1.5 %. (Száková et al. 2004, Sysalová et al. 2013).

Species	Region	Site	THg mg	± SE
			kg ⁻¹	
P. canaliculus	Marlborough Sounds	Bird Island	0.05 ±	0.004
		Clay Point	$0.06 \pm$	0.012
		Moturanga Island	$0.05 \pm$	0.002
		Perano Shoal	0.12 ±	0.037
		Ruakaka Bay	$0.07 \pm$	0.019
		Te Pangu Bay	$0.09 \pm$	0.016
		Waitata	$0.07 \pm$	0.018
	Tasman Bay	Crousielles Harbour	$0.08 \pm$	0.004
		Delaware Bay	$0.08 \pm$	0.014
		Mapua	$0.12 \pm$	0.008
		Pepin Island	$0.05 \pm$	0.004
		Ragged Point	$0.08 \pm$	0.004
		Te Karetu	$0.07 \pm$	0.004
		Totaraniu	$0.05 \pm$	0.004
P. novaezelandiae	Fiordland	Doubtful Sound	$0.05 \pm$	0.002
	Marlborough Sounds	Bird Island	$0.07 \pm$	0.016
		Dieffenbach Point	0.05 ±	0.005
		Moturanga Island	$0.07 \pm$	0.010
		Old Man's Head	0.04 ±	0.001
		Perano Shoal	0.06 ±	0.003
		Port Underwood	0.09 ±	0.026
		Ruakaka Bay	0.04 ±	0.008
		Waitata	0.06 ±	0.019

Table 4.1 Average total mercury concentrations (THg) for individual species at sites within Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay, and Fiordland.

4.1.3 Stable isotopic signatures

Stable isotopic signatures were used to reveal potential differences in THg for species relative to basal carbon sources and trophic level for the subset of samples. A ≤ 0.5 g sample of adductor muscle tissue was taken from each sample and placed into a 1.5 ml centrifuge vial and dried at 60°C for 48 hr (mrc, FDL-10N-50 series). Samples were ground to a fine powder in a mortar and pestle that was cleaned with ethanol (EtOH) between samples to limit cross contamination. Subsamples of 1.0 mg \pm 0.1 mg were weighed into 3.5 x 3.0 mm tin capsules and sealed for stable isotopic analysis of δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C in the Department of Chemistry, University of Otago. The full detailed description of this process is provided in Ch. 2.

4.1.4 Landcover classification

The watersheds surrounding Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland were divided into the following discrete landcover categories based on proportion landcover: forest, urban, forestry, and farming (Figure 4.2). Presence and absence of salmon farms was also noted for Marlborough Sounds. Landcover information was provided by Land Information New Zealand (LINZ, 2018) and Marlborough District Council (Appendix 2). GIS maps were constructed by overlaying survey data using the spatial referencing system NZGD 2000.

Catchment areas, defined as the terrestrial region contributing terrigenous particulates to adjacent marine systems, were defined for each sample site by drawing polygons in QGIS and calculating the 2D area (km²). Boundaries of the catchment were determined using both topographic contours (1cm : 2.5km), 8 m digital elevation models and sea-draining catchment layers (LINZ, 2018).



Figure 4.2 Landcover classification for each of the five catchments: 1) Tory Channel, 2) Queen Charlotte Sound, 3) Pelorus Sound, 4) Mapua, and 5) Doubtful Sound.

4.1.5 Statistical analysis

Generalized linear mixed models with the Standard Least Squares personality in the Fit Model platform in JMP (JMP 14.0 SAS) were used to test the effect of SITE [9 levels, random] nested in REGION [2 levels, fixed] for *P. novaezelandiae* to identify spatial variation in THg among sites. The same analysis was carried out for *P. canaliculus* with SITE [13 levels, random] nested in REGION [2 levels, fixed]. Identifying a significant difference for the interaction of site and species was constrained to sites where species overlapped in Marlborough Sounds. A separate analysis was run for the factors SITE [5 levels, random], SPECIES [2 levels, fixed], and the interaction SITE * SPECIES on THg for *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus*. Pair-wise differences were determined using a Student's t post-hoc tests. SIZE [continuous] was incorporated as a variable to account for variance associated with bivalve shell length as this was not taken into account on collection and significantly correlated with δ^{13} C (Appendix 3).

Further generalized linear mixed model were used to test the effect of SITE [9 levels, random] nested in CATCHEMNT [4 levels, fixed] for *P. novaezelandiae* to identify spatial variation in THg among catchments. The same analysis was carried out for *P. canaliculus* with SITE [13 levels, random] nested in CATCHEMNT [4 levels, fixed]. Pair-wise differences were revealed using Student's t post-hoc test.

In order to identify if THg concentrations varied relative to stable isotopic signatures, a generalized linear mixed model was used to test the effect of factors SITE [5 level, random], SPECIES [2 levels, fixed], δ^{15} N [continuous], δ^{13} C [continuous], and the interaction SITE * SPECIES in THg for *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus*. For individual species, the effect of SITE [9 level, random], δ^{15} N [continuous], and δ^{13} C [continuous] was tested for *P. novaezelandiae*. The same analysis was conducted for *P. canaliculus* for the effect of SITE [13 level, random], δ^{15} N [continuous], and δ^{13} C [continuous].

To test if THg varied significantly in the presence and absence of salmon farms, factors FARM [2 levels, fixed] within Marlborough Sounds for individual SPECIES [2 levels, fixed] and the interaction FARM * SPECIES, were analysed using a linear model.

To test if THg varied significantly for individual species with different landcover classifications, the factors LANDCOVER [4 levels, categorical] and CATCHEMNT [4 levels, fixed] were analysed in a linear model for *P. novaezelandiae*. The same analysis was conducted for *P. canaliculus* with LANDCOVER [4 levels, categorical] and CATCHEMNT [3 levels, fixed]. Pairwise differences were determined using a Student's t post-hoc tests.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Spatial differences for individual species

Regional level

Pecten novaezelandiae collected from Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland had significantly different concentrations of THg at the site level, but not between regions (Main test: $F_{9,26} = 4.74$, p = 0.0029, $r^2 = 0.72$. SITE [REGION], F = 4.92, p = .0034. REGION, F = 0.76, p = 0.3954. SIZE, F = 1.86, p = 0.1903). Total mercury concentrations were significantly different at Port Underwood, Bird Island and Motungarara Island within Marlborough Sounds (Figure 4.3a).

Perna canaliculis collected from Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay had significantly different concentrations of THg at the site level, but not between regions (Main test: F $_{13,37}$ = 8.73, p < 0.0001, r² = 0.83. SITE [REGION], F = 9.20, p < 0.0001. REGION, F = 0.08, p = 0.7722. SIZE, F = 1.58, p = 0.2210). Significantly higher concentrations of THg were observed for *P*. *canaliculus* at Perano Shoal within Marlborough Sounds and Mapua within Tasman Bay relative to other sites (Figure 4.3b).



Figure 4.3 Concentrations of THg for a) *P. novaezelandiae* and b) *P. canaliculus* among sites within regions. Means \pm 1SE. Levels connected by different letter indicate significant differences (p < 0.05).

Catchment level

Concentrations of THg are significantly different for *P. novaezelandiea* among catchments (Main test: $F_{9,26} = 4.74$, p = 0.0029, $r^2 = 0.72$. SITE[CATCHMENT], F = 3.40, p = 0.0261. CATCHMENT, F = 4.46, p = 0.0175. SIZE, F = 1.86, p = 0.1903). Concentrations of THg were highest at sites within each of the three Marlborough Sounds catchments (Figure 4.4a).

Concentrations of THg were significantly different for *P. canaliculus* among catchments (Main test: F $_{13,37}$ = 8.73, p < 0.0001, r² = 0.83. SITE[CATCHMENT], F = 9.68, p < 0.0001. CATCHMENT, F = 6.45, p = 0.0023. SIZE, F = 1.58, p = 0.2210). Concentrations of THg were highest at sites with Queen Charlotte Sound in Marlborough Sounds and Mapua catchment in Tasman Bay (Figure 4.4b).



Figure 4.4 Concentrations of THg for a) *P. novaezelandiae* and b) *P. canaliculus* among sites within catchments. Means \pm 1SE. Levels connected by different letter indicate significant differences (p < 0.05).

4.2.2 Species spatial overlap

Factor SITE reveals significantly different concentrations with significantly higher concentrations of THg for Perano Shoal relative to the rest of the sites where both *P*. *novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus* was present. Factor SPECIES has no significant influence on the observed THg concentrations between *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus*. The interaction between site and species, however, was significant. (Main test: $F_{10,28} = 3.92$, p = 0.0058, r² = 0.69. SITE, F = 3.67 p = 0.0235. SPECIES, F = 4.08 p = 0.0585. SITE * SPECIES, F = 5.96, p = 0.0031. SIZE, F = 0.65, p = 0.4319). These results reveal concentrations of THg are more strongly influenced by the interaction of site and species where the highest concentration reported was for *P. canaliculus* from Perano Shoal (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5 Concentrations of THg for *P. novaezelandiae* (grey) and *P. canaliculus* (black) among sites within the Marlborough Sounds. Means \pm 1SE. An asterix represents significantly different levels (p < 0.05).

4.2.3 Changes associated with organic matter sources using stable isotopic signatures

No significant differences in concentrations of THg with stable isotopic values (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) were revealed for *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus* among sites within Marlborough Sounds (Main test: F_{12,28} = 2.98, p = 0.0219, r² = 0.69. δ^{15} N, F = 0.0112, p = 0.9172. δ^{13} C, F = 0.18, p = 0.6792. SITE, F = 3.02, p = 0.0494. SPECIES, F = 0.55, p = 0.4709. SITE * SPECIES, F = 3.51, p = 0.0307. SIZE, F = 0.13, p = 0.7233).

Significant differences in THg concentrations with stable isotopic values of δ^{13} C were revealed for *P. novaezelandiae* (Table 4.2). No significant relationships were observed for THg with stable isotopic values (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) for *P. canaliculus* among sites (Table 4.3).

Table 4.2 General linear model results of THg concentrations with stable isotopic values ($\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{13}C$) among sites for *P. novaezelandiae*. Bolded p-values (p < 0.05) indicate statistical differences.

Level	df	F ratio	р
$\delta^{15}N$	1	0.0159	0.9013
$\delta^{13}C$	1	4.5893	0.0490
SITE[REGION]	7	5.2814	0.0034
REGION	1	1.7743	0.2027
SIZE	1	2.7838	0.1160

Table 4.3 General linear model results of THg concentrations with stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) among site for *P. canaliculus*. Bolded p-values (p < 0.05) indicate statistical differences.

df	F ratio	р
1	3.0984	0.0923
1	0.0057	0.9406
11	7.0209	<.0001
1	0.3474	0.5616
1	0.9846	0.3319
	df 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	dfF ratio13.098410.0057117.020910.347410.9846

4.2.4 Differences within catchments

Salmon farming in Marlborough Sounds

No differences in THg concentrations were detected between salmon farm sites and references sites among species (Main test: F $_{4,43} = 1.89$, p = 0.1319, r² = 0.16) (Table 4.4).

Level	df	F ratio	р
FARM	1	2.2344	0.1430
SPECIES	1	0.0238	0.8782
FARM * SPECIES	1	0.0191	0.8907
SIZE	1	2.8923	0.0970

Table 4.4 General linear model results for THg concentrations between salmon farm and reference sites among species. Bolded p-values indicate statistical differences.

Proportion landcover classification

Concentrations of THg were significantly different with proportion of landcover: forest, urban, forestry and farming among catchments for *P. novaezelandiae* (Main test: $F_{4,26} = 4.15$, p = 0.0118, r² = 0.43). A negative association is observed between THg concentrations and proportion forest while a positive relationship is observed between THg concentrations and proportion forestry (Figure 4.6). Neither positive nor negative relationships were revealed for proportion urban or farming landcover classifications. Pair-wise analysis revealed significantly higher concentrations of THg in Port Underwood relative to all other catchments (Figure 4.6).

Concentrations of THg did not differ with proportion of landcover: forest, urban, forestry and farming cover among catchments for *P. canaliculus* (Main test: $F_{4,37} = 1.96$, p = 0.1234, r² = 0.19).



Figure 4.6 Concentrations of THg with a) percent forest and b) percent forestry for *P. novaezelandiae* at sites: 1) Port Underwood, 2) Queen Charlotte Sound, 3) Pelorus Sound, and 4) Doubtful Sound. Means \pm 1SE. Levels connected by different letter indicate significant differences (p < 0.05).

4.3 Discussion

Results presented here reveal the first measures of total mercury (THg) concentrations for commercially important species *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus* in Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland. The observed patterns in the variation of THg concentrations associated with site and catchment revealed differences in THg concentrations associated with localised inputs. Since mercury bioaccumulates up the food web, it is imperative that we understand the sources shaping mercury concentrations in benthic organisms that are ultimately consumed by top predators, including humans.

4.3.1 Spatial variation in mercury concentrations

The factor SITE revealed significant differences in observed concentrations of THg for *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus*. The spatial variations in THg concentrations for *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus* is illustrated in Figures 4.7 and 4.8. No significant differences were explained by REGION for either species supporting differences in THg concentrations related to point source inputs of mercury. Sources responsible for mercury

emissions are largely associated with industrial discharge, such as coal burning and mining. Further, mercury emissions are able to travel large distances in the atmosphere where they are deposited across catchments and enter the sea through both atmospheric deposits and catchment hydrology (Pacyna et al. 2006, Lovett et al. 2009, Ward et al. 2011, Serrano et al. 2013). Therefore, although mercury inputs may originate from activities far away, the inputs from riverine catchments may be responsible for localised variability (Elskus et al. 2020). The results from the present study support localised inputs as the main mechanism responsible for the spatial variability in mercury concentrations on the South Island of New Zealand.

Sites where both species were collected was constrained to Marlborough Sounds as Tasman Bay population decline of *P. novaezelandiae* has led to a fishery closure ('Temporary Closure' 2019). Both site and the interaction between site and species revealed significant differences in THg concentrations. However, pair-wise analysis revealed that *P. canaliculus* from Perano Shoal, Marlborough Sounds had the highest mercury concentrations relative to all other species among sites (Figure 4.5). This result indicates *P. canaliculus* may have been more susceptible to mercury concentrations than *P. novaezelandiae*. Do to their global distribution, mussels have long been used as bioindicators of chemical contamination in the aquatic environment, where they have displayed their sensitivity to aquatic contaminants on temporal and spatial scales (Goldberg et al. 1978, Melwani et al. 2014, Briant et al. 2017, Elskus et al. 2020). The significantly higher concentrations of mercury in *P. canaliculus* at Perano Shoal is consistent with their sensitivity to contaminants and ability to reflect acute sources of mercury inputs.



Figure 4.7 Spatial depiction of average THg concentrations (mg kg⁻¹) for *P. novaezelandiae* at sites within Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland. Sites: 1) Old Man's Head, 2) Bird Island, 3) Waitata, 4) Motungarara Island, 5) Ruakaka Bay, 6) Perano Shoal, 7) Dieffenbach Point, 8) Port Underwood, 9) Doubtful Sound.



Figure 4.8 Spatial depiction of average THg concentrations (mg kg⁻¹) for *P. canaliculus* at sites within Marlborough Sounds and Tasman Bay. Sites: 1) Clay Point, 2) Bird Island, 3) Waitata, 4) Motungarara Island, 5) Ruakaka Bay, 6) Perano Shoal, 7) Te Pangu Bay, 8) Ragged Point, 9) Crousielles Harbour, 10) Delaware Bay, 11) Mapua, 12) Te Karetu, 13) Totaranui.

4.3.2 Variations in mercury in relation to stable isotopic signatures

In order to understand how mercury enters the benthic food web, variation in THg concentrations were investigated relative to differences in stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C). No differences in THg concentrations were observed for the interaction between site and species. However, for individual species, *P. novaezelandiae* revealed a significant relationship in THg with δ^{13} C (Table 4.2). The observed trend in THg associated with δ^{13} C indicate mercury concentrations may vary with carbon sources supporting *P. novaezelandiae*. A prior study by Taylor et al. (2019) revealed mercury concentrations in marine organisms were significantly influenced by organic matter from terrestrial sources, however, no prior connection has been drawn to marine derived organic matter. Therefore, the present study reveals marine basal carbon sources, primarily composed of macroalgae as revealed in Chapter 2, influenced mercury concentrations observed for *P. novaezelandiae*.

4.3.3 Variation with anthropogenic pressures

Salmon Farming

Salmon farming was identified as a contributor to the variation in trace metal concentrations reflected in bivalves within Marlborough Sounds in Chapter 3. Salmon farms have no apparent relationship with concentrations of mercury in *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus*. The uniform concentrations of mercury among salmon farm and reference sites reveal the benign nature of salmon farming within Marlborough Sounds on THg concentrations. Our results revealed similar findings to previous studies where salmon farming has not resolved variations in mercury concentrations to farm adjacent marine communities (Bustnes et al. 2011, Onsanit et al. 2012).

Catchment Modification

Though no significant differences were revealed at the regional level, catchments with a range of landcover modification explained significant differences in THg concentrations to *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus*. The effect of CATCHMENT was significant for individual species, where Port Underwood revealed significantly higher concentrations of THg in *P. novaezelandiae* relative to all other catchments (Figure 4.4a). Further, Mapua and

Queen Charlotte Sound (QCS) revealed significantly higher concentrations of THg in *P. canaliculus* (Figure 4.4b).

The Port Underwood catchment was dominated by the highest proportion of landcover from forestry within Marlborough Sounds (Urlich 2015) (Figure 4.2). The extensive forestry delivers runoff high in sediment, particularly after harvest when the soil is vulnerable to weather events (Urlich 2015). The muddy bottom of Port Underwood is illustrative of the continuous build-up of sediment and low circulation rate with which the bay is flushed. The health of the benthic invertebrate community in Port Underwood has been monitored for almost a decade. The observed decline in health has been attributed to sedimentation and filamentous diatom blooms (Page & Olsen 2016). The positive association recorded between proportion of forestry and mercury concentrations in P. novaezelandiae revealed elevated levels of mercury may be explained by forestry sedimentation (Figure 4.6a). Recent studies corroborate this finding as high inputs of terrestrial organic matter have been linked to elevated levels of mercury, both in the sediment and among infaunal organisms (Jonsson et al. 2017, Elskus et al. 2020). Therefore, the large inputs of terrestrial organic matter associated with forestry in Port Underwood provided further evidence of the influences of heavy sedimentation on the accumulation of mercury in benthic suspension feeder P. novaezelandiae.

Similarly, Mapua and QCS, characterized by a high degree of catchment modification revealed highest THg concentrations for *P. canaliculus*. Both the Mapua and QCS catchments have been modified by forestry, farming and urban development (Figure 4.2). Further, ports are present at the base of each catchment and the marine environments experience heavy boat traffic (Newcombe et al. 2015, Newcombe & Johnston 2016). In contrast to QCS, Mapua catchment delivers large inputs of runoff from the Waimea river situated within a largely modified catchment (Newcombe 2016). Though QCS does not experience the same riverine inputs as Tasman Bay, it is the major hub of transport between the South and North Island where South Island train networks come together was well as cars and supply trucks. Though these results cannot definitely determine localised sources of mercury inputs to these systems, it is clear that elevated mercury concentrations mirror catchments influenced by a high degree of anthropogenic pressure. Therefore, we provide evidence that elevated mercury concentrations observed for *P. novaezelandiae* and *P*.

134

canaliculus reflect modified catchments and a high degree of anthropogenic activity on the South Island of New Zealand.

Contrast to the above catchments, Doubtful Sound, characterized by intact catchments of native forest (Miller et al. 2006, Wing & Jack 2014) returns similar THg concentrations to those observed in QCS and Pelorus for P. novaezelandiae. Though Doubtful Sound is not influenced by riverine inputs, it received freshwater from Manapouri Hydroelectric Power Plant. Studies have identified the considerable changes in freshwater inputs and water column chemistry in Doubtful Sound, influencing benthic community composition (Tallis et al. 2004, Rutger & Wing 2006, Wing & McLeod 2007, McLeod & Wing 2008). Further, hydroelectric power plants have been tied to elevated THg concentrations in other fiord systems (Hylander et al. 2006, Kasper et al. 2014, Schartup et al. 2015, Azad et al. 2019). It is presumed that the mechanism supporting elevated THg concentrations from hydropower plants is similar to that of coastal sedimentation through riverine inputs. Hydropower stations generally use water from the hypolimnium layer, or dense lower water layer, which has favorable conditions for methylation (Azad et al. 2019). It is therefore likely that the THg concentrations reflected in P. novaezelandiae in Doubtful Sound are influenced by the freshwater inputs associated with Manapouri Hydroelectric Power Plant. Previous records of THg analyses in this region would allow a more concrete link between increased anthropogenic activity and THg concentrations in Doubtful Sound to be established.

The results from the present chapter provided evidence that the variation in THg concentrations of benthic bivalves are likely influenced by point source mercury inputs on the South Island, New Zealand. Preliminary conclusions from the present study linking elevated THg concentration to extensive modification of catchments are particularly prudent as MeHg may increase up to 30% in coastal areas, resulting from increased runoff associated with climate change (Jonsson et al. 2017). Currently, levels of mercury measured in *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus* are safe for consumers of these species within Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay, and Fiordland. Concentrations measured for all organisms fell below the food safety limit as indicated by FAO/WHO and ANZFS at 0.5 mg kg⁻¹ (Table 1). Further, the observed concentrations in this study are lower than many THg concentrations recorded globally (Deudero et al. 2009, Apeti et al. 2012, Lanksbury et al. 2014, Sadhu et al. 2015, Briant et al. 2017, Ruiz-Fernández et al. 2018, Elskus et al. 2020).

Though current levels of THg in *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus* are not cause for great concern, the projected increases in runoff associated with climate change reveal the importance of future monitoring of these key marine resources.

To our knowledge, these results illustrate the first measurements of mercury for commercially important bivalves encompassing a large spatial scale on the South Island of New Zealand, therefore, providing a baseline for future monitoring. In order to remain confident that THg concentrations will not become detrimental to both ecological and human health, further laboratory and field studies are required to monitor and confidently pinpoint sources contributing to the variability of THg concentrations among sites.

Chapter 5: Synthesis

Bivalves are important sentinel species that can help us make inferences about how anthropogenic modification of the natural environment may affect a wider range of species, and in turn the structure and stability of entire temperate rocky reef food webs. In the present study, we evaluated direct interactions between catchment modifications and salmon farming on both resource composition and availability to benthic bivalve communities. Further, intraspecific differences in feeding strategies were investigated to identify how these interactions influence community dynamics on the whole. Our objective was to gain a broader understanding of how basal organic matter source pools are altered by a range of anthropogenic stressors, in addition to the implications for the composition of organic matter and availability of trace metal concentrations reflected in key primary consumers. Here, spatial patterns revealed catchment modification and salmon farming significantly influenced use of alternative basal organic matter sources and the availability of trace metal concentrations in bivalve species among Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay and Fiordland. The presented findings may help inform associations between land use and bivalves as indicator taxa on a global scale to evaluate food web dynamics on temperate rocky reefs worldwide.

The factor REGION could explain large spatial scale variation in organic matter and trace metal signatures, however, mercury concentrations remained consistent among regions. Analysis of the factor CATCHMENT consistently explained observed differences in organic matter, trace metal, and mercury concentrations for benthic suspension feeding bivalves. The range in landcover classifications among catchments revealed the influence of modified catchments in driving the organic matter resource pools available to benthic bivalves. Further, FORESTRY revealed patters associated with organic matter and mercury concentrations, while SALMON FARMS explained species specific differences in organic matter availability and trace metal concentrations. The results further supported site level variation in organic matter use and mercury concentrations influenced by resource availability on the scale of a few kilometers. The results of the present thesis illustrate the pervasive influence of catchment modification and salmon farms on benthic coastal communities from regional to local scale differences in resource composition and availability.

Spatial variation in resource use

In the present study we suggest that environmental changes influence the structure and patterns of organic matter fluxes through food webs. The variability in organic matter source pools was reflected by the composition of macroalgal communities among Marlborough Sounds, Tasman Bay, and Fiordland. In this case, low availability of organic matter derived from macroalgae in Tasman Bay, coupled with an overall higher abundance of macroalgae in Marlborough Sounds and Fiordland, support the idea that contribution of bivalve diet from organic matter sources varies with the composition of organic matter resource pools. This trend was further observed at the site level within Marlborough Sounds. Discrete feeding mechanisms associated with individual species revealed resource partitioning among species may be responsible for the composition of organic matter supporting individual species within a community, further revealing that feeding strategies among individual species likely minimize food competition through niche partitioning as suggested by Tallis (2009).

The clear patterns associated with the degree of catchment modification and resource variability among species revels that the composition of resource pools is relative to the impacts associated with catchment modification across species. Catchment modification associated with a higher degree of urban development, farming, and forestry were associated with lower proportions of organic matter derived from macroalgae than intact catchments. This has been corroborated Further, the elevated proportions of macroalgae in species near salmon farm revealed the increased productivity of macroalgae associated with an influx of nutrients surrounding farms (Haya et al. 2001). The influences associated with modified catchments and salmon farming revealed the role of anthropogenic activity in shaping resource pools available to benthic communities and the alteration of detrital pathways.

Spatial variation in trace metal fingerprints

The unique opportunity to identify patterns in trace metal concentrations for multiple species with different feeding strategies across the South Island, New Zealand, revealed how trace metal concentrations were likely shaped by anthropogenic stressors. Together, patterns in the concentrations of three classes of trace metals revealed information on food sources, environmental conditions, and trace metal pollutants representative of the regions.

Concentrations of conservative, bioactive, and highly scavenged trace metals in target bivalve tissues were reflective of water column chemistry, primary production, and contaminants consistent with local catchment modification and salmon farm practices.

Though limitations of trace metal analysis exist due to the variability in biologically available and species-specific physiological mechanisms, variations in trace metal concentrations associated with carbon sources (δ^{13} C) could be explained by a range of anthropogenic stressors. Significant differences in trace metal concentrations among catchments with a range of modification was contingent on intraspecific differences. Further, elevated levels of bioactive metals among salmon farms in association with stable isotopic values (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) were consistent with the effect of increases in available nutrients at salmon farms relative to references sites for benthic dwelling species. Therefore, supporting the influence of food sources of the reflected trace metal concentrations (Rainbow 2002, Genç et al. 2018, Ruiz-Fernández et al. 2018) in addition to anthropogenic stressors driving the observed differences in resource composition. Each of these metals tend to be more biologically available to burrowing organisms or filter feeders at the sediment boundary (Chapman et al. 2002), reflecting the importance of a multi-species approach in documenting spatial variability in trace metal fingerprints.

These data reveal the influence of both regional scale differences in catchment modification and local scale influences of salmon farming on the alternate organic matter source pools driving variability in trace metal concentration among bivalves. Further, variability in the associations between trace metals and organic matter revealed species specific physiological mechanism driving uptake from the environment.

Spatial variation in mercury concentrations

The effect of CATCHMENT and SITE explained variation in mercury concentrations among study regions. However, SITE explained the largest inter- and intraspecific variation. Mercury concentrations were consistently highest in catchments influenced by a high degree of modification, where forestry could be tied to the elevated levels of mercury for *P*. *novaezelandiae* in the Marlborough Sounds. This may be explained by the methylation of mercury in coastal benthic habitats influenced by a high degree of sedimentation resulting in anoxic sediments (Jonsson et al. 2017). Further, as the first comprehensive record of

140

mercury concentrations to commercially important bivalve species on the South Island of New Zealand, we provide a baseline for future measurement of *P. novaezelandiae* and *P. canaliculus* for the benefit of public health.

Further directions of study

Though site-specific steps were taken to resolve stable isotopic signatures of two distinct basal organic matter sources within Marlborough Sounds, further temporal sampling should be conducted in future studies to evaluate organic matter signatures over time. Frequent temporal sampling throughout the year may benefit the identification of potential diet shifts. Further, site-specific sampling within Fiordland and Tasman Bay would provide additional resolution in basal organic matter source pools within these discrete regions.

We provide evidence in Chapter 3 supporting the influence of salmon farms and modified catchment on the uptake of trace metals in coastal shellfish. We make connections to the organic matter sources supporting these species, however, in order to more accurately identify pathways, we would like to analyse trace element concentrations on basal organic matter source pools. This would enhance the conclusions we were able to draw regarding transfer of trace elements from basal organic matter source pools to consumers.

In Chapter 4 we provide strong evidence supporting the role of forestry and freshwater inputs on the increased THg concentrations of *P. novaezelandiae*. It would be beneficial to conduct this aspect of the study with an increased number of species encompassing a larger habitat range as we did in Chapters 2 and 3. However, due to the cost of THg analysis, consumer species encompassing both soft sediment and subtidal habitats were an effective starting point for this study. In addition, though THg is an effective measure of Hg in shellfish, MeHg would resolve the total bioavailable Hg concentrations reflected in shellfish (Bargagli et al. 1998, Sarkar et al. 2008, Chouvelon et al. 2018). In future studies, it would be prudent to conduct MeHg analyses on both basal organic matter source pools and consumers.

141

Bivalves are an integral part of rocky reef communities and a key link in food webs between benthic, pelagic organic matter source pools, in addition to terrestrial organic matter sources. Therefore, changes to the basal organic matter source pools supporting these species will result in inherent changes in organic matter sources supporting species further up the food chain, perhaps resulting in population declines in areas of high anthropogenic pressures (Udy et al. 2019a, 2019b). The pressures associated with anthropogenic activity are not ubiquitous across temperate rocky reef ecosystems, but contingent upon environmental modifications and biological community dynamics within catchments.

In the present study we evaluated direct interactions between catchment modifications and salmon farming on feeding strategies of individual species and further evaluated how these interactions influence the community on the whole. With the increase in development of land and aquaculture endeavors for economic gain, we can expect the impacts to coastal reefs to increase. Therefore, further altering resource pools supporting rocky reef communities. We provide evidence that development of a robust and holistic understanding of catchment modification associated with food web dynamics is imperative for modeling of ecosystem health.
References

- Airoldi LH, Beck MW (2007) Loss status and trends for coastal marine habitats in Europe. Oceanography and Marine Biology 45: 345–405
- Apeti DA, Lauenstein GG, Evans DW (2012) Recent status of total mercury and methyl mercury in the coastal waters of the northern Gulf of Mexico using oysters and sediments from NOAA's mussel watch program. Mar Pollut Bull 64: 2399–2408
- Atkinson CL, Christian AD, Spooner DE, Vaughn CC (2014) Long-lived organisms provide an integrative footprint of agricultural land use. Ecological Applications 24(2): 375– 384
- Azad AM, Frantzen S, Bank MS, Johnsen IA, Tessier E, Amouroux D, Madsen L, Maage A (2019) Spatial distribution of mercury in seawater, sediment, and seafood from the Hardangerfjord ecosystem, Norway. Sci Total Environ 667: 622-637
- Babaranti O, Horn S, Jowett T, Frew R (2018) Isotopic signatures in Mytilus galloprovincialis and Ulva latuca as bioindicators for assessing discharged sewage effluent in coastal waters along Otago Peninsula, New Zealand. Geology, Ecology, and Landscapes: 1-12
- Bakar NA, Mohd Sata NSA, Ramlan NF, Wan Ibrahim WN, Zulkifli SZ, Che Abdullah CA, Ahmad S, Amal MNA (2017) Evaluation of the neurotoxic effects of chronic embryonic exposure with inorganic mercury on motor and anxiety-like responses in zebrafish (Danio rerio) larvae. Neurotoxicol Teratol 59: 53–61
- Balcom PH, Fitzgerald WF, Vandal GM, Lamborg CH, Rolfhus KR, Langer CS Hammerschmidt CR (2004) Mercury sources and cycling in the Connecticut River and Long Island Sound. Mar Chem 90: 53-74
- Balcom PH, Hammerschmidt CR, Fitzgerald WF, Lamborg CH, O'Connor JS (2008) Seasonal distributions and cycling of mercury and methylmercury in the waters of New York/New Jersey Harbor estuary. Mar Chem 109: 1–17
- Bargagli R, Monaci F, Sanchez-Hernandez C, Cateni D (1998) Biomagnification of mercury in an Antarctic marine coastal food web, Mar Ecol Proc Ser 169: 65–76
- Bayne BLA, Hawkins JS, Navarro E (1987) Feeding and digestion by the mussel Mytilus edulis (Bivalvia: Mollusca) in mixtures of silt and algal cells at low concentrations. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 111(1): 1-22
- Becker BJ, Fodrie FJ, McMillan PA, Levin LA (2005) Spatial and temporal variation in trace elemental fingerprints of Mytilid mussel shells: a precursor to invertebrate larval tracking. Limnol Oceanogr 50: 48–61
- Becker K, Merlini L, De Bertrand N, De Alencastro LF, Tarradellas J (1992) Elevated levels of organotins in Lake Geneva: bivalves as sentinel organism. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 48: 37–44
- Beer NA, Wing SR, Hu Y (2011) Physical versus biological control of trace element incorporation into biogenic carbonate: an *in situ* experiment in a New Zealand fjord. Marine Ecology Progress Series 433:289-301
- Beninger PG, Le Pennec M (2006) Structure and Function in Scallops, in Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science 35: 123-227.
- Benson KR (2002) The Study of vertical zonation on rocky intertidal shores-a historical perspective. Integ and Comp Biol 42: 776–779
- Bolnick DI, Svanbäck R, Fordyce JA, Yang LH, Davis JM, Hulsey CD, Forister ML (2003) The ecology of individuals: incidence and implications of individual specialization. Am Nat 161: 1–28
- Bonnet X, Briand MJ, Brischoux F, Letourneur Y, Fauvel T, Bustamante P (2014)

Anguiliform fish reveal large scale contamination by mine trace elements in the coral reefs of. New Caledonia Sci Total Environ 470: 876–882

- Boynton WR, KempWM, Keefe CW (1982) A comparative analysis of nutrients and other factors influencing estuarine phytoplankton production. Estuarine Comparisons: 69–90
- Branfireun BA, Roulet NT, Kelly CA, Rudd JWM (1999) In situ sulphate stimulation of mercury methylation in a boreal peatland: Toward a link between acid rain and methylmercury contamination in remote environments. Global Biogeochem Cycles13: 743 – 750
- Briant N, Chouvelon T, Martinez L, Brach-Papa C, Chiffoleau JF, Sacoye N, Sonke J, Knoery J (2017) Spatial and temporal distribution of mercury and methylmercury in bivalves from the French coastline. Marine Pollution Bulletin 114: 1096-1102
- Brooks KM, Mahnken CV (2003) Interactions of Atlantic salmon in the Pacific Northwest environment: III. Accumulation of zinc and copper. Fisheries Research 62: 295-305 Burridge L, Weis J, Cabello F, Pizarro J (2008) Chemical use in salmon aquaculture: a review of current practices and possible environmental effects. Report to Salmon Aquaculture Dialogue World Wildlife Fund
- Burridge L, Weis JS, Cabello F, Pizarro J, Bostick K (2010) Chemical use in salmon aquaculture: A review of current practices and possible environmental effects. Aquaculture 306: 7-23
- Bustamante RH, Branch GM (1996) The dependence of intertidal consumers on kelp-derived organic matter on the west coast of South Africa. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 196(1-2): 1-28
- Bustnes JO, Nygård T, Dempster T, Ciesielski T, Jenssen BM, Bjørn PA, Uglem I (2011) Do salmon farms increase the concentrations of mercury and other elements in wild fish? J Environ Monit 13: 1687–1694
- Callender E, Rice KC (2000) The urban environmental gradient: anthropogenic influences on the spatial and temporal distributions of lead and zinc in sediments. Environ Sci and Technol 34(4): 232-238
- Carbines G, Michael K (2007) Status of the non-commercial scallop (Pecten novaezealandiae) fishery in Paterson Inlet Stewart Island and information needs for future management, Wellington: Ministry of Fisheries
- Carson HS (2010) Population connectivity of the Olympia oyster in southern California. Limnol Oceanogr 55: 134–148
- Carter L (1976) Seston transport and deposition in Pelorus Sound, South Island, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 10(2): 263–82
- Casas S, Bacherb C (2006) Modelling trace metal (Hg and Pb) bioaccumulation in the Mediterranean mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis applied to environmental monitoring. Journal of Sea Research 56: 168–181
- Cathey AM, Miller NR, Kimmel DG (2014) Spatiotemporal stability of trace and minor elemental signatures in early larval shell of the northern quahog (hard clam) Mercenaria mercenaria. J Shellfish Res 33: 247–255
- Chapman PM, Wang F (2001) Assessing sediment contamination in estuaries. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 20: 3–22
- Chapman PM, Wang F, Germano J, Batley G (2002) Pore water testing and analysis the good the bad and the ugly. Marine Pollution Bulletin 44: 359-366
- Chen C, Amirbahman A, Fisher N, Harding G, Lamborg C, Nacci D, Taylor D (2008) Methylmercury in marine ecosystems: Spatial patterns and processes of production, bioaccumulation, and biomagnification. Ecohealth 5(4): 399-408
- Chen MM, Lopez L, Bhavsar SP, Sharma S (2018) What's hot about mercury? Examining

the influence of climate on mercury levels in Ontario top predator fishes. Environ Res 162: 63–73

- Choi AL, Grandjean P (2008) Methylmercury exposure and health effects in humans. Environ Chem 5: 112–120
- Chou CL, Haya K, Paon LA, Burridge L, Moffatt JD (2002) Aquaculture-related trace metals in sediments and lobsters and relevance to environmental monitoring program ratings for near-field effects. Marine Pollution Bulletin 44: 1259-1268
- Chouvelon T, Cresson P, Bouchoucha M, Brach-Papa C, Bustamante P, Crochet S, Marco-Miralles F, Thomas B, Knoery J (2018) Oligotrophy as a major driver of mercury bioaccumulation in medium-to high-trophic level consumers: a marine ecosystemcomparative study. Environ Pollut 233: 844–854
- Claereboudt MR, Himmelman JH, Côté J (1994) Field evaluation of the effect of current velocity and direction on the growth of the giant scallop Placopecten magellanicus in suspended culture. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 183(1): 27–39
- Clarkson T, Magos L (2006) The toxicology of mercury and its chemical compounds. Crit Rev Toxicol 36: 609–662
- Coe D (2006) Sediment production and delivery from forest roads in the Sierra Nevada California. MSc thesis Colorado State University Fort Collins CO 110 p
- Coker RJ (1994) Sedimentation and forest harvesting in the Marlborough Sounds University of Canterbury: 49
- Coma R, Ribes M, Gili JM, Hughes R (2001) The ultimate opportunists: consumers of seston. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 219: 305–308
- Compeau G, Bartha R (1985). Sulfate-reducing bacteria: Principal methylators of mercury in anoxic estuarine sediment. Appl Environ Microbiol 50: 498-502
- Cornelisen CD, Wing SR, Clark KL, Bowman MH, Frew RD, Hurd CL (2007) Patterns of d13C and d15N signature of Ulva pertusa: Interaction between physical gradients and nutrient source pools. Limnology and Oceanography 52: 820-832
- Correll DL, Jordan TE, Weller DE (2001) Effects of precipitation air temperature and land use on organic carbon discharges from Rhode River watersheds. Water Air Soil Pollut 128: 139–159
- Cowan JH, Rice JC, Walters CJ, Hilborn R, Essington TE, Day JW, Boswell KM (2012) Challenges for Implementing an Ecosystem Approach to Fisheries Management. Mar Coast Fish 4:496-510
- Cummings VJ, Thrush SF, Hewitt JE, Funnell GA (2001) The variable effect of a large suspension-feeding bivalve on infauna: experimenting in a complex system. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 209 :159–175
- Dadar M, Adel M, Saravi HN, Dadar M (2016) A comparative study of trace metals in male and female Caspian kutum (Rutilus frisii kutum) from the southern basin of Caspian Sea. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 23(24): 24540–24546
- Davidson RJ, Richards LA (2014) Monitoring of a relocated a mussel farm in Otanerau Bay East Bay, Marlborough Sounds: 2002-2014 Survey and Monitoring. Davidson Environmental Limited
- Davidson RJ, Duffy CAJ, Gaze P, Baxter A, Du Fresne S, Courtney S (2011) Ecologically significant marine sites in Marlborough New Zealand Marlborough: Davidson Environmental Limited, Marlborough Sounds, New Zealand
- Dayton PK (1985) Ecology of kelp communities. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 16: 215–245
- Dean RJ, Shimmield TM, Black KD (2007) Copper zinc and cadmium in marine cage fish farm sediments: An extensive survey. Environmental Pollution 145: 84-95

- Degger N, Wepener V, Richardson BJ, Wu RSS (2011) Application of artificial mussels (AMs) under South African marine conditions: a validation study. Marine Pollution Bulletin 63: 108–118
- Deudero S, Box A, Tejada S, Tintoré J (2009b) Stable isotopes and metal contamination in caged marine mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis. Marine Pollution Bulletin 58(7): 1025–1031
- Deudero S, Cabanellas M, Blanco A, Tejada S (2009a) Stable isotope fractionation in the digestive gland muscle and gills tissues of the marine mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 368(2): 181–188
- Dick D, Philipp E, Kriews M, Abele D (2007) Is the umbo matrix of bivalve shells (Laternula elliptica) a climate archive? Aquatic Toxicology 84(4): 450-456
- Díez S (2009) Human health effects of methylmercury exposure. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 198: 111–132
- Dimitrakakis E, Hahladakis J, Gidarakos E (2014) The "Sea Diamond" shipwreck: environmental impact assessment in the water column and sediments of the wreck area. Int J Environ Sci Technol 11: 1421–1432
- Driscoll CT, Mason RP, Chan HM, Jacob DJ, Pirrone N (2013) Mercury as a global pollutant: Sources pathways and effect. Environ Sci Technol 47: 4967–4983
- Dubois S, Orvain F, Marin-Léal JC, Ropert M, Lefebvre S (2007). Small-scale spatial variability of food partitioning between cultivated oysters and associated suspension-feeding species, as revealed by stable isotopes. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 336: 151-160
- Duggins DO, Eckman JE (1997) Is kelp detritus a good food for suspension feeders? Effects of kelp species age and secondary metabolites. Marine Biology 128(3): 489-495
- Duggins DO, Simenstad CA, Estes JA (1989) Magnification of secondary production by kelp detritus in coastal marine ecosystems Science 245(4914): 170-173
- Eckman JE, Peterson CH, Cahalan JA (1989) Effects of flow speed turbulence and orientation on growth of juvenile bay scallops Argopecten irradians concentricus (Say). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 132: 123–140
- Edgar GJ, Barrett NS (2000) Effects of catchment activities on macrofaunal assemblages in Tasmanian estuaries. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 50(5): 639-654
- Ellis J, Cummings V, Hewitt J, Thrush S, Nokko A (2002) Determining effects of suspended sediment on condition of a suspension feeding bivalve (Atrina zelandica): Results of a survey a laboratory experiment and a field transplant experiment. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 267(2): 147–174
- Elskus AA, LeBlanc LA, Latimer JS, Page DS, Harding GCH, Wells PG (2020) Monitoring chemical contaminants in the Gulf of Maine using sediments and mussels (Mytilus edulis): An evaluation. Marine Pollution Bulletin 153: 110956
- Eriksen R, Mackey DJ, van Dam R, Nowak B (2001) Copper speciation and toxicity in Macquarie Harbour, Tasmania: an investigation using a copper ion selective electrode. Marine Chemistry 74: 99-113
- Fey P, Bustamante P, Bosserelle P, Espiau B, Malau A, Mercader M, Wafo E, Letourneur Y (2019) Does trophic level drive organic and metallic contamination in coral reef organisms? Science of The Total Environment 667: 208-221
- Fleming EJ, Mack EE, Green PG, Nelson DC (2006), Mercury methylation from unexpected sources: Molybdate-inhibited freshwater sediments and an iron-reducing bacterium. Appl Environ Microbiol 72: 457–464
- Forest BM, Atalah J (2017) Significant impact from blue mussel Mytilus galloprovinvialis biofouling on aquaculture production of green-lipped mussels on New Zealand. Aquacult Env Interact 9: 115–126.

- Fredriksen S (2003) Food web studies in a Norwegian kelp forest based on stable isotope (δ13C and δ15N) analysis. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 260: 71–81
- Freshwater (2017) Marlborough District Council: 58-80
- Fry B, Gace A, McClelland JW (2003) Chemical indicators of anthropogenic nitrogen loading in four Pacific estuaries. Pacific Science 57: 77–101
- Fry B, Mumford P, Tam F, Fox D, Warren G, Havens K, Steinman A (1999) Trophic position and individual feeding history of fish from Lake Okeechobee Florida. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 56: 590–600
- Gall JE, Boyd RS, Rajakaruna N (2015) Transfer of heavy metals through terrestrial food webs: a review. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 187(4): 201
- Garcia S, Cochrane K (2005) Ecosystem approach to fisheries: a review of implementation guidelines. ICES Journal of Marine Science 62:311-318
- Gardner JPA, Wear RG, Wear RG (2006) Changes in subtidal macroinvertebrate community structure in Wellington Harbour (New Zealand) following a large-scale natural dieoff. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 40(1): 29-42
- Gili JM, Coma R (1997) Benthic suspension feeders: their paramount role in littoral marine food webs. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 8: 316-21
- Gillespie P, Clement D, Asher R (2011) State of the environment monitoring of Delaware Inlet: Broad-scale habitat mapping. Cawthron Report No 1903 no 1903: 33
- Gilmour CC, EA Henry, Mitchell R (1992) Sulfate stimulation of mercury methylation in fresh-water sediments. Environ Sci Technol 26: 2281–2287
- Gilmour CC, Henry EA (1991) Mercury methylation in aquatic systems affected by acid deposition. Environ Pollut 71: 131-169
- Goebel NL, Wing SR, Boyd PW (2005) A mechanism for onset of diatom blooms in a fjord with persistent salinity stratification. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 64:546-560
- Goebel NL, Wing SR, Boyd RW (2005) A mechanism for onset of diatom blooms in a fjord with persistent salinity stratification. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 64: 546-560
- Gray JS (2002) Biomagnification in marine systems: the perspective of an ecologist. Marine Pollution Bulletin 45(1-12): 46-52
- Green MO, Hewitt JE, Thrush SF, (1998) Seabed drag coefficient over natural beds of horse mussels (Atrina zelandica) J Mar Res 56: 613–637
- Green RH, Bailey RC, Hinch SG, Metcalfe JL, Young VH (1989) Use of freshwater mussels (Bivalvia: Unionidae) to monitor the nearshore environment of lakes. Journal of Great Lakes Research 15: 635–644
- Hadfield M, Broekhuizen N, Plew D (2014) A biophysical model for the Marlborough Sounds. NIWA, Christchurch, New Zealand
- Halpern BS, Lester SE, McLeod KL (2010) Placing marine protected areas onto the ecosystem-based management seascape. P Natl Acad Sci USA 107:18312-18317
- Handley S (2016) History of benthic change in Queen Charlotte Sound/ Totaranui, Marlborough. NIWA, Nelson, New Zealand
- Handley S, Mclean J (2016) History of Benthic Change in Queen Charlotte Sound/Totaranui, Marlborough Prepared for Prepared for Prepared for Marlborough District Council Marlborough District Council Marlborough District Council Marlborough District Council Quality Assur.
- Hawkins AJS, James MR, Hickman RW, Hatton S, Weatherhead M (1999) Modelling of suspension-feeding and growth in the green-lipped mussel Perna canaliculus exposed to natural and experimental variations of seston availability in the Marlborough Sounds New Zealand. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 191: 217-323
- Hawkins AJS, Smith RFM, Bayne BL, Héral M (1996) Novel observations underlying the

fast growth of suspension- feeding shellfish in turbid environments: Mytilus edulis Mar Ecol Prog Ser 131(1–3): 179–190

- Hewitt JE, Pilditch CA (2004) Environmental history and physiological state influence feeding responses of Atrina zelandica to suspended sediment concentrations. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 306(1): 95–112
- Hill J, McQuaid C, Kaehler S (2006) Biogeographic and nearshore-offshore trends in isotope ratios of intertidal mussels and their food sources around the coast of southern Africa. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 318: 63–73
- Hoffman JC, Kelly JR, Peterson GS, Cotter AM, Starry MA, Sierszen ME (2012) Using δ15N in fish larvae as an indicator of watershed sources of anthropogenic nitrogen: response at multiple spatial scales. Estuaries and Coasts 35: 1453–1467
- Hong YS, Kim YM, Lee KE (2012) Methylmercury exposure and health effects. J Prev Med Public Health 45(6): 353–363
- Hong YS, Kim YM, Lee KE (2012) Methylmercury exposure and health effects. J Prev Med Public Health 45: 353–363
- Howarth RD, Swaney G, Billen J. Garnier, Hong B, Humborg C, Johnes P, Mörth C-M, Marino R (2012) Nitrogen fluxes from the landscape are controlled by net anthropogenic nitrogen inputs and by climate. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 10: 37–43
- Howarth RW, Fruci JR, Sherman D (1991) Inputs of sediment and carbon to an estuarine ecosystem: influence of land use. Ecol Appl 1: 27–39
- Hutcheson MS, Smith CM, Rose J, Batdorf C, Pancorbo O, West CR, Strube J, Francis C (2014) Temporal and spatial trends in freshwater fish tissue mercury concentrations associated with mercury emissions reductions. Environ Sci Technol 48(4): 2193–2202
- Hylander LD, Gröhn J, Tropp M, Vikström A, Wolpher H, e Silva, EdC, Meili M, Oliveira, LJ (2006). Fish mercury increase in Lago Manso, a new hydroelectric reservoir in tropical Brazil. J Environ Manag 81: 155–166.
- Hyndes GA, Nagelkerken I, McLeod RJ, Connolly RM, Lavery PS, Vanderklift MA (2014) Mechanisms and ecological role of carbon transfer within coastal seascapes. Biological Reviews 89: 232-254
- Iglesias J IP, Navarro E, Pérez A, Camacho R, Beiras U, Labarta A, Hawkins JS, Widdows J (1996) Microgeographic variability in feeding absorption and condition of mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialisLMK): A transplant experiment. Journal of Shellfish Research 15(3): 673-680
- Jack L, Wing SR (2011) Individual variability in trophic position and diet of a marine omnivore is linked to kelp bed habitat. Marine Ecology Progressive Series 443: 129– 39
- Jack L, Wing SR, Hu Y, Roberts M (2011) Trace element fingerprints in exoskeleton of red rock lobster (Jasus edwardsii) vary among distinct water masses at the regional scale: evidence for natural tags. Marine Ecology Progress Series 443:141-151
- James MR, Weatherhead MA, Ross AH (2001) Size-specific clearance excretion and respiration rates and phytoplankton selectivity for the mussel Perna canaliculus at low levels of natural food. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 35: 74-86
- Johnson CR, Banks SC, Barrett NS, Cazassus F, Dunstan PK, Edgar GJ, Frusher SD, Gardner C, Haddon M, Helidoniotis F, Hill KL, Holbrook NJ, Hosie GW, Last PR, Ling SD, Melbourne-Thomas J, Miller K, Pecl GT, Richardson AJ, Ridgway KR, Rintoul SR, Ritz DA, Ross DJ, Sanderson JC, Shepherd SA, Slotwinski A, Swadling KM, Taw N (2011) Climate change cascades: Shifts in oceanography species ranges and subtidal

marine community dynamics in eastern Tasmania. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 400: 17-32

- Kasper D, Forsberg BR, Amaral JoH, Leitão RP, Py-Daniel SS, Bastos WR, Malm O (2014) Reservoir stratification affects methylmercury levels in river water, plankton, and fish downstream from Balbina hydroelectric dam, Amazonas, Brazil. Environ Sci Technol 48: 1032–1040.
- Karagas MR, Choi AL, Oken E, Horvat M, Schoeny R, Kamai E, Cowell W, Grandjean P, Korrick S (2012) Evidence on the human health effects of low-level methylmercury exposure. Environ Health Perspect 120: 799–806
- Kerr V, Grace R (2005) Intertidal and subtidal habitats of Mimiwhangata Marine Park and adjacent shelf. DOC Research and Development series 201: 21
- Kim JP, Fitzgerald WF (1986) Sea air partitioning of mercury in the equatorial. Pacific Ocean Science 231: 1131–1133
- Kim SD, Ma H, Allen HE, Cha DK (1999) Influence of dissolved organic matter on the toxicity of copper to Ceriodaphnia dubia: effect of complexation kinetics. Environmental Toxciology & Chemistry 18(11):2433-2437
- King JK, Saunders FM, Lee RF, Jahnke RA (1999) Coupling mercury methylation rates to sulfate reduction rates in marine sediments. Environ Toxicol Chem 18: 1362 1369
- Knight B (2012) Supplementary Document of Figures and Tables For the evidence provided by Benjamin Robert Knight in relation to water-column effects for the New Zealand King Salmon Co Limited June 2012 28 p
- Naimo TJ (1995) A review of the effects of heavy metals on freshwater mussels. Ecotoxicology 4: 341-362
- Taylor D, Knight B, Goodwin E, Keeley N (2015) Assessment of seabed and water column effects relating to new consent conditions at Te Pangu salmon farm Prepared for New Zealand King Salmon Company Limited Cawthron Report No 2650 47 p
- Wang W-X (2003) Metal bioaccumulation in bivalve mollusks: Recent progress. In Molluscan Shellfish Safety: 503–520
- Lucas Associates (1997) Marlborough Sounds land & marine ecosystems, Report prepared with and for the Department of Conservation and Marlborough District Council. 47 p.
- Fitzgerald WF, Lamborg CH, Hammerschmidt CR (2007) Marine biogeochemical cycling of mercury. Chemical Reviews 107:641-662
- Forrest BM, Gillespie PA, Cornelisen CD, Rogers KM (2007) Multiple indicators reveal river plume influence on sediments and benthos in a New Zealand coastal embayment. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 41 (1): 13–24
- Fowler AM, Parkinson K, Booth DJ (2018) New poleward observations of 30 tropical reef fishes in temperate southeastern Australia. Mar Biodiv 48: 2249–2254
- Fowles AE, Stuart-Smith RD, Hill NA, Thomson RJ, Strain EMA, Alexander TJ, Kirkpatrick J, Edgar GJ (2018) Interactive responses of primary producers and grazers to pollution on Temperate rocky reefs. Environmental Pollution 237: 388–95.
- Gardner JPA (2000) Where are the mussels on Cook Strait (New Zealand) shores? Low seston quality as a possible factor limiting multi-species distributions. Marine Ecology Progress Series 194(194) pp 123–132
- Genç TO, Po BHK, Yılmaz F, Lau T-C, Wu RSS, Chiu JMT (2018) Differences in metal profiles revealed by native mussels and artificial mussels in Sarıçay Stream, Turkey: Implications for pollution monitoring. Marine and Freshwater Research 69: 1372– 1378
- Gilmour CC, Henry EA (1991) Mercury methylation in aquatic systems affected by acid deposition. Environmental Pollution 71: 131-169
- Goldberg ED, Bowen VT, Farrington JW, Harvey G (1978) The Mussel Watch. Environ

Conserv 5: 101–125

- Handley S (2006) An analysis of historical impacts and composition of the benthic environment of Tasman and Golden Bays p 28
- Harada M (1995) Minamata Disease: Methylmercury poisoning in Japan caused by environmental pollution. Critical Reviews in Toxicology 25(1): 1–24
- Harley CDG, Helmuth BST (2003) Local- and regional-scale effects of wave exposure thermal stress and absolute versus effective shore level on patterns of intertidal zonation. Limnology and Oceanography 48(4): 1498–1508
- Haya K, Burridge LE, Chang BD (2001) Environmental impact of chemical wastes produced by the salmon aquaculture industry. ICES Journal of Marine Science 58: 492–96.
- Helson JG, Pledger S, Gardner JPA (2006) Does differential particulate food supply explain the presence of mussels in Wellington Harbour (New Zealand) and their absence on neighbouring Cook Strait shores? Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 72: 223-234
- Hewitt J E, Pilditch C A (2004) Environmental history and physiological state influence feeding responses of Atrina zelandica to suspended sediment concentrations Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 306(1): 95–112
- Jack L Wing S R and Mcleod R J (2009) Prey base shifts in red rock lobster Jasus edwardsii in response to habitat conversion in Fiordland marine reserves: implications for effective spatial management. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 381(213) pp 213–222
- Jonsson S, Andersson A, Nilsson MB, Skyllberg U, Lundberg E, Schaefer JK, Åkerblom S, Björn E (2017) Terrestrial discharges mediate trophic shifts and enhance methylmercury accumulation in estuarine biota. Sci Adv 3: 1–9
- Kim Y, Powell EN, Wade TL, Presley BJ (2008) Relationship of parasites and pathologies to contaminant body burden in sentinel bivalves: NOAA Status and Trends 'Mussel Watch' Program. Marine Environmental Research 65(2): 101–127
- Knight B, Beamsley B (2012) Calibration and methodology report for hydrodynamic models of the Marlborough Sounds. Cawthron, Nelson, New Zealand
- Koenigs C, Miller RJ, Page HM (2015) Top predators rely on carbon derived from giant kelp Macrocystis pyrifera. Marine Ecology Progress Series 537: 1-8
- Koenigstein S, Mark FC, Gossling-Reisemann S, Reuter H, Poertner HO (2016) Modelling climate change impacts on marine fish populations: process-based integration of ocean warming acidification and other environmental drivers. Fish and Fisheries 17: 972-1004
- Kraak SBM, Reid DG, Codling EA (2014) Exploring the RTI (real-time incentive) tariffbased approach to single-species fisheries management. Fish Res 155:90-102
- Krumhansl K, Scheibling R (2012) Production and fate of kelp detritus. Marine Ecology Progress Series 467:281-302
- Krumhansl KA, Okamoto DK, Rassweiler A, Novak M, Bolton JJ, Cavanaugh KC, Connell SD, Johnson CR, Konar B, Ling SD, Micheli F, Norderhaug KM, Perez-Matus A, Sousa-Pintol I, Reed DC, Salomon AK, Shears NT, Wernberg T, Anderson RJ, Barrett NS, Buschmanns AH, Carr MH, Caselle JE, Derrien-Courtel S, Edgar GJ, Edwards M, Estes JA, Goodwin C, Kenner MC, Kushner DJ, Moy FE, Nunn J, Stenecka RS, Vsquezb J, Watsonc J, Witmand JD, Byrnese JEK (2016) Global patterns of kelp forest change over the past half-century. P Natl Acad Sci USA 113:13785-13790
- Lamborg C, Tseng HCM, Fitzgerald WF, Balcom PH, and Hammerschmidt CR (2003) Determination of the mercury complexation characteristics of dissolved organic matter in natural waters with "reducible Hg" titration. Environ Sci Technol 37: 3316– 3322
- Land Information New Zealand (LINZ) (2018) NZ Topo50 Landcover. Data New Zealand

Land Cover Database (LCDB) classes at version 41 PDF Available at: https://datalinzgovtnz/set/4786-nz-topo50-landcover-data/

- Langston WJ (2017) Toxic effects of metals and the incidence of metal pollution in marine ecosystems, in Furness RW, Rainbow, PS, Heavy metals in the marine environment, CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Lanksbury JA, Niewolny LA, Carey AJ, West JE (2014) Toxic Contaminants in Puget Sound's Nearshore Biota: A Large-Scale Synoptic Survey Using Transplanted Mussels (Mytilus trossulus). Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Washington.
- Lannuzel D, Bowie AR, van der Merwe PC, Townsend AT, Schoemann V (2011) Distribution of dissolved and particulate metal in Antarctic sea ice. Mar Chem 124: 134–146
- Liang XY, Morton B (1988) The pallial organ of Atrina pectinata (Bivalvia: Pinnidae): its structure and function. Journal of Zoology 216: 469-477
- Lipkin Y, Safriel U (1971) Intertidal zonation on rocky shores at Mikhmoret (Mediterranean Israel). Journal of Ecology 59(1): 1–30
- Liu G, Cai Y, O'Driscoll N (eds) (2011) Environmental chemistry and toxicology of mercury John Wiley & Sons
- Long RD, Charles A, Stephenson RL (2015) Key principles of marine ecosystem-based management. Mar Policy 57:53-60
- Lovett GM, Tear TH, Evers DC, Findlay SEG, Cosby BJ, Dunscomb JK, Driscoll CT, Weathers, KC (2009). Effects of air pollution on ecosystems and biological diversity in the eastern United States. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1162: 99– 135
- MacDiarmid A, McKenzie A, Sturman J, Beaumont J, Mikaloff-Fletcher S, Dunne J (2012) Assessment of anthropogenic threats to New Zealand marine habitats. New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No 93255
- MacDonald BA, Bricelj VM, Shumway SE (2006) Physiology: energy acquisition and utilization, in SE Shumway SE, Parsons GJ (Eds) Scallops: Biology Ecology and Aquaculture 35:417-492
- Macdonald BA, Ward JE (1994) Variation in food quality and particle selectivity in the sea scallop Placopecten magellanicus (Mollusca: Bivalvia). Mar Ecol Prog Ser 108: 251-264
- MacKenzie AL, Gillespie PA (1986) Plankton ecology and productivity nutrient chemistry and hydrography of Tasman Bay, New Zealand 1982-1984. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 20: 365-395
- Marsden ID, Bull MF (2006) New Zealand. In SE Shumway, GJ Parsons (Eds.), Scallops: Biology, Ecology and Aquaculture 35: 1413–1426
- Marsden ID, Smith BD, Rainbow PS (2014) Effects of environmental and physiological variables on the accumulated concentrations of trace metals in the New Zealand cockle Austrovenus stutchburyi. Science of the Total Environment 470-471: 324-339
- Mason RP, Choi AL, Fitzgerald WF, Hammerschmidt CR, Lamborg CH, Soerensen AL, Sunderland EM (2012) Mercury biogeochemical cycling in the ocean and policy implications. Environ Res 119: 101–117
- McKnight D (1969) Infaunal benthic communities of the New Zealand continental shelf. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 3: 409–444
- McLeod RJ, Wing SR (2007) Hagfish in the New Zealand fjords are supported by chemoautotrphy of forest carbon. Ecology 88(4): 809–816
- McLeod RJ, Wing SR (2007) Hagfish populations in the New Zealand fjords are supported by chemoautotrophy of forest litter carbon. Ecology 88:809-816

McLeod RJ, Wing SR (2009) Strong pathways for flux of terrestrially-derived organic matter into a benthic marine food web. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 82:645-653

- McLeod RJ, Wing SR, Davis JP (2010b) Habitat conversion and species loss alters the composition of carbon sources to benthic communities. Marine Ecology Progress Series 411:127-136
- McLeod RJ, Wing SR, Skilton J (2010a) High incidence of invertebrate-chemoautotrophic symbioses support the macro-infaunal community in the New Zealand fjords. Limnology and Oceanography 55:2097-2106
- Medina M, Andrade S, Faugeron S, Lagos N, Mella D, Correa JA (2005) Biodiversity of rocky intertidal benthic communities associated with copper mine tailing discharges in northern Chile. Marine Pollution Bulletin 50(4): 396-409
- Melwani AR, Gregorio D, Jin Y, Stephenson M, Ichikawa G, Siegel E, Crane D, Lauenstein G, Davis JA (2014). Mussel watch update: Long-term trends in selected contaminants from coastal California, 1977-2010. Marine Pollution Bulletin 81: 291-302
- Mergler D, Anderson HA, Chan LHM, Mahaffey KR, Murray M, Sakamoto M, Stern AH (2007) Methylmercury exposure and health effects in humans: A worldwide concern. Ambio 36:3–11
- Miller RJ, Page HM (2012) Kelp as a trophic resource for marine suspension feeders: A review of isotope-based evidence. Mar Biol 159: 1391–1402.
- Miller RJ, Reed DC, Brzezinski MA (2011) Partitioning of primary production among giant kelp (Macrocystis pyrifera) understory macroalgae and phytoplankton on a temperate reef. Limnol Oceanogr 56:119-132
- Miller SM, Wing SR, Hurd CL (2006) Photoacclimation of Ecklonia radiata (Laminariales Heterokontophyta) in Doubtful Sound Fiordland. Phycologia 45(1): 44-52
- Minns CK, Randall RG, Smokorowski KE, Clarke KD, Velez-Espino A, Gregory RS, Courtenay S, LeBlanc P (2011) Direct and indirect estimates of the productive capacity of fish habitat under Canadas Policy for the Management of Fish Habitat: where have we been where are we now and where are we going? Can J Fish Aquat Sci 68:2204-2227
- Mitchell JS (1986) Tasman Bay bathymetry, 2nd edition. NZ Oceanographic Institute Chart, DSIR, Coastal Series, 1:200,000
- Møhlenberg F, Riisgård HU (1978) Efficiency of particle retention in 13 species of suspension feeding bivalves. Ophelia 17(2): 239–246
- Morrison MA, Lowe ML, Parsons DM, Usmar NR, Mcleod IM (2009) A review of landbased effects on coastal fisheries and supporting biodiversity in New Zealand. NIWA, Auckland, New Zeland
- Morrison MA, Lowe ML, Parsons DM, Usmar NR, McLeod IM (2009). A review of landbased effects on coastal fisheries and supporting biodiversity in New Zealand. New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No. 37. 100 p
- Morton J, Miller M (1968) New Zealand Sea Shore, Collins, London.
- Murphy RJ, Pinkerton MH, Richardson KM, Bradford-Grieve JM, Boyd PW (2001) Phytoplankton distributions around New Zealand derived from SeaWiFS remotelysensed ocean colour data. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 35(2): 343-362
- Navarro E, Iglesias JIP, Camacho AP, Labarta U, Beiras R (1991) The physiological energetics of mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialisLmk) from different cultivation rafts in the Ria de Arosa (Galicia NW Spain) Aquaculture. 94(2-3): 197-212
- Newcombe E (2016) State of the Bays Tasman Bay and Golden Bay Marine Environments. Cawthron Institute, Nelson, New Zealand
- Newcombe E, Clark D, Gillespie P, Morrisey D, Mackenzie L (2015) Assessing the state of

the marine environment in Tasman Bay and Golden Bay. Cawthron Institute, Nelson, New Zealand

- Newcombe E, Johnston O 2016. Picton Bays environmental information and health assessment. Prepared for Marlborough District Council. Cawthron Report No. 2805. 52 p.
- Newell RC, Field JG, Griffiths CL (1982) Energy Balance and Significance of Microorganisms in a Kelp Bed Community. Mar Ecol Bio Ser 8: 103–113
- Newell RIE, Kemp WM, Hagy III JD, Cerco CF, Testa JM, Boynton WR (2007) Top-down control of phytoplankton by oysters in Chesapeake Bay USA: comment on Pomeroy et al (2006). Mar Ecol Prog Ser 341: 293-298
- Ng CKY, Lam JCW, Zhang XH, Gu HX, Li TH, Ye MB, Xia ZR, Zhang FY, Duan JX, Wang WX, Lam IKS (2018) Levels of trace elements methylmercury and polybrominated diphenyl ethers in foraging green turtles in the South China region and their conservation implications. Environmental Pollution 234: 735-742
- Nicol A (2011) Landscape history of the Marlborough Sounds New Zealand New Zealand Journal of Geology and Geophysics 54(2): 195–208
- Nikora V, Green MO, Thrush SF, Hume TM, Goring D (2002) Structure of the internal boundary layer over a patch of horse mussels (Atrina zelandica) in an estuary. J Mar Res 60: 121–150
- Nilsen M, Pedersen T, Nilsen E, Fredriksen S (2008) Trophic studies in a high-latitude fjord ecosystem—a comparison of stable isotope analyses (δ13C and δ15N) and trophiclevel estimates from a mass balance model. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 65: 2791–2806
- Nriagu JO (1994) Arsenic in the environment: part 1 cycling and characterization. Wiley, New York, United States p 430
- O'Loughlin CL (1979) Near-shore seawater quality study Marlborough Sounds NZ Forest Service unpublished Forest Research Institute Report. New Zealand Journal of Ecology Vol 3 Resumes
- O'Connor TP (2002) National distribution of chemical concentrations in mussels and oysters in the USA. Marine Environmental Research 53: 117–143
- O'Connor TP, Beliaeff B (1995) Recent trends in coastal environmental quality: Results from the Mussel Watch Project. US Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Ocean Service, Office of Ocean Resources Conservation and Assessment, Coastal Monitoring and Bioeffects Assessment Division.
- Officer CB, Smayda TJ, Mann R (1982) Benthic filter feeding: a natural eutrophication control? Mar Ecol Prog Ser 9: 203-210
- Ogilvie SC, Ross AH, Schiel DR (2000) Phytoplankton biomass associated with mussel farms in Beatrix Bay New Zealand. Aquaculture 181: 71-80
- Onsanit S, Chen M, Ke C, Wang W-X (2012) Mercury and stable isotope signatures in caged marine fish and fish feeds. Journal of Hazardous Materials 203-204: 13–21
- Pacyna EG, Pacyna JM, Steenhuisen F, Wilson S (2006) Global anthropogenic mercury emission inventory for 2000. Atmospheric Environment 40: 4048–4063
- Page M (2017) Effects of Mussel Farming on Reef-building Biogenic Habitats Serpulid reefs. NIWA, New Zealand
- Page M, Olsen L (2016) Whataroa Bay Tubeworm Survey Monitoring July 2016. NIWA, Nelson, New Zealand
- Parfitt RL, Stevenson BA, Dymond JR, Schipper LA, Baisden WT, Ballantine, DJ (2012) Nitrogen inputs and outputs for New Zealand from 1990 to 2010 at national and regional scales. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research 55(3): 241–262
- Peake BM, Marsden ID, Ashoka S, Bremner G (2010) Interspecific and geographical

variation in trace metal concentrations of New Zealand Scallops. Journal of Shellfish Research 23(2): 387–394

- Peterson BJ, Fry B (1987) Stable Isotopes in Ecosystem Studies. Ann Rev Ecol Syst 18: 293– 320
- Phillips DL, Gregg JW 2001 Uncertainty in source partitioning using stable isotopes. Oecologia 127: 171–179.
- Pilditch CA, Grant J, Bryan KR (2001) Seston supply to sea scallops (Placopecten magellanicus) in suspended culture. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 58(2): 241–253
- Pirrone N, Cinnirella S, Feng X, Finkelman RB, Friedli HR, Leaner J, Mason R, Mukherjee AB, Stracher GB, Streets DG, Telmer K (2010) Global mercury emissions to the atmosphere from anthropogenic and natural sources. Atmos Chem Phys 10: 5951– 5964
- Poole AL, Adams NM (1994) Trees and shrubs of New Zealand Field Guide Series. Manaaki Whenua Press, Lincoln, New Zealand
- Post DM (2002) Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: models methods and Assumptions. Ecology 83(3): 703–718
- Post DM, Layman CA, Arrington DA, Takimoto G, Quattrichi J, Montaña CG (2007) Getting to the fat of the matter: Models methods and assumptions for dealing with lipids in stable isotope analyses. Oecologia 152(1): 179–189
- Powell AWB (1955) Mollusca of the southern islands of New Zealand New Zealand. Department of Science and Industrial Research Cape Expedition Series Bulletin 15, Wellington
- Powell AWB (1979) New Zealand Mollusca William Collins Publishers Auckland New Zealand
- Price A, Maher BW, Kirby EJ, Krikowa CF, Duncan AE, Taylor AA, Potts J (2012) Distribution of arsenic species in an open seagrass ecosystem: Relationship to trophic groups, habitats and feeding zones. Environ Chem 9: 77–88
- Rabalais NN, Turner RE (2001) Hypoxia in the northern Gulf of Mexico: description causes and change In: Rabalais NN Turner RE (eds) Coastal hypoxia: consequences for living resources and ecosystems American Geophysical Union Washington DC: 1–36
- Rainbow PS (2002) Trace metal concentrations in aquatic invertebrates: Why and so what? Environmental Pollution 120(3): 497-507
- Rainbow PS, Phillips DJH (1993) Cosmopolitan biomonitors of trace metals. Marine Pollution Bulletin 26(11): 593-601
- Ricciardi A, Bourget E (1999) Global patterns of macroinvertebrate biomass in marine intertidal communities. Mar Ecol Bio Ser 185: 21–35
- Richards DK, Hurd CL, Prichard DW, Wing SR, Hepburn CD (2011) Photosynthetic response of monospecific macroalgal communities to density. Aquatic Biology 13:41-49
- Riisgård HU, Larsen PS (2001) Ciliary filter feeding and bio- fluid mechanics—present understanding and unsolved problems. Limnol Oceanogr 46: 882–891
- Riisgård HU, Larsen PS (2005) Water flow analysis and particle capture in ciliary suspension-feeding scallops (Pectinidae). Marine Ecology Progress Series 303: 177– 193
- Romeó M, Frasila C, Gnassia-Barelli M, Damiens G, Micu D, Mustata G (2005) Biomonitoring of trace metals in the Black Sea (Romania) using mussels Mytilus galloprovincialis. Water Research 39: 596–604
- Ruiz-Fernández AC, Wu RSS, Lau TC, Pérez-Bernal LH, Sánchez-Cabeza JA, Chiu JMY

(2018) A comparative study on metal contamination in Estero de Urias lagoon, Gulf of California, using oysters, mussels and artificial mussels: Implications on pollution monitoring and public health risk. Environmental Pollution 243: 197-205

- Rutger SM, Wing SR (2006) Effects of freshwater input on shallow water infaunal communities in Doubtful Sound New Zealand. Marine Ecology Progress Series 314:35-47
- Ruus A, Hjermann DO, Beylich B, Schoyen M, Oxnevad S, Green NW (2017) Mercury concentration trend as a possible result of changes in cod population demography. Mar Environ Res 130: 85–92
- Sadhu AK, Kim JP, Furrell H, Bostock B (2015) Methyl mercury concentrations in edible fish and shellfish from Dunedin, and other regions around the South Island, New Zealand. Marine Pollution Bulletin 101: 386-390
- Sadiq M (1992) Cadmium in the marine environment toxic metal chemistry in marine environments. CRC Press Marcel Dekker, New York
- Sánchez-Quiles D, Marbà N, Tovar-Sánchez A (2017) Trace metal accumulation in marine macrophytes: Hotspots of coastal contamination worldwide. Science of the Total Environment 576: 520-527
- Sander SG, Hunter K, Frew R (2018) Sampling and measuring of trace metals in seawater, in Wurl O (ed.) Practical guidelines for the analysis of seawater. Chapman and Hall: CRC 305–328
- Santos RS, Monteiro LR (2007) Intra- and inter-specific variability in total and methylmercury bioaccumulation by eight marine fish species from the Azores. Mar Pollut Bull 54(10): 1654–1662
- Schartup AT, Balcom PH, Soerensen AL, Gosnell KJ, Calder RS, Mason RP, Sunderland EM (2015) Freshwater discharges drive high levels of methylmercury in Arctic marine biota. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112: 11789–11794.
- Schendel EK, Nordström SE, Lavkulich LM (2004) Floc and sediment properties and their environmental distribution from a marine fish farm. Aquaculture Research 35: 483-493
- Scheuhammer A, Braune B, Chan HM, Frouin H, Krey A, Letcher R, Loseto L, Noël M, Ostertag S, Ross P, Wayland M (2015) Recent progress on our understanding of the biological effects of mercury in fish and wildlife in the Canadian Arctic. Science of the Total Environment 509: 91-103
- Semkin RG, Mierle G, Neureuther RJ (2005) Hydrochemistry and mercury cycling in a high Arctic watershed. Sci Total Environ 342(1–3): 199–221
- Serrano O, Martínez-Cortizas A, Mateo MA, Biester H, Bindler R (2013) Millennial scale impact on the marine biogeochemical cycle of mercury from early mining on the Iberian Peninsula. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 27(1): 21–30
- Shears N, Babcock R (2007) Quantitative description of mainland New Zealand's shallow subtidal reef communities. Science for Conservation Book 280, Department of Conservation, Wellington
- Shepherd C, Edgar G (2013) Conservation and Management In: Shepherd C Egar G (ed) Ecology of Australian Temperate Reefs: the unique South CSIRO Australia
- Shinen JS, Morgan SG (2009) Mechanisms of invasion resistance: competition among intertidal mussels promotes establishment of invasive species and displacement of native species. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 383: 187–197
- Shulkin VM, Presley BJ, Kavun VI (2003) Metal concentrations in mussel Crenomytilus grayanus and oyster Crassostrea gigas in relation to contamination of ambient sediments. Environment International 29: 493–502
- Sköld M, Wing SR, Mladenov PV (2003) Genetic subdivision of the sea star Coscinasterias

muricata in the fjords of New Zealand. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 250:163-174 Sladecek V (1966) Water quality systems. Verh Internat Verein Limnol 16: 809-816.

- Smaal AC (1991) The ecology and cultivation of mussels: new advances. Aquaculture 94: 245–261
- Smale DA, Burrows MT, Moore P, O'Connor N, Hawkins SJ (2013) Threats and knowledge gaps for ecosystem services provided by kelp forests: a northeast Atlantic perspective. Ecology and Evolution 3: 4016-4038
- Smith SV, Hollibaugh JT (1993) Coastal metabolism and the oceanic organic carbon balance. Rev Geophys 31: 75–89
- Sneddon R, Tremlay L (2011) The New Zealand King Salmon Company Limited: Assessment of environmental effects- Copper and Zinc. Cawthron Institute, Nelson, New Zealand.
- Sorte CJB, Etter RJ, Spackman R, Boyle EE, Hannigan RE (2013) Elemental fingerprinting of mussel shells to predict population sources and redistribution potential in the Gulf of Maine. PLOS ONE 8: 80868
- Stephenson TA, Stephenson A (1949) The universal features of zonation between tide-marks on rocky coasts. Journal of Ecology 37(2) : 289–305
- Suggate RP (1990) Late pliocene and quaternary glaciations of New Zealand. Quaternary Science Reviews 9(2–3): 175–197
- Sunda WG (2012) Feedback interactions between trace metal nutrients and phytoplankton in the ocean. Front Microbiol 3: 1–22
- Sunderland EM (2007) Mercury exposure from domestic and imported estuarine and marine fish in the US seafood market. Environmental Health Perspectives 115(2): 235–242
- Suttle KB, Power ME, Levine JM, McNeely C (2004) How fine sediment in riverbeds impairs growth and survival of juvenile salmonids. Ecological Applications 14: 969-974
- Sysalová J, Kučera J, Fikrle M, Drtinová B (2013) Determination of the total mercury in contaminated soils by direct solid sampling atomic absorption spectrometry using an AMA-254 device and radiochemical neutron activation analysis. Microchemical Journal 110: 691–694
- Száková J, Kolihová D, Miholová D, Mader P (2004) Single-purpose atomic absorption spectrometer AMA-254 for mercury determination and its performance in analysis of agricultural and environmental materials. Chem Pap 58(5): 311–315
- Tallis H (2009) Kelp and rivers subsidize rocky intertidal communities in the pacific northwest (USA). Marine Ecology Progress Series 389: 85–96
- Tallis HM, Wing SR, Frew RD (2004) Historical evidence for habitat conversion and local population decline in a New Zealand fjord. Ecological Applications 14(2): 546–554
- Taylor DL, Calabrese NM (2018) Mercury content of blue crabs (Callinectes sapidus) from southern New England coastal habitats: contamination in an emergent fishery and risks to human consumers. Mar Pollut Bull 126: 166–178
- Taylor VF, Buckman KL, Seelen EA, Mazrui NM, Balcom PH, Mason RP, Chen CY (2019) Organic carbon content drives methylmercury levels in the water column and in estuarine food webs across latitudes in the Northeast United States. Environmental Pollution 246: 639–649
- Temporary Closure of the Southern Scallop (SCA 7) Fishery (2019) Fisheries New Zealand Information Paper: 2019/08
- Thrush SF, Hewitt JE, Cummings VJ, Ellis JI, Hatton C, Lohrer A, Norkko A (2004) Muddy waters: Elevating sediment input to coastal and estuarine habitats Frontiers in. Ecology and the Environment 2(6): 299–306
- Thurberg FP, Dawson MA, Collier RS (1973) Effects of copper and cadmium on

osmoregulation and oxygen-consumption in two species of estuarine crabs. Marine Biology 23: 171-175

- Tsakovski S, Kudłak B, Simeonov V, Wolska L, Garcia G, Namieśnik J (2012) Relationship between heavy metal distribution in sediment samples and their ecotoxicity by the use of the Hasse diagram technique. Anal Chim Acta 719: 16–23
- Tuckey BJ, Gibbs MT, Knight BR, Gillespie PA (2006) Tidal circulation in Tasman and Golden Bays: Implications for river plume behavior. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 40(2): 305–24
- Udy JA, Wing SR, Jowlett T, O'Connell-Milne SA, Durante LM, McMullin RM, Kolodzey S (2019a) Regional differences in kelp forest interaction chains are influenced by both diffuse and localized stressors Ecosphere doi: 101002/ecs22894
- Udy JA, Wing SR, McMullin RM, O'Connell-Milne SA, Kolodzey S, Durante LM, Frew RD (2019b) Organic matter derived from kelp supports a large proportion of biomass in temperate rocky reef fish communities: implications for ecosystem-based management. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 2019: 1-17
- Udy JA, Wing SR, O'Connell-Milne SA, Durante LM, McMullin RM, Kolodzey S, Frew RD (2019c) Regional differences in supply of organic matter from kelp forests drive trophodynamics of temperate reef fish. Marine Ecology Progress Series 621:19-32
- Urlich SC (2015) Mitigating fine sediment from forestry in coastal waters of the Marlborough Sounds. Marlborough District Council **model for cite reports
- Vitousek P, Aber J, Howarth R, Likens G, Wallentinus P (2007) Human alterations of the global nitrogen cycle: sources and consequences. Ecol Appl 7: 737-750
- Vitousek PM, Mooney HA, Lubchenco J, Melillo JM (1997) Human domination of Earths ecosystems. Science 277: 494–499
- Voets J, Redeker ES, Blust R, Bervoets L (2009) Differences in metal sequestration between zebra mussels from clean and polluted field locations. Aquatic Toxicology 93: 53-60
- von Biela V, Newsome S, Bodkin J, Kruse G, Zimmerman C (2016) Widespread kelpderived carbon in pelagic and benthic nearshore fishes suggested by stable isotope analysis. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 181: 364-374
- Wang W-X, Fisher NS (1996) Assimilation of trace elements and carbon by the mussel Mytillus Edulis: Effects of food composition. Limnology and Oceanography 41(2): 197–207
- Ward DM, Nislow KH, Folt CL (2011) Bioaccumulation syndrome: Identifying factors that make some stream food webs prone to elevated mercury bioaccumulation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1195: 62–83
- Warwick RM, McEvoy AJ, Thrush SF (1997) The influence of Atrina zelandica Gray on nematode diversity and community structure. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 214: 231–247
- Waters TF (1995) Sediment in streams: Sources biological effects and control. Monograph 7 American Fisheries Society Bethesda MD
- Wemple BC and JA Jones 2003 Runoff production on forest roads in a steep mountain catchment. Water Resources Research 39(8)
- Wemple BC, Swanson FJ, Jones JA (2001) Forest roads and geomorphic process interactions Cascade Range Oregon. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms: The Journal of the British Geomorphological Research Group 26(2): 191-204
- WHO 2001 Zinc Environmental Health Criteria, Geneva
- WHO 2020 Mercury Environmental Health Criteria, Geneva
- Wildish DJ, Kristmanson DD, Hoar RL, DeCoste AM, McCormick SD, White AW (1987) Giant scallop feeding and growth responses to flow. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 113(3): 207–220
- Wilmshurst JM (1997) The impact of human settlement on vegetation and soil stability in

Hawkes Bay New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Botany 35(1): 97-111

- Wing S, Jack L (2014) Fiordland: the ecological basis for ecosystem management. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 48(4): 577-593
- Wing SR, Beer NA, Jack L (2012) Resource base of blue cod Parapercis colias subpopulations in marginal fiordic habitats in linked to chemoautotrophic production. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 466: 205–214
- Wing SR, Jack L, Shatova O, Leichter JJ, Barr D, Frew RD, Gault-Ringold M (2014) Seabirds and marine mammals redistribute bioavailable iron in the Southern Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series 510: 1–13
- Wing SR, Leichter JJ (2011) Variation in environmental conditions in a subtidal prey refuge: effects of salinity stress food availability and predation on mussels in a fjord system. Marine Ecology Progress Series 422:201-210
- Wing SR, Leichter JJ, Perrin CM, Rutger SM, Bowman MH, Cornelisen CD (2007) Topographic shading and wave exposure influence morphology and ecophysiology of Ecklonia radiata (C Agardh 1817) in Fiordland New Zealand. Limnology and Oceanography 52(5):1853-1864
- Wing SR, Leichter JJ, Wing LC, Stokes MD, Genovese SJ, McMullin RA, Shatova OA (2018) Contribution of sea ice microbial production to Antarctic benthic communities is driven by sea ice dynamics and composition of functional guilds. Global Change Biology 24:8
- Wing SR, McLeod RJ, Leichter JJ, Frew RD, Lamare MD (2012) Sea ice microbial production supports Ross Sea benthic communities: influence of a small but stable subsidy. Ecology 93:314-323
- Wing SR, O'Connell-Milne SA, Wing LC, Reid MR (2019) Trace metals in Antarctic clam shells record the chemical dynamics of changing sea ice conditions. Limnology and Oceanography 9999: 1–11
- Wu RSS, Lau TC (1996) Polymer-ligands: a novel chemical device for monitoring heavy metals in the aquatic environment. Marine Pollution Bulletin 32 391–396
- Wu RSS, Siu WHL, Shin PKS (2005) Induction adaptation and recovery of biological responses: Implications for environmental monitoring. Marine Pollution Bulletin 51(8-12): 623-634
- Zbawicka M, Gardner JPA, Wenne R (2019) Cryptic diversity in smooth-shelled mussels on Southern Ocean islands: connectivity, hybridisation and a marine invasion. Front Zool 16: 1–12.
- Zeldis J, Howard-Williams C, Carter C, Schiel D (2008) ENSO and riverine control of nutrient loading phytoplankton biomass and mussel aquaculture yield in Pelorus Sound, New Zealand. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 371: 131–142

Appendices

Appendix 1

Bivalve species description table

Scientific Name	Mäori Name	Common	Taxonomy	Description
		Name	(Class: Family)	
Pecten	Kuakua	Common	Bivalvia:	Subtidal,
novaezelandiae		scallop	Pectinidae	sediment
				habitat,
				orange/pink
				shell, edible
Tucetona	Kua kua	Dog cockle	Bivalvia:	Subtidal,
laticostata			Glycymerididae	sediment
				habitat, dorsal
				shell
				prominently
				ribbed, edible
Atrina zelandica	Hururoa	Horse mussel	Bivalvia:	Subtidal,
			Pinnidae	sediment
				habitat, brittle
				shell with
				jagged
				protrusions,
				edible
Mytilus	Kuku	Blue mussel	Bivalvia:	Rocky intertidal
galloprovincialis			Mytilidae	habitat, Dark
				blue shell with
				dense byssus
				threads, edible
Perna	Kuku	Green-lipped	Bivalvia:	Rocky intertidal
canaliculus		mussel	Mytilidae	and subtidal
				dwellers,
				vibrant green
				shell, edible

Appendix 2

Landcover descriptions (LINZ Data Service, Marlborough District Council)

Landcover class	Description
Farming	Short-rotation crop, orchards, vineyards, and other perennial crops
Urban development	Commercial, industrial or residential buildings, including associated infrastructure and amenities, not resolvable as other classes. Low density 'lifestyle' residential areas are included where hard surfaces, landscaping and gardens dominate

	other landcovers. Open, mainly grassed or sparsely-treed, amenity, utility and recreation areas. Class includes parks, playing fields, public gardens, cemeteries, golf course, berms and other vegetated areas usually within or associated with build-up areas.
Forestry	Predominantly bare ground arising from harvested exotic forest or, less commonly the clearing of indigenous forest. Replanting of exotic trees (or conversion to a new landcover) is not evident and nor is the future of land cleared of indigenous forest.
Forest	Deciduous hardwoods, exotic forest, Gorse and/or Broom, herbaceous vegetation, high producing exotic grassland, low producing grassland, mixed exotic shrubland, tall Tussock grassland, flaxland, fernland, Manuka, Kanuka, broadleaved indigenous hardwoods, Matagouri, indigenous forest
Marine farms	Salmon farms

Appendix 3

Size justification



Figure 2. Positive linear relationship between shell length and stable isotopic signatures (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) for a) *A. zelandica*, b) *M. galloprovincialis*, c) *P. novazelandiae*, d) *P. canaliculus*, e) *T. laticostata*.